CITY OF CHICAGO

AGREEMENT WITH

**PUBLIC SAFETY** 

**EMPLOYEES UNION** 

UNIT II

**EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2018** 

**THROUGH** 

JUNE 30, 2022

Ratified by City Council and Effective Date: September 16, 2020

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
AGREEMENT	2
ARTICLE 1-RECOGNITION	2
Section 1.1	2
Section 1.2 New or Merged Job Classifications	3
Section 1.3 Abolishment of Job Classification	3
ARTICLE 2-MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS	3
Section 2.1 Management's Rights	3
Section 2.2 Work Standards	5
Section 2.3 Rules and Regulations	5
Section 2.4 Furlough Days	5
Section 2.5 Temporary Assignments	5
ARTICLE 3-UNION SECURITY, DUES DEDUCTION AND REMIT	TANCE6
Section 3.1 Union Security	6
Section 3.2 Activity Report	6
Section 3.3 C.O.P.E	6
ARTICLE 4-STRIKE OR LOCKOUT	6
Section 4.1 No Strike	6
Section 4.2 Union's Responsibility	7
Section 4.3 Discipline for Breach	7
Section 4.4 No Lockout	7
ARTICLE 5-BILL OF RIGHTS	7
Section 5.1 Union Representation	7
Section 5.2 Notification of Complaint	7

Section 5.3 Conduct of Disciplinary Investigation	7
ARTICLE 6-EMPLOYEE SECURITY	9
Section 6.1 Just Cause Standard	9
Section 6.2 File Inspection	9
Section 6.3 Limitation on Use of File Material	9
Section 6.4 Use and Destruction of File Material	9
Section 6.5 Traditional Work	10
ARTICLE 7-GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION	10
Section 7.1 Discipline Procedures	10
Section 7.2(a) Grievance Procedure	11
Section 7/2(b) Procedures for Arbitrations of Suspensions of Over Thirty (30) Days and Discharges	
ARTICLE 8-NON-DISCRIMINATION	15
Section 8.1 Equal Employment Opportunities	15
Section 8.2 No Discrimination	15
Section 8.3 Union Stewards	15
Section 8.4 Grievances by Employees	15
Section 8.5 Use of Masculine Pronoun	15
Section 8.6 Reasonable Accommodation	15
Section 8.7 Union Activity	16
ARTICLE 9-WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	16
Section 9.1 Wages	16
Section 9.2 Acting in a Higher Rated Classification	16
Section 9.3 Reporting Pay	17
Section 9.4 Uniform Allowance	17
Section 9.5 Salary Progression	17
Section 9.6 Performance Evaluations	18
Section 9.7 Automobile Reimbursement	1.8

Section 9.8 Pay Disputes	18
Section 9.9 Labor Management Committee on Payroll Practices	19
ARTICLE 10-HOURS AND OVERTIME	20
Section 10.1A Hours of Work	20
Section 10.1B Overtime	20
Section 10.2 Uniform Inspection	
Section 10.3 Crossing Selection Meeting	22
Section 10.4 Parade or Other Civic Function	22
Section 10.5 Employer Meetings	22
Section 10.6 Public Transportation	22
Section 10.7 Overtime Seniority	
Section 10.8 Change of Day Off	23
Section 10.9 Parking Enforcement Aides-O'Hare Airport	23
Section 10.10Call-In Pay	23
Section 10.11 Stand-By	
Section 10.12 Court Time	
ARTICLE 11-WATCHES	
Section 11.1 Post Selection, Crossing Guards	24
Section 11.1(b) Shift Selection, Non-Crossing Guards	24
Section 11.2 Filling of Permanent Vacancies	24
Section 11.3 Change of Watch Notification	25
Section 11.4 Back to Back Shifts on Change Day	26
Section 11.5 Retreat	26
Section 11.6 Balancing the Work Force	26
Section 11.7 Temporary Transfers	26
ARTICLE 12-HOLIDAYS	27
Section 12.1 Crossing Guards	27

Section 12.2 Full-Time Salaried Employees	28
Section 12.3 Holiday Observance	28
Section 12.4 Failure to Report to Work on a Scheduled Holiday	29
ARTICLE 13-VACATIONS	30
Section 13.1 Non-Crossing Guard Employees	30
Section 13.2 Crossing Guards Vacation Time	31
Section 13.3 Vacation Selection	32
ARTICLE 14-GROUP HEALTH AND CONTRIBUTIONS	32
Section 14.1Group Health and Contributions	32
Section 14.2 Joint Labor Management Cooperation Committee on Health Care	33
Section 14.3 Self Insurance Plans	33
Section 14.4 Disputes	33
Section 14.5 HMO	33
Section 14.6 Dual Coverage	34
Section 14.7 Non-Crossing Guard Benefits	34
Section 14.8 Crossing Guard Benefits	34
Section 14.9 Crossing Guards-board of Education Interruption of Service	34
Section 14.10 Plan Design	34
Section 14.11 Deferred Compensation	35
ARTICLE 15-PAID LEAVES	35
Section 15.1 Bereavement Pay	35
Section 15.2 Military Leave	35
Section 15.3 Jury Duty Leave-Subpoena	36
Section 15.4 Sick Leave	36
Section 15.5 Injury on Duty	37
Section 15.6 Marriage Leave	37
Section 15.7 Family and Medical Leave Act	37

Section 15.8 Duty Disability Leave	38
Section 15.9 Paid Parental Leave	38
ARTICLE 16-UNION RIGHTS	39
Section 16.1 Union Rights	39
Section 16.2 Bulletin Boards	39
Section 16.3 Union Meetings	39
Section 16.4 Grievance Processing	39
Section 16.5 Negotiating Team	39
Section 16.6 Labor Management Committee	39
Section 16.7 Time Off for Union Activities	40
Section 16.8 Stewards Training-Pay for Meetings	40
Section 16.9 Safety Committee	40
ARTICLE 17-LEAVES WITHOUT PAY	41
Section 17.1 Personal Leave	41
Section 17.2 Medical Leave	41
Section 17.3 Union Leave	41
ARTICLE 18-CONTINUOUS SERVICE	42
Section 18.1 Continuous Service	42
Section 18.2 Interruption in Service	42
Section 18.3 Reciprocity	42
Section 18.4 Break in Service	43
Section 18.5 Probationary Employment	43
Section 18.6 Seniority	44
ARTICLE 19-INDEMNIFICATION	44
Section 19.1 Safety	44
Section 19.2 Employee Responsibility	44
Section 19.3 Legal Representation	44

Section 19.4 Cooperation	44
Section 19.5 Applicability	44
Section 19.6 Punitive Damages	44
Section 19.7 Expedited Arbitration	45
ARTICLE 20-LAYOFFS AND REEMPLOYMENT	45
Section 20.1 Notice of Layoffs	45
Section 20.2 Hiring During Layoffs	45
Section 20.3 Layoffs and Recall	45
Section 20.4 Health Care Contributions	46
ARTICLE 21-MISCELLANEOUS	46
Section 21.1 Tuition Reimbursement	46
Section 21.2 Waiver	46
Section 21.3 Modifications	46
Section 21.4 Separability	46
Section 21.5 Residency	46
Section 21.6 Day Care	47
ARTICLE 22-TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
Section 22.1 Technological Change	47
Section 22.2 Notice of Technological Change	47
Section 22.3 Implementation	47
ARTICLE 23-DRUG AND ALCOHOL PROGRAM	48
Section 23.1 Policy Statement	48
Section 23.2 Definitions	48
Section 23.3 Disciplinary Action	49
Section 23.4 Drug and Alcohol Testing	49
Section 23.5 Employee Assistance Program	50
ADTICLE 24 TERM OF ACREMENT HEALTH DLAN DEODENED	5.1

Section 24.1 Term of Agreement	51
Section 24.2 Health Plan Reopener	51
Signatures of Agreement	
APPENDIX A-CITY OF CHICAGO REIMBURSEMENT POLICY	54
APPENDIX B-UNIT II CLASSIFICATIONS AND SALARY GRADES	58
APPENDIX C-MEDICAL CARE BENEFITS	59
Exhibit 1	62
Exhibit 2	68
Exhibit 3	70
Side Letters	
Schedule H	
Schedule I	
Amendment to Side Letter	

#### AGREEMENT UNIT II

This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Chicago, an Illinois Municipal Corporation ("Employer") Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO; Public Service Employees Union Local 73 affiliated with the Service Employees International Union, and Local Union 21 affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, AFL-CIO ("Unions"), two autonomous and independent labor organizations each representing certain employees in a portion of a single collective bargaining unit, descriptively referred to as the Public Safety Employees Bargaining Unit, as more specifically defined in this Agreement.

It is the purpose and intent of the parties, through this Agreement to establish and promote harmonious relations between the parties; provide efficient, uninterrupted and effective services to the public, provide an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences under this Agreement; and establish and maintain wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment through collective bargaining which, when ratified by the City Council, shall modify and supersede any ordinance, rules, regulations, personnel rules, interpretations, practices or policies to the contrary.

# ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

#### Section 1.1

The Employer recognizes each Union set out below as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for those employees and/or employee classifications set out opposite the Union's respective name below, excluding all other employees of the Employer.

The Employer further recognizes that each of the Unions is autonomous and is responsible solely to represent employees in the classifications enumerated:

- 1. Public Service Employees Union, Local 73, S.E.I.U.: Included Crossing Guard; Community Service Aide; District Coordinator Beat Program; Animal Control Officer; Animal Control Officer Aide; Animal Control Inspector; Parking Enforcement Aide; Traffic Control Aide; Senior Public Safety Aide; Detention Aide; Field Supervisor I Parking Enforcement; Field Supervisor II- Parking Enforcement, Aviation Security Officer; Supervisor of Animal Control Officers (subject to the terms of Side Letter #30); Supervising Traffic Control Aide; Traffic Control Aide-Hourly (subject to the terms of Side Letters 15); Aviation Security Officer-Hourly (subject to the terms of Side Letter 18).
- Local Union 21, I.B.E.W., AFL-CIO: Included Aviation Communications
   Operator, Police Communications Operator I, Police Communications Operator
   During the term of this Agreement, each of the Unions shall be responsible for
   representing only employees in the classifications as respectively enumerated and
   listed above.

#### Section 1.2 New or Merged Job Classifications

The Employer shall promptly notify the Union within forty-five days of its desire to establish a new classification or a successor title to any present classification. No title which is already in use in another bargaining unit in the City shall be used a successor title. Where the successor titles are used to clarify employee duties within bargaining units or where there are no changes in duties of where the new classification or successor title involves "de minimis" changes in or additions to present duties, such new classification or successor title shall automatically become part of this bargaining unit and shall be covered under this agreement.

Where the present employees are placed by the Employer in a new classification, under Article 1, or remain in a successor title or classification, their time-in-title seniority shall consist of all time in the present [new or successor] class plus all time in the title immediately preceding.

Upon request of the Union, the Employer shall meet and discuss the pay grade/rate and placement within the Employer's promotional lines, as established by the Employer, for the new or merged classifications.

#### Section 1.3 Abolishment of Job Classification

If the Employer intends to abolish a job classification within a department or bargaining unit, the Employer shall notify the Union affected as soon as it is known and, upon request, meet and discuss the Employers intention. The Employer shall advise the Union of its reasons and how, if at all, the work presently being performed by members of the unit will be performed in the future. Abolishment shall be defined as the layoff of all present members of the classification in a department or job title, or the creation of a new department or agency within the City of Chicago government.

# ARTICLE 2 MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS

# Section 2.1 Management's Rights

It is agreed that the Unions and the employees will cooperate with the Employer to liberally construe this Agreement to facilitate the efficient, flexible and uninterrupted operation of the Employer. The Union recognizes that certain rights, powers, and responsibilities belong solely to and are exclusively vested in the Employer except only as they may be subject to a specific and express obligation of this Agreement. Among these rights, powers, and responsibilities, but not wholly inclusive, are all matters concerning or related to the management of the City and administration thereof, and the right:

- a. to determine the organization and operation of the Employer and any department or agency thereof;
- b. to determine and change the purpose, composition and function of each of its constituent departments and subdivisions;
  - c. to set reasonable standards for the services to be offered to the public;
  - d. to direct its employees, including the right to assign work and overtime;
- e. to hire, examine, classify, select, promote, restore to career service positions, train, transfer, assign and schedule its employees;
- f. to increase, reduce, change, modify or alter the composition and size of the work force, including the right to relieve employees from duties because of the lack of work or funds or other proper reasons;
  - g. to contract out work;
- h. to establish work schedules and to determine the starting and quitting time, and the number of hours worked;
  - to establish, modify, combine or abolish job positions and classifications;
     to add, delete or alter methods of operation, equipment or facilities;
- k. to determine the locations, methods, means and personnel by which operations are to be conducted, including the right to determine whether services are to be provided or purchased;
  - 1. to establish, implement and maintain an effective internal control program;
- m. to suspend, demote discharge, or take other disciplinary action against employees for just cause; and
  - n. to add to, delete or alter policies, procedures, rules and regulations.

Inherent managerial functions, prerogatives and rights, whether listed above or not, which the Employer has not expressly restricted by a specific provision of this Agreement are not in any way, directly or indirectly, subject to review, provided that none of these rights is exercised contrary to or inconsistent with other terms of this Agreement or law.

#### Section 2.2 Work Standards

The Employer has the right to establish reasonable work load standards. Prior to establishing or changing work load standards, the Employer will notify the Union, and upon request of the Union, shall meet to discuss such standards.

#### Section 2.3 Rules and Regulations

The Employer shall have the right to make, and from time to time change, reasonable rules and regulations, after prior notice to and discussion with the Union, and to require employees' compliance therewith upon notification to employees, provided that no such rule or regulation or change therein shall be contrary to or inconsistent with this Agreement or law.

#### Section 2.4 Furlough Days

Employees shall be eligible to participate in the Employer's Voluntary Unpaid Furlough Program, under the same terms and conditions applicable to all non-represented City employees, which terms and conditions may be subject to change from time to time. The current terms of the Voluntary Unpaid Furlough Program are described in part G(12) of the City's Salary Resolution. It is understood and agreed that the City's decision to grant or deny any request for unpaid furlough time is entirely discretionary, and the City's determination as to what is in the best interests of maintaining its operations will always take precedence. The parties further understand and agree that all aspects of the City's Voluntary Unpaid Furlough Program, including the City's decision to grant or deny any unpaid furlough day request, are excluded from the grievance and arbitration provisions of Article 7 of this Agreement.

# Section 2.5 Temporary Assignments

The Employer may temporarily assign Traffic Control Aides and Traffic Control Aides—Hourly to Crossing Guard posts in order to fill in for absent Crossing Guards should the need arise. Traffic Control Aides and Traffic Control Aides—Hourly selection shall be voluntary and refusal will not result in disciplinary action. To be eligible to work, the Traffic Control Aide and Traffic Control Aide—Hourly must have completed the standard training for Crossing Guards. Traffic Control Aides and Traffic Control Aides—Hourly working in such temporary assignments shall continue to receive their regular rate of pay.

# ARTICLE 3 UNION SECURITY, DUES DEDUCTION AND REMITTANCE

# Section 3.1 Union Security

- A. The Employer, upon receipt of a validly executed written authorization card, shall deduct Union dues and initiation fees from the payroll checks of all employees so authorizing the deduction in an amount certified by the Union, and shall remit such deductions on a monthly basis to the Union. The Union shall indemnify, defend and hold the Employer harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability, including damages, attorneys fees and court and other costs, that shall arise out of, or by reason of action taken or not taken by the Employer for the purpose of complying with all Paragraphs of this Article, or in reliance on any list, notice, certification or assignment furnished under any of such provisions or in reliance upon employee payroll deduction authorization cards submitted by the Union to the Employer.
- B. The Employer shall provide to the Union each month the name, address, classification, rate of salary and starting date of the employees in the bargaining unit.

### Section 3.2 Activity Report

The Employer shall provide to the union, on a monthly basis, a unit activity report of current active bargaining unit members that will list retirements, resignations, discharges, terminations, leaves of absence, suspensions, reinstatements, re-appointments, transfers (change of departments and change of payroll); appoints (which also includes promotions and demotions), and deaths. Each month the Employer will provide to the union the current month's unit activity report and the updated report from the previous month.

#### Section 3.3 C.O.P.E

The Employer agrees to deduct from the pay of those employees who individually request it voluntary contributions to the SEIU 73 and IBEW Local 21 C.O.P.E. Fund. Unit II shall notify the Employer of the amount that is to be deducted from the employee's paycheck on each payday, provided that the amount of such deductions shall be limited to not more than four (4) levels, to be determined by the Union. Such deductions shall be remitted to the Union on a semimonthly basis, along with deductions made pursuant to Section 3.1 of this Agreement. In the event that the Employer's payroll system at some point allows the Employer to consider making deductions for contributions in more than one amount, the Employer agrees to meet and discuss such consideration with the Unions.

# ARTICLE 4 NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

#### Section 4.1 No Strike

During the term of this Agreement neither the Unions, their officers, or members shall instigate, call, encourage, sanction, recognize, condone, or participate in any strike, sympathy strike, concerted slowdown, stoppage of work, boycott, picketing, or interference with rendering of services by the Employer.

## Section 4.2 Union's Responsibility

The Union agrees that it will use its best efforts to prevent any acts forbidden in this Article and that in the event any such acts take place or are engaged in by any bargaining unit employee, the Union further agrees it will use its best efforts to cause an immediate cessation thereof. If the Union immediately takes all reasonable steps in good faith to end such action, the Employer agrees that the Union shall not be responsible for, and that it will not bring action against the Union to establish responsibility for such wildcat or unauthorized conduct.

#### Section 4.3 Discipline For Breach

The Employer in its sole discretion may terminate the employment or otherwise discipline any employee who engages in any act forbidden in this Article, subject to the grievance procedure.

#### Section 4.4 No Lockout

The Employer agrees not to lock out the employees during the term of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 5 BILL OF RIGHTS

#### Section 5.1 Union Representation

At any meeting between the Employer and an employee in which the employee may be disciplined, including disciplinary investigations, where discipline is to be discussed, a Union representative may be present if the employee so requests.

#### Section 5.2 Notification of Complaint

All employees who have been identified as the subject of a registered complaint will be notified in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days of a complaint received from parties outside of the Employer, and must be made aware of an incident for internal investigations within twenty one (21) calendar days. This does not apply if the matter involves an investigation where surveillance or confidentiality is necessary to complete the investigation, in which event the employee shall be notified within fourteen (14) calendar days after the surveillance is completed. This Section shall not apply to any investigation conducted by the Inspector General, the Civilian Office of Police Accountability, or Police Department Internal Affairs, or to any order of a Federal or state court, grand jury or prosecutor, where the matter involved is under criminal investigation and the Employer is directed not to reveal the complaint or investigation.

#### Section 5.3 Conduct of Disciplinary Investigation

Supplementing all rights and processes due employees covered by this Agreement who may be the subject of a disciplinary investigation by the Inspector General, the interview will be conducted in the following manner:

- A. The interview of the employee shall be scheduled at a reasonable time. preferably while the employee is on duty, or if feasible, during day shift hours.
- B. The interview, depending upon the allegation, will take place at the employee's location of assignment, normal department location or other appropriate location, but not at a police station.

- C. Prior to an interview, the employee under investigation shall be informed of the person in charge of the investigation, the identity of the interviewer and all persons present during the interview. When a formal statement is being taken, all questions directed to the employee shall be asked by and through one interviewer at a time.
- D. The length of the interview sessions will be reasonable, with reasonable interruptions permitted for personal necessities.
- E. At the beginning of the interview, the employee shall be informed of the nature of the matters to be discussed.
- F. An employee under investigation shall not be threatened with transfer, dismissal or disciplinary action, or promised a reward, as an inducement to provide information relating to the matter under investigation, or for exercising any rights contained in this Agreement, provided, however, that this Section shall not prohibit or prevent an accurate reading of the employee's administrative rights, or the imposition of discipline in accordance therewith.
- G. An employee under investigation will be provided without unreasonable delay with a copy of any written statement the employee has made.
- H. (1) If the allegation under investigation indicates a recommendation for discipline is probable against the employee, said employee will be given the statutory administrative proceedings rights prior to the commencement of the interview. (2) If the allegation indicates that criminal prosecution may be probable against said employee, the provisions of this Section shall be inapplicable and said employee will be afforded his constitutional rights concerning self-incrimination prior to the commencement of the interview. An employee will not be read his/her administrative and Miranda rights during the same interview.
- I. At the request of the employee under investigation, an employee who may be subject to discipline shall have the right to be represented in the interview by a representative of the Union. The employee shall be told that he/she has the right to Union representation before commencement of the interview. The interrogation shall be suspended until representation can be obtained, provided the suspension is not for an unreasonable time and the Employer does not have the interview unduly delayed.
- J. The Employer shall not compel an employee under investigation to speak or testify before, or to be questioned by, any non-governmental agency relating to any matter or issue under investigation.
- K. The results of a polygraph examination shall not be used against an employee in any forum adverse to the employee's interests. The Employer will not require a polygraph examination if it is illegal to do so. If an employee is asked to take a polygraph examination, he/she will be advised in writing 24 hours prior to the administration of the examination. The results of any polygraph examination shall be known to the employee within one week.
  - L. This section shall not apply to employee witnesses.
- M. The identity of an employee under investigation shall not be made available to the media during the course of an investigation until charges are filed by the Employer and the

employee has the opportunity to respond thereto. If an employee is exonerated after the City initially informed the media of the charges against the employee, the City will make that fact available to the media where the employee requests it.

- N. In the event that disciplinary action is taken against an employee, any allegations of violations of this Section shall be heard in connection with, and in the same forum as, grievances which protest said disciplinary action.
- O. Any evidence or information including employee statements that is obtained in violation of the rights enumerated in this Section, shall be suppressed and shall not be used by the Employer for any disciplinary action against the employee, or in the case of promotions or transfers.

Should during the life of this Agreement the City Council enact an ordinance which transfers the investigative authority of the inspector General to another City Department or agency, the provisions of this Section shall be deemed to be applicable to that Department or agency.

# ARTICLE 6 EMPLOYEE SECURITY

#### Section 6.1 Just Cause Standard

No non-probationary employee covered by this Agreement shall be discharged or disciplined without just cause.

#### Section 6.2 File Inspection

The Employer's personnel files and disciplinary history files relating to any employee, upon due notice, shall be open and available for inspection by the affected employee during regular business hours, except for information which the Employer deems confidential. Said files shall be made available for inspection by the affected employee by no later than fourteen (14) working days after the Employer's receipt of notice from the employee. Nothing in this Section shall be construed as in any way limiting employees' rights to access personnel files as provided under State law.

#### Section 6.3 Limitation on Use of File Material

It is agreed that any material and/or matter not available for inspection, as provided for in Section 6.2 above, shall not be used in any manner or any forum adverse to the employee's interests.

# Section 6.4 Use and Destruction of File Material

Any information of an adverse employment nature which is unfounded, exonerated or otherwise not sustained, shall not be used against the employee in any future proceedings.

Any record of discipline may be retained for a period of time not to exceed eighteen (18) months and shall thereafter not be used as the basis of any further disciplinary action, unless a pattern of sustained infraction exists. A pattern shall be defined as at least two (2) substantially similar offenses during said eighteen (18) month period.

Section 6.5 Traditional Work Any work which has been traditionally performed by employees who are represented by the Union shall continue to be performed by said employees, except where non-unit employees have in the past performed unit work, or in emergencies, to train or instruct employees, to do layout, demonstration, experimental, or testing duties, to do troubleshooting or where special knowledge is required, provided however, where employees do not report to work because of vacations, or other absences or tardiness, or for personal reasons during the, course of the day, or because all of the employees are or will be occupied with assigned duties, or to complete a rush assignment, employees of any other unit represented by another Union shall not perform the work of said employees. For example, if an Aviation Communications Operator (ACO) is on vacation, a Data Entry Operator shall not be assigned as a replacement for the ACO. The Employer shall not arbitrarily extend the period of any emergency beyond the need for that emergency.

# ARTICLE 7 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

# Section 7.1 - Discipline Procedures

a. All disciplinary actions, up to and including discharge, shall be subject to review only under the applicable grievance and arbitration procedures provided in this Article 7. Such contractual review procedures shall be the sole and exclusive means for review of any and all such disciplinary actions, and no review of any such disciplinary action shall be available before the City's Human Resources Board or Police Board. An employee who may be subject to disciplinary action for any impropriety has the right to ask for a Union representative to be present at any interrogation or hearings.

In the event that a discharged employee appeals an adverse decision of the Personnel or Police Board to the Circuit Court of Cook County, or thereafter to the Appellate Court of Illinois, and the decision of the Personnel or Police Board is reversed or remanded resulting in restoration of the job, the Employer will pay the employee's reasonable attorney's fees which he or she has incurred in connection with the court proceeding, excluding fees incurred before the Personnel or Police Board. The employee shall submit a post-appeal fee petition to the Employer, which shall be supported by full documentation of the work performed, the hours expended, and the rates paid by the employee. Should the parties be unable to agree on the proper amount of the fees to be paid to the employee, either party may refer the dispute to arbitration under the relevant provisions of this agreement.

- b. The Employer within its discretion may determine whether disciplinary action should be an oral warning, written reprimand, suspension or discharge, depending upon various factors, such as, but not limited to, the severity of the offense or the employee's prior record. Such discipline shall be administered as soon as practical after the Employer has had a reasonable opportunity to fully investigate the matter. The City of Chicago approves of the concept of progressive and corrective discipline for Career Service employees, and recommends its use when appropriate, as set forth in the City's Personnel Rules.
- c. In cases of oral warnings, the supervisor or his/her designee shall inform the employee that he/she is receiving an oral warning and the reasons therefor. For discipline other than oral warnings, the

employee's immediate supervisor or his/her designee shall meet with the employee and notify him/her of the accusations against the employee and give the employee an opportunity to answer said accusations. Specifically, the supervisor or his/her designee shall tell the employee the names of witnesses, if any, and make available copies of pertinent documents the employee or Union is legally entitled to receive, to the extent then known and available. If the employee requests the presence of a Union representative at a meeting, one will be provided, if available, who shall be given the opportunity, if the employee requests, to rebut the discipline and request further pertinent information.

#### Section 7.2(a) Grievance Procedure

- 1. Matters which are management rights, except as expressly abridged by a specific provision of this Agreement, suspensions of over thirty (30) days and discharges shall be excluded from this grievance procedure. Suspensions of over thirty (30) days and discharges shall be governed exclusively by the terms of Section 7.2(b) below. Disciplinary cases which are converted from a discharge to a suspension as a result of a decision of the Personnel or Police Board do not thereafter become arbitrable as a result of said decision.
- 2. A difference, complaint or dispute (hereinafter called a grievance) between the Employer and the Union or any of the employees of the Employer it represents, arising out of the circumstances or conditions of employment, shall be exclusively settled in the following manner and there shall be no strikes, slowdowns, or work stoppages during the life of this Agreement. It is agreed that the time limitations set forth herein are of the essence and that no action or matter not in compliance therewith shall be considered the subject of a grievance unless said time limitations are extended by agreement of both parties to this Agreement. Before a formal grievance is initiated, the employee and/or the Union shall meet with and discuss, the matter with the employee's immediate supervisor. A steward may be present at such discussion. If the problem is not resolved in a discussion, the following procedure shall be used to adjust grievances.

#### STEP I

- A. The employee and/or the Union shall raise the grievance in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days of having knowledge of the event which gives rise to the grievance. The employee or the Union will specify the Sections and subsections of the Agreement alleged to have been violated, a brief description of the facts giving rise to the grievance, including relevant dates, and the requested remedy. Nothing in this paragraph shall preclude the Union, prior to Step IV, from amending the grievance with respect to the specific Sections and subsections of the Agreement alleged to have been violated.
- B. The immediate supervisor will render his/her decision to the employee and the Union in writing within ten (10) calendar days after the grievance is presented, and will briefly state the basis for the decision.

# STEP II.

- A. If the grievance is not settled at the first Step, the Union representative and/or the employee shall have the right to make an appeal in writing on a mutually agreed upon form to the Department Head's designee, a senior supervisor, within ten (10) calendar days after the date of the decision by the immediate supervisor, or the date such answer was due. The name of the senior supervisor, who is the Department Head's designee shall be posted for employees in areas where employee notices are normally posted and submitted to the Union.

B. The Department Head's designee will notify the employee in writing with a copy to the Union of his/her decision on the grievance form within seven (7) days of receipt of the Step II appeal form.

#### STEP III

- A. If the grievance is not settled in Step II, the Union or the employee may appeal in writing to the Department Head within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the senior supervisor's decision, or the date such answer was due.
- B. The Department Head or his/her designee shall meet with the Union's representative at least once each month to discuss all pending grievances that have been advanced to Step III. The purpose of the Step III meeting will be for the Department and the Union to share relevant information and discuss their respective positions with respect to each grievance pending at Step III, and attempt to amicably resolve as many grievances as possible. The Department Head or the Department Head's designee shall have the requisite authority to attempt to resolve grievances during the Step III meeting. No grievance will be discussed at more than one Step 111 meeting, unless the Employer and the Union mutually agree that further meeting and discussion would be beneficial. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to relieve the Employer and the Union from their respective obligations to otherwise process and respond to grievances in accordance with this Article. For any grievances that remain unresolved at the conclusion of the Step III process, the Department shall provide the Union with a written decision within seven (7) calendar days of the conclusion of the Step III process.
- C. If an arbitrable dispute is not settled at the third step, either the Union or the Employer may notify the other in writing within thirty (30) calendar days Of receipt of the Step III decision, that it requests final and binding arbitration of its grievance.
- D. Any settlement at Step I, II or III shall be binding upon the Employer, Union and the aggrieved employee or employees. Failure of the Employer to answer a grievance within the time limits herein shall permit the Union to refer the case to the succeeding step of the procedure. Upon request, there shall be a meeting at each step of the grievance procedure. A Union steward or a Union Staff Representative may be present at each step meeting. The Union will be informed of and allowed to be in attendance at and participate in all grievance or disciplinary hearings. A grievance may be withdrawn without prejudice to the Union. Failure of the Employer to answer a grievance within the time limit herein shall automatically cause the grievance to advance to the succeeding step of the procedure.
- E. If the grievance or arbitration affects more than one employee, the grievance or arbitration may be presented by a single selected employee representative of the group or class. The Union shall advise the Employer when it knows the grievance affects a group or class of employees.
- F. Even though a grievance has been filed, employees are obligated to follow instructions or orders of supervisors of the Employer, except where the instruction or order is so inherently dangerous to the employee that it could cause death or serious physical harm. The Employer agrees that by following instructions or orders the employee does not waive the employee's right to process

his or her grievance. Refusal to follow instructions or orders shall be cause for suspension or discharge at the option of the Employer.

#### STEP IV

- A. If the matter is not settled in Step III, the Union or the Employer, but not an individual employee or employees, may submit the dispute to arbitration by serving a written request to arbitrate, setting forth the facts and specific relief requested, within thirty (30)calendar days after the decision is given at Step III hereof.
- B. A rotating Roster of Arbitrators shall be used by the parties. The Employer and the Union will select a roster of eight (8) arbitrators. All arbitrators shall be selected by mutual agreement.

In the event the parties cannot mutually agree upon the selection of a full roster of eight(8) arbitrators, the parties shall contact the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) for a list of arbitrators in the Chicagoland area (excluding those upon whom agreement may be have been reached). The parties will then alternately strike names from such list until the remaining number of arbitrators are left to make up a roster of eight (8). The Employer and the Union will rotate the first strike. Arbitrators will advise the parties of their fees and expenses prior to selection and will be expected to charge such fees and expenses. The fee and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne by the party whose position is not sustained by the arbitrator. In cases of split decision, the arbitrator shall determine what portion each party shall be billed, based upon which party, if any, substantially prevails. In the event that either party cancels or postpones a scheduled hearing date (including instances where the cancellation of hearing resulted from the Union's unilateral withdrawal of the grievance), and a fee is assessed by the arbitrator as the result of said cancellation or postponement, the canceling or postponing party will pay

the arbitrator's fee, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. The arbitrator assessing said fee

the arbitrator's fee, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. The arbitrator assessing said fee shall have jurisdiction to resolve any dispute arising out of his/her fee allocation for the cancellation or postponement.

The arbitrator shall have the right to subpoena witnesses and require the production of pertinent documents at the request of either party. Each party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses. The cost of a transcript shall be shared if the necessity of a transcript is mutually agreed upon between the parties. Arbitrators shall select a date for arbitration within ninety (90) days of notice that a grievance is ready for arbitration and submit their decision within thirty (30) days following such hearing. The Roster of Arbitrators will be listed in alphabetical order on a list retained by both the Employer and the Union.

Upon a Step IV request for arbitration, arbitrators will be designated by the parties in alphabetical rotating order and subsequently contacted to obtain an arbitrator's commitment to arbitrate the respective grievance within the stated time limit within seven (7) days from the date the grievances are submitted to the arbitration process. If an arbitrator is not available to hear a case, the next arbitrator in rotating alphabetical order will be chosen. The parties may mutually agree not to use a particular arbitrator for a specific case, or to select an arbitrator who is not on the roster. The parties may agree to submit more than one (1) grievance to a selected arbitrator.

Every year each party has the right to remove up to two (2) arbitrators from the Roster of Arbitrators and have them replaced with other arbitrators selected in the same manner as the initial

selection. The parties may mutually agree at any time to remove any arbitrator from the panel of eight (8). If the parties so agree, they may mutually agree to replace such arbitrator with another arbitrator who is mutually acceptable. If, because of such removals, the Roster of Arbitrators falls below six (6), and the parties cannot agree on replacement arbitrators, the parties shall contact the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) for a list of nine (9) arbitrators (excluding those already on or removed from the roster) in the Chicago area for each vacancy on the roster below the complement of six (6).

The parties will then alternately strike names from each such list of arbitrators until one (1) remains from each so that the remaining number of acceptable arbitrators is sufficient to bring the total roster to at least six (6), or such number greater than six (6) as the parties may agree.

- C. An arbitrable matter must involve the meaning and application or interpretation of a specific provision of this. Agreement. Questions of arbitrability shall be decided by the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall have no power to amend, add to, subtract from, or change the terms of this Agreement, and shall be authorized only to interpret the existing provisions of this Agreement and apply them to the specific facts of the grievance or dispute. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on all parties to the dispute, including the employee or employees involved.
- 3. An Employer or Union grievance may be filed at Step III. Certain issues which by their nature are not capable of being settled at a preliminary step of the grievance procedure or which would become most due to the length of time necessary to exhaust the grievance steps, may be filed at the appropriate advance step where the action giving rise to the grievance may be resolved.
- 4. The Union and the Employer agree that, in order to further their mutual goal of resolving grievances at the lowest practical level of the grievance procedure, sharing of relevant information is required. For that reason, the parties recognize the obligation of their representatives at each level of the grievance procedure to provide, in a timely manner, relevant information that is available or reasonably obtainable. Failure to provide such information in a timely manner shall constitute a violation of this Agreement.

# Section 7.2(b) Procedures for Arbitrations of Suspensions of Over Thirty (30) Days and Discharges

- 1. In the event that the Union intends to seek arbitration of any suspension of over thirty (30) days or any discharge, the Union shall notify the Employer in writing, within fifteen (15) calendar days of the effective date of the suspension or discharge, that it requests final and binding arbitration of the suspension or discharge. The Union shall submit its written request for final and binding arbitration to the affected Department and the Department of Law.
- 2. Within five (5) working days of service of the arbitration request on the Employer, a representative from the Union and a representative from the Employer's Department of Law shall confer and select an arbitrator.
- 3. The terms of Step IVB and Step IVC of Section 7.2(a) above shall also apply to arbitration of suspensions of over thirty (30) days and discharges, except only that the arbitrator shall conduct a hearing within sixty (60) days of being notified by the parties of his/her selection,

and the arbitrator shall submit his/her decision within thirty (30) days following the close of hearing, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. If an arbitrator informs the parties that he/she is unable to comply with said time frames, the parties will select another arbitrator, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise.

4. It is agreed that the time limitations set forth in Section 7.2(b)1 are of the essence, and that any request for arbitration not in compliance therewith shall not be considered arbitrable, unless said time limitations are extended by written agreement of both parties to this Agreement.

#### Section 7.3

In the event of a claim by the Union that there is any outstanding payment owed to an employee under the terms of a grievance settlement agreement or arbitration award, such claim may be submitted on the "Employee Payroll Inquiry Form" attached to this Agreement as Appendix E.

## <u>ARTICLE 8</u> NON-DISCRIMINATION

#### Section 8.1 Equal Employment Opportunities

The Union agrees to work cooperatively with the Employer to insure equal employment opportunities as required by law in all aspects of the Employer's personnel policies.

# Section 8.2 No Discrimination

Neither the Employer nor the Union shall discriminate against any employee covered by this Agreement in a manner which would violate any applicable laws because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, marital status, mental and/or physical handicap activity on behalf of the Union.

#### Section 8.3 Union Stewards

Employees acting as Stewards shall not be discriminated against nor be transferred from their job classifications or departments because of their activities on behalf of the Union. Any transfers of Stewards from their job classifications or departments, other than in an emergency, will be discussed with the Union in advance of any such transfers.

#### Section 8.4 Grievances by Employees

Grievances by employees alleging violations of this Article shall be resolved through Step III of the Grievance Procedure of This Agreement, but shall not be subject to arbitration unless mutually agreed by the parties.

#### Section 8.5 Use of Masculine Pronoun

The use of the masculine pronoun in this or any other document is understood to be for clerical convenience only, and it is further understood that the masculine pronoun includes the feminine pronoun as well.

#### Section 8.6 Reasonable Accommodation

In the event the Employer shall be required to make a reasonable accommodation under the Americans With Disabilities Act ("ADA") to the disability of an applicant or incumbent employee that may be in conflict with the rights of an employee under this Agreement, the Employer shall bring this matter to the attention of the Union. The provisions of Article 7 of this Agreement shall be available, and

the Arbitrator may balance the Employer's obligations under the ADA and this Agreement and the employee's rights under this Agreement, provided that no incumbent employee shall be displaced by such decision of the Arbitrator.

#### Section 8.7 Union Activity

The Employer agrees that no employees shall be discriminated against, intimidated, restrained or coerced in the exercise of any rights granted by the Labor Relations Act or by this Agreement, or on account of membership in, or activities on behalf of the Union.

# ARTICLE 9 WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

# Section 9.1 -Wages

1. The following wage increases shall be applied:

Effective January 1, 2018	2.0%	
Effective January 1, 2019	2.25%	
Effective January 1, 2020	2.0%	
Effective January 1, 2021	2.25%	
Effective January 1, 2022	2.0%	

The agreement shall expire on June 30, 2022.

2. Effective January 1, 2022, the following job title will be regraded:

Title Code: 7003

Job Title: Aviation Communication Officer

Current Salary Grade: 13

New Salary Grade Effective 1/1/22: 14

# Section 9.2 Acting in a Higher Rated Classification

An employee who is directed to perform and does perform or is held accountable for, substantially all of the duties and responsibilities of a higher rated Unit II job for five (5) working days shall be paid at the higher rate for all such time, retroactive to the first day of assignment. Should the Employer assign an employee to a position outside of the bargaining unit, the employee shall have the right to refuse to perform the assignment without discipline.

The time limits for such assignments to higher-rated jobs shall be ninety (90) days, except where a regular incumbent is on leave of absence, in which case it shall be six (6) months. The time

limits may be extended by mutual agreement of parties. The Employer shall not arbitrarily remove employees out of the higher classification solely to defeat the purpose of this Section.

#### Section 9.3 Reporting Pay

Any employee covered by this Agreement who reports for work as scheduled or assigned shall receive a minimum of 2 hours pay.

#### Section 9.4 Uniform Allowance

A. Each active Crossing Guard employee shall receive a uniform allowance of \$550 annually, distributed in two (2) installments of \$275 no later than February 25 and \$275 no later than October 25. For any employee who returns to active duty no later than May 5 of any year and who did not receive any uniform allowance in February of the same year, that employee shall receive a supplemental uniform allowance of \$275 on June 10 of the same year. Any employee who returns to active duty no later than December 5 of any year and who did not receive his or her uniform allowance in October of the same year, shall receive a supplemental uniform allowance of \$275 no later than December 15 of the same year.

Active Parking Enforcement Aides; Supervising Traffic Control Aides; Aviation Security Officers, Traffic Control Aides; Animal Control Inspectors; Animal Control Officers; Animal Control Officer Aides; Community Service Aides; and Senior Public Safety Aides shall receive a uniform allowance of \$550 annually. Active Police Communications Operator I; Police Communications Operator II and Detention Aides shall receive a uniform allowance of \$400 annually. The annual uniform allowance for Police Communications Operators I and II will increase to \$500 effective January 1, 2010. Active Aviation Communication Operators shall receive an allowance of \$50 annually.

The Employer will notify the Union of any major uniform changes and upon request, meet with the Union to discuss said proposed uniform changes. Any recommendations resulting from said meetings will be presented to the Department Head.

If the Employer shall direct that any group of covered employees shall change, modify or add to Employer required uniforms or equipment, the Employer shall pay the cost of the original issue.

B. The Employer shall provide a protective body armor vest for each Aviation Security Officer, in accordance with the Department of Aviation's Standard Operating Procedure (SOP), and shall replace such vests at the expiration of its useful life, as determined and defined in the SOP. Vests which are lost; damaged (except if damaged as a result of an on-duty, safety-related incident) or otherwise in need of replacement during the term of the vest's useful life shall be replaced at the expense of the employee.

#### Section 9.5 Salary Progression

The Employer's past practice as to longevity advancement within the salary ranges shall continue. Any nondisciplinary approved absence without pay, including layoffs, for 30 days or less or of Crossing Guards for the summer term or during a school strike, shall not be deducted from a non-probationary employee's continuous service record.

# Section 9.6 Performance Evaluations

As part of the evaluation process, an employee's supervisor shall discuss the evaluation with the employee and give him/her the reasons for such evaluation and an opportunity to clarify or rebut his/her evaluation.

An employee's signature will indicate only that he/she has seen the evaluation.

The evaluation form shall state that it is the employee's right to place a rebuttal in his/her file if the employee so chooses.

It is the policy of the Employer to provide notice to employees reasonably in advance of a scheduled merit step increase if the employee's performance has been unsatisfactory and that the employee may not receive the step increase if his/her performance does not improve.

The exercise of any right by a bargaining unit employee, including but not limited to the use of the current year's sick days (but not any accumulated sick days) or other leave time permitted by this agreement, shall not adversely affect whether or not under the performance evaluation procedures, an employee receives wage increases.

#### Section 9.7 Automobile Reimbursement

Employees who are required by the Employer to use their own automobiles in the performance of their job shall receive mileage reimbursement at the then effective rate recognized by the Internal Revenue Service. On the effective date of this Agreement, the maximum reimbursement will increase to \$675.00 per month. Thereafter, the maximum reimbursement will increase effective each February 1 by the percentage increase in the Transportation Expenditure Category of the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U): U.S. City Average for the previous year, as rounded to the nearest \$5 increment. Employees seeking mileage reimbursement must submit that request on a form provided by the Employer. Payment for mileage expenses will be made on a monthly basis. In the event that during the life of this Agreement the Employer shall implement for any group of employees an automobile expense reimbursement program which is more favorable to employees than the provisions of this paragraph, upon notice from the Union, the Employer will meet and discuss with representatives of the Union the possible application of said new program to employees covered by this Agreement.

#### Section 9.8 Pay Disputes

- a. All regular base wages will be paid to employees not later than the next regular pay day following the end of the payroll period in which it is earned. All overtime or premium pay shall be paid to employees not later than the second regular pay day following the end of the payroll period in which it is earned.
- b. In the event an employee's paycheck, at the time specified in paragraph a above, fails to include all of the regular base, overtime and/or premium pay to which he/she is entitled. the Department will correct that shortage provided the employee promptly notifies the Department's timekeeper in writing. Any claims by an employee that the employee was not properly paid are subject to Article 7 of this Agreement. In addition, and in order to expedite resolution of any such claims, employees shall promptly submit all such claims to the Department timekeeper on the "Employee Payroll Inquiry Form" attached to this Agreement as Appendix E. The employee's submission of such Form shall toll the period for further processing of the grievance filed by the

Union with respect to that claim until such time as the Employer has investigated the claim and provided the employee with a final response. If the Department concludes that there is a shortage in the employee's paycheck, and if the amount in question exceeds \$100.00, the Department will submit a supplemental payroll to the Comptroller to cover the shortage, and will issue the employee a check in that amount on the City's next scheduled check/deposit advice delivery date after the timekeeper is notified of the employee's complaint. Shortages less than \$100.00 will be added to the employee's next regular paycheck.

- c. Should an employee not receive this supplemental check (for a sum greater than 100.00) within the aforementioned check/deposit advice delivery date period, the Employer will pay to the employee the sum of \$5.00 for every pay period thereafter until the full supplemental check is received.
- d. It is understood that pay shortages relating to newly-hired employees, persons returning from leaves of absences (including but not limited to duty disability), and inaccuracies due to changes in payroll deductions, are excluded from the provisions of this Section. This paragraph does not supersede any other payment obligations with respect to the payments referred to in this paragraph which may be contained elsewhere in this Agreement.

# Section 9.9 Labor Management Committee on Payroll Practices

In order to provide a basis for ongoing discussion concerning the City's payroll practices, up to two (2) representatives, not more than one (1) from each Union, may participate in the City's existing Labor Management Committee on payroll practices, which also includes duly appointed representatives of certain other Unions representing City employees. The City's members of the Committee will consist of representatives from the Department of Human Resources, the Office of Budget and Management, the Comptroller and the Director of Labor Relations. The Committee will meet not less than quarterly, or more frequently as the need may arise, to review ongoing issues regarding payroll, or other related issues of mutual concern which may arise during the life of the parties' Agreement, including issues pertaining to the Employer's alleged failure to make payments required by settlement agreements or arbitration awards. In addition, at the request of the Unions, the City may include from time-to-time up to two (2) representatives of the bargaining unit, not more than one (1) from each Union, at the Comptroller's staff meetings with Department heads to review and address pending payroll inquiries from bargaining unit employees.

#### ARTICLE 10 HOURS AND OVERTIME

#### Section 10.1A Hours of Work

This article shall be to calculate overtime and shall not be a guarantee of work or hours for any day or week.

The work week shall begin at 12:00 A.M. Sunday (one minute after 11:59 P.M. Saturday) and shall end at 12:00 A.M. the following Sunday. The normal work week shall consist of five (5) work days with two (2) consecutive days off. The parties acknowledge and agree that even though Saturday and Sunday as days off are not in the same work week, that this situation nonetheless complies with the foregoing provisions of this Section.

The work day shall commence from the employee's scheduled start time and shall include an unpaid lunch break according to the Employer's current practice.

For PCO I's and II's in the Office of Emergency Management Communications, the normal work week shall consist of forty (40) hours; eight hours per day (excluding the time allocated for the lunch period, normally V2 hour of unpaid time), five days per calendar week. Determination of meal periods of over 30 minutes, up to one hour, shall be based upon the nature of the duties and will be determined by the appropriate supervisor, as designated by the Employer.

Schedules currently established (including power shifts) shall remain in effect. Starting time for employees assigned to rotating schedules currently vary between 2100-2400 hours, 05000800 hours or 1300-1600 hours.

Except in emergencies, at least ten (10) days advance notice shall be given to employees and the Union of any schedule changes. The Union shall be consulted with respect to such changes prior to their implementation.

Standards used for calculating overtime and vacations shall be consistently applied to each supervisory group.

#### Section 10.1B Overtime

- (1) All work performed in excess of forty (40) hours worked per week in the Employer's work week; or in excess of eight (8) hours worked per day where the employee has over forty (40) hours of work or excused absences in the Employer's work week; or on the sixth consecutive day worked in the Employer's work week, shall be paid for at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular straight time hourly rate of pay. All work performed on the seventh consecutive day worked in the Employer's work week shall be paid for at two (2) times the regular hourly rate of pay.
- Where employees are required to work on their days off, work on their first regularly scheduled day off shall be paid for at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular straight time hourly rate of pay, and work on the second regularly scheduled day off shall be paid for at two (2) times the regular hourly rate of pay; provided that in either case, the employee worked his/her full regularly scheduled work week, or any absences in the employee's regular work week were excused absences: and provided further that, in order to be eligible for double-time pay (instead of time and one-half) for work on his/her second regularly scheduled day off, the employee also must have actually worked on his/her first regularly scheduled day off. Overtime shall be computed on the basis of completed fifteen (15) minute segments. There shall be no pyramiding of overtime and/or premium pay. Daily

and/or weekly overtime and/or premium pay shall not be paid for the same hours worked. Employees exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act or the Illinois Minimum Wage Law shall not be eligible for overtime under this Section.

- (3) When overtime is scheduled beyond the regular work week (e.g., Saturday or 6<sup>th</sup> day where applicable; Sunday or 7<sup>th</sup> day where applicable) the Employer will give employees so scheduled at least twenty-three (23) hours advance notice. The advance notice requirements apply if such lead time is available to the Employer.
- (4) Effective through December 31, 2021, all overtime earned under this section shall be compensated in the form of cash, unless the employee elects to be compensated in the form of compensatory time at the time the overtime is earned. Notice of said election must be provided by the employee to the Employer's designated representative by no later than the first regular workday following the date on which the overtime was earned. In addition, employees, whose normal work week consists of thirty-five (35) hours, and who have between thirty-five (35) and forty (40) hours worked or excused absences in the Employer's work week, shall have the option of requesting, in lieu of straight time pay, one (1) hour of compensatory time for each hour worked between thirty-five (35) and forty (40) hours in that work week. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied. Use of compensatory time shall be subject to the operational and scheduling needs of the department.
- (5) Any employee who so elects may retain up to one hundred and sixty (160) hours of accumulated compensatory time. All compensatory time which employees have accumulated as of the date of ratification of this Agreement in excess of one hundred and sixty (160) hours shall be paid to employees in the form of cash within thirty (30) days following the date of ratification of this Agreement, and thereafter on June 1 of each calendar year as their then current rate of pay. All accumulated compensatory time which has not been used by June 1 in any calendar year will be paid to employees in the form of cash; provided, however, that any employee who so elects may retain up to one hundred and sixty (160) hours of accumulated compensatory time.
- in effect, and the following language shall apply: All overtime earned under this section shall be compensated in the form of cash. Employees whose normal work week consists of thirty-five (35) hours, and who have between thirty-five (35) and forty (40) hours worked or excused absences in the Employer's work week, shall have the option of requesting, in lieu of straight time pay, one (1) hour of compensatory time for each hour worked between thirty-five (35) and forty (40) hours in that work week. In addition, employees shall have the option of requesting that each hour of holiday pay that is received for that day pursuant to Section 12.3 of this Agreement be credited as compensatory time, whether that holiday falls on an employee's regular work day or on the employee's regular day off. Use of compensatory time shall be subject to the operational and scheduling needs of the department.
- (7) In any case no employee shall be permitted to accumulate compensatory time in excess of that which is allowed under the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- (8) Wherever used in this Section 10.1B, the term "excused absences" shall be deemed to include paid holidays, paid personal days, scheduled vacation days, scheduled compensatory time.

scheduled unpaid furlough days, paid sick leave, and paid Union business time under Article 16 of this Agreement, but shall not include any other time off from work.

# Section 10.2 Uniform Inspection

Each employee scheduled for and reporting to any Uniform Inspection during hours outside the employee's scheduled shift for that day shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours reporting pay.

#### Section 10.3 Crossing Selection Meeting

Each employee scheduled for and reporting to the crossing selection meeting, which shall normally be held in June of each year, shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours reporting pay for the selection meeting, ethics training and uniform inspection, and such other training as the City may determine to implement.

#### Section 10.4 Parade Or Other Civic Function

Any time an employee participates in a parade or other civic function, outside of his/her scheduled hours of work, at the direction of the Employer, said employee shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the employee's regular rate of pay.

#### Section 10.5 Employer Meetings

Any time an employee spends in any meeting at the direction of the Employer shall be considered as hours worked under this Agreement. Should a Crossing Guard be required to attend a meeting at the employer's premises immediately following any of their tours of duty, all time from the conclusion of their tour of duty (including reasonable travel time) to the conclusion of the meeting shall be considered as time worked.

#### Section 10.6 Public Transportation

Where an employee is required to take public transportation to perform his/her duties, such travel will be at no expense to the employee. Present practices will continue for those employees who presently receive this benefit. In the event that the local public transportation authority implements any change in practice or policy by which this benefit will be reduced or eliminated for employees who presently receive the benefit, the parties will negotiate over the effect of the change on said employees, provided that the Union makes a request to the City to engage in effects bargaining within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice of the change.

### Section 10.7 Overtime Seniority

a. A reasonable amount of overtime and/or premium time shall be a condition of continued employment. Overtime and/or premium time referred to in this Agreement, shall be offered first to the employee doing the job. Thereafter, overtime and/or premium time at the location shall be offered by seniority in the employee's job classification, provided the most senior employee has the then present ability to perform the job to the Employer's satisfaction without further training. In the event enough of such offers are not accepted, the Employer mandatorily shall assign such overtime an/or premium time by reverse seniority. If the Employer has advance knowledge of the need for overtime, employees shall be notified. In the event there are more offers to work the overtime than are needed, the selection will be offered to the most senior employee who has the then present ability to perform the job to the Employer's satisfaction.

b. Those employees in any classification who have been given the option to work the overtime and/or premium time, whether the option was accepted or rejected, will not be afforded the option to work subsequent overtime and/or premium time until all employees in the classification have been afforded the opportunity. Mandatory overtime and/or premium time shall be rotated among employees in the affected classification and work unit, so that an employee who has been mandatorily assigned to work overtime and/or premium time shall be the last employee in the affected classification and work unit required to work the next mandatory overtime assignment. The Employer will post relevant seniority/overtime lists in appropriate locations accessible to employees.

# Section 10.8 Change of Day Off

Although regular days off of employees covered by this Agreement may be changed to meet the needs of the Employer, i.e., special events, parades, etc., said days off shall not be changed solely for the purpose of avoiding the payment of overtime or premium time. The Employer shall offer employees the option to change regular days off before mandatorily requiring such changes. Employee seniority shall be considered in making said changes to regular days off.

### Section 10.9 Parking Enforcement Aides-O'Hare Airport

Assignments to O'Hare Airport for Parking Enforcement Aides shall be offered first to volunteers. Thereafter, if there are not enough volunteers, the assignment of all new employees shall include the O'Hare Airport assignment. The Friday-Saturday O'Hare Airport assignment as to employees on the payroll November 27, 1985, shall be reduced by one (1) day to a Friday only assignment.

#### Section 10.10 Call-in-Pay

Employees called for work outside their regular working hours shall receive not less than four (4) hours of pay at their regular straight time or overtime hourly rate, which is applicable under this Agreement, except for reasons beyond the Employer's control.

#### Section 10.11 Stand-By

Where the Employer requires an employee to remain on stand-by, available for work, and the employee is not able to come and go as he/she pleases, such time shall be paid as time worked.

#### Section 10.12 Court Time

Bargaining Unit employees required to attend court or pre-trial conference outside their regularly scheduled work hours shall be compensated at the overtime rate, except (1) if the court time is during the Bargaining Unit employee's compensatory time and the Bargaining Unit employee knew of the court date before his/her request for compensatory time was approved, (2) while the Bargaining Unit employee is on paid Medical Leave.

# ARTICLE 11 WATCHES

# Section 11.1 Post Selection, Crossing Guards

Non-probationary employees have the right to select the post they will work by continuous service with the Employer. The employee with the most continuous service with the Employer within one of the three (3) current Branches\_shall have first choice of post, the employee with the next greatest length of continuous service with the Employer within one of the three (3) current Branches shall have second choice of post and so forth in order of total length of continuous service with the Employer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an employee hired prior to the date of ratification of this Agreement elects to retain his or her post during the annual selection process, that post shall not be included as an opportunity for selection by any other employee unless the employee shall decide to give up that right. Such post selection shall be made by each employee at the June Crossing Post Selection meeting, normally held in June of each year at 1411 West Madison. It is understood by the parties that from the date of ratification of this Agreement through June 1, 2021, Crossing Guards shall retain their current posts, at which time they will select posts for the following year using their District service. All Crossing Guards hired after ratification of this Agreement shall select posts based upon service within a Branch. Effective June 1, 2022, all post selections shall be done by service within the Branch.

#### Section 11.1(b) Shift Selection, Non-Crossing Guards

Where annual shift selection procedures are currently in effect, they shall remain in effect and will not be changed without 60 days advance notice to, and if requested, discussion with the Union. Nothing herein shall preclude the Union and a department from discussing and implementing an annual shift selection process.

#### Section 11.2 Filling of Permanent Vacancies

- (a) The Employer shall determine if there is a permanent vacancy to be filled and at any time before said vacancy is filled whether or not said vacancy shall be filled.
- (b) Employees within a department in the same job classification who desire a change in shift, day off or location of their job assignment shall request such time change in writing on the Employer's form at any time for the remainder of the calendar year. An employee may make no more than one request at a time. When an employee request is executed the employee may not submit another request for six (6) months from the date the transfer is effected. Following a request from the Union, the Employer shall provide to the Union copies of any transfer requests on file.
- (c) When filling a vacancy, the Employer shall select the most senior employee in the job classification in the department who has such a request on file prior to any notice of posting being sent to the Union. provided the employee has the present ability to perform the required work without further training after a reasonable amount of orientation. The Employer shall give the Union a list of newly transferred employees by department once a month.
- (d) Employees may bid on jobs the Employer determines to be permanently vacant for promotion or for appointment to bargaining unit job classifications other than the employee's current job classification. A successful bidder shall not be eligible to bid for six (6) months following their appointment to a position filled under this Article.

- (e) The Employer will post vacancies electronically on the City of Chicago CAREERS website. A copy of the posting will be provided to the Union at least 72 hours prior to the electronic posting. Said vacancy shall be posted for 14 days on the CAREERS site. The posting shall contain at least the following: job title, qualifications, and days off, shift, hours, work location, if known, and the rate of pay. The posting shall also identify the number of positions to be filled. If the number filled changes, the Employer shall promptly notify the Union. Prior to the commencement of the selection process, the Employer will provide the Union with a list of qualified bidders.
- (f) All applicants for Employer determined permanent vacant jobs shall meet the minimum qualifications established by the Employer for the job in order to be considered for selection by the Employer.
- (g) Qualified employees shall be given an equal opportunity with other applicants to apply for jobs which are determined to be permanently vacant by the Employer. The Employer shall select the most qualified applicant. In making selections, bargaining unit bidders shall be given preference over non-bargaining unit applicants from a Department of Personnel referral list. Where applicants are equally qualified, the Employer shall select the most senior employee with due regard to the Employer's efforts to ensure equal employment opportunities. Selection shall be determined by the Employer based upon experience, training, proven ability and similar criteria. After a selection has been made, the selecting Department will notify the Union of the names of the successful applicant and all bidders. Seniority" shall mean, for purposes of this Section, the employee's service in the job title (time-in-title).

The successful bidder for any jobs under this Section shall have an evaluation period, not to exceed one hundred twenty (120) days, to demonstrate to the Employer's satisfaction that he or she can perform the job. If the Employer determines at any time during that period that the successful bidder cannot perform the job, then the successful bidder shall be returned to the job he/she held just prior to the awarding of the bid, displacing, if necessary, any employee who has been placed into said job. For purposes of this Section, the terms "employee" and "bidder" shall mean individuals employed in job classifications covered under this Agreement.

# Section 11.3 Change of Watch Notification

When a mandatory change of watch is made by the Employer, a reasonable notice will be given to the employee. The Employer shall give five (5) days advance notice to the affected employees. The advance notice requirements apply if such lead time is available to the Employer. Such changes shall be made on the basis of seniority, provided that the employee has the then present ability to perform the required work without further training.

Assignments to any watch or shift by way of any annual watch or shift selection process will be based on seniority, provided the employee has the then present ability to perform the required work without further training. For purposes of this Section, "seniority" shall mean the employee's service in the job title (time-in-title). The parties understand and agree that, in determining whether a Detention Aide in the Central Detention Section of the Department of Police has the then present ability to perform the required work without further training, the Employer may consider the assignment restrictions set forth in Side Letter 19 of this Agreement.

# Section 11.4 Back to Back Shifts on Change Day

A bargaining unit employees shall normally not be required to work more than four hours on the first watch on change day if he/she has worked a full tour of duty on the third watch on the preceding day. If he/she is required to work more than four hours on a change day on the first watch, he/she shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half for the hours worked on the first watch on change day.

#### Section 11.5 Retreat

An employee who is appointed or promoted to a new job classification which is covered by this Agreement\_shall, for a period of 120 days, be permitted to return to his/her former job classification in the bargaining unit, if the Employer determines that the job is vacant, or if the job is not vacant the said employee shall be placed on a reinstatement list. Such employees shall retain seniority and other benefits previously accrued in the job classification to which they are returning subject to the provisions of Article 18.4.

# Section 11.6 Balancing the Work Force

If the Employer intends to reduce the number of employees in a job classification at a location, shift or day off schedule and reassign them to another location, shift or day off schedule, the Employer shall seek volunteers among the employees in the affected job classification, provided that the volunteers have the then present ability to perform the work required without further training.

If there are more volunteers than there are employees using reverse seniority, provided that the employees have the then present ability to perform the required work. For purposes of this section, seniority shall mean time-in-title.

#### Section 11.7 Temporary Transfers

For the purposes of this section, a "temporary transfer" shall mean the temporary assignment of an employee to a work assignment within his/her job classification which is (a) either geographically removed from the employee's normal work site, or on a different work shift regardless of geographical location; and (b) made by the Employer for the purpose of temporarily replacing an absent or separated employee. The Employer will give notice to the Union of any temporary transfer which is expected to last more than fourteen (14) days. In the event a temporary transfer is expected to last more than fourteen (14) days, the Employer will first seek volunteers from among employees in the job classification from the work site or work shift designated by the Employer, provided the employee has the then present ability to perform the work without further training. If there are insufficient volunteers, the Employer will select the least senior employee in the job classification from the designated work site or work shift who has the then present ability to perform the work without further training. In no event may any temporary transfer last more than ninety (90) days, absent the agreement of the Union. This section shall not apply to any transfer of a Crossing Guard within a district. As of June 1, 2022, this section shall not apply to any transfer of a Crossing Guard within one of the three (3) current Branches.

# ARTICLE 12 HOLIDAYS

## Section 12.1 Crossing Guards

Crossing Guards shall receive four (4) hours straight-time pay for the holidays set forth below:

- 1. New Year's Day
- 2. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday
- 3. Lincoln's Birthday
- 4. Washington's Birthday
- 5. Casimir Pulaski Day
- 6. Memorial Day
- 7. Fourth of July (for those Crossing Guards who work during the month of July)
- 8. Columbus Day
- 9. Veterans Day
- 10. Thanksgiving Day
- 11. Christmas Day

Provided the employee works the full scheduled work day immediately preceding and the full scheduled work day immediately following all holidays unless excused by the Employer, except Christmas Day and New Year's Day. A suspension without pay shall not begin or end on a scheduled work day immediately preceding or following a holiday.

In order to receive the Christmas Day holiday, the employee must work the full scheduled work day immediately preceding the holiday unless excused by the Employer. In order to receive the New Year's Day Holiday, the employee must work the full scheduled work day immediately following New Year's Day unless excused by the Employer.

All Crossing Guard employees shall receive the following paid Personal Days:

Day after Thanksgiving Day Labor Day One Personal Day

The Personal Days shall be paid at four (4) hours pay per day times the employee's regular rate of pay.

## Section 12.2 Full-Time Salaried Employees

Full-time salaried employees shall receive the following days off without any change in their regular salary:

- 1. New Year's Day
- 2. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday
- 3. Lincoln's Birthday
- 4. Washington's Birthday
- 5. Casimir Pulaski Day
- 6. Memorial Day
- 7. Independence Day
- 8. Labor Day
- 9. Columbus Day
- 10. Veterans Day
- 11 Thanksgiving Day
- 12. Christmas Day

Provided the employee is in pay status the full scheduled work day immediately preceding and the full scheduled work day immediately following such holiday, or is absent from work on one or both of those days with the Employer's permission; such permission will not be unreasonably denied. A suspension without pay shall not begin or end on a scheduled work day immediately preceding or following a holiday.

In addition to the foregoing twelve (12) paid holidays, employees hall receive one (1) personal day, which may be scheduled in accordance with the procedures for vacation selection set forth in Section 13.3 below. An employee shall not be required to schedule said personal day in the vacation selection period. If an employee elects not to schedule said personal day as provided above, the employee may request his/her Department to use said personal day. If an employee is required to work on a scheduled personal day by the Employer, the employee shall be entitled to holiday pay pursuant to Section 12.3.

#### Section 12.3 Holiday Observance

- (a) Except for employees whose regularly scheduled work week includes Saturday and/or Sunday, said holidays which fall on Saturday will be observed the Friday before the holidays; said holidays which fall on Sunday will be observed on the Monday after the holiday. For employees whose regularly scheduled work week includes Saturday or Sunday will be observed on that day.
- (b) When said holiday falls during an employee's vacation period the Employer shall have the option of granting the employee an extra day's pay or an extra day of vacation at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Department Head, providing the employee works the full scheduled work day immediately preceding and following such vacation period, unless such absence is excused by the Employer.
- (c) Work performed on holidays listed in this Article shall be paid at  $2^{-1/2}$  times the employee's then current rate of pay, which shall include holiday pay.

- (d) Employees whose regular day off coincides with an established holiday will be credited with compensatory time equal to a normal work day.
- (e) Employees whose regular day off coincides with an established holiday and who are required to work a regular tour of duty on that holiday, shall be paid at two and one half (2 ½) times the current hourly rate of pay which shall include holiday pay or at the employee's option shall be credited with two and one half (2 ½) times all hours worked in compensatory time. An employee may accumulate up to forty (40) hours of compensatory time. Section 12.3 (e) is effective through December 31, 2021.
- (f) Effective January 1, 2022, the following language shall apply: Employees whose regular day off coincides with an established holiday and who are required to work a regular tour of duty on that holiday, shall be paid at two and one half (2 ½) times the current hourly rate of pay which shall include holiday pay. At the employee's option, employees may elect to be credited with the eight (8) hours of holiday pay as compensatory time, whether such holiday occurs on the employee's regular work day or whether on the employees' regular day off.
- (g) This section does not apply to Crossing Guards who shall continue to be paid and not receive compensatory time.

# Section 12.4 Failure to Report to Work on a Scheduled Holiday

If an employee is scheduled to work on a Holiday and fails to report for work, the employee shall forfeit his/her right to pay for that paid scheduled holiday, unless prior approval for the absence is granted by the Employer at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the employee's scheduled reporting time. Otherwise, an employee may utilize any available time, in accordance with the applicable Employer policy.

# ARTICLE 13 VACATIONS

#### Section 13.1 Non-Crossing Guard Employees

Non-Crossing Guard employees shall be eligible for paid vacations as of January 1 of each year following the year in which they were employed. An employee will earn the following amounts of paid vacation, based on such employee's continuous service as of July 1:

Continuous		
Service as of July 1	Vacation	
Less than 6 years		13 days
·		_
6 or more, but less		18 days
than 14 years		. •
J		
14 or more years		23 days
110111010		
After 24 years		24 days
Titter 2 . years		2 . aayo
After 25 years		25 days
rittoi 25 yours		20 days

#### a. Pro Rata Vacations

An employee shall be eligible for pro rata vacation if:

- (i) The employee did not have 12 months of continuous service in the preceding calendar and is on the payroll as of January 1 of the current calendar year; or
- (ii) The employee was separated from employment, other than for just cause, during a calendar year in which the employee did not have 12 months of continuous service.

The amount of pro rata vacation is determined by dividing the number of months of continuous service the full time employee worked in the previous/current calendar year, whichever is applicable, by twelve (12); the resulting figure is multiplied by the amount of paid vacation for which the employee is eligible. Any fraction is rounded off to the nearest whole number of days.

Part time employees who work at least 80 hours per month earn vacation on a pro-rata basis calculated in accordance with the formula used by the Employer in accordance with past practice.

#### b. Retention of Eligibility

All earned vacation leave not taken in the vacation year it is due shall be forfeited unless the employee was denied vacation by the Employer, or the employee was unable to take vacation because the employee was on an approved leave of absence, including a Duty Disability leave of absence. Employees on Duty Disability shall retain any vacation leave earned prior to being placed on Duty Disability leave, together with all vacation time earned during the period of Duty Disability for the twelve (12) months following the date on which the person became disabled,

and shall be entitled to use such vacation time within twelve (12) months following their return to work.

- c. Employees who are discharged for serious misconduct (i.e., violent acts, criminal acts, drug and alcohol violations on the job, or gross insubordination) are not entitled to any vacation pay not taken. Employees shall not earn vacation credit for any period during which they are on layoff or leave of absence without pay in excess of thirty (30) days or engaged in conduct in violation of Article 4 of this Agreement. In the event of the death of an eligible employee, the surviving widow, widower or estate shall be entitled to any vacation pay to which the deceased employee was entitled. An employee who is subject to discharge for serious misconduct as provided herein, and who resigns prior to the receipt of the final discharge notice issued by the Department, is entitled to the amount of vacation pay in their bank at the time of resignation.
- d. The rate of vacation pay shall be computed by multiplying the employee's straight hourly rate of pay in effect for the employee's regular job at the time the vacation is being taken, times eight (8) hours per day, times the number of days' vacation to which the employee is entitled. Salaried employees shall receive their regular salary in effect at the time schedule vacation is taken.

### Section 13.2 Crossing Guards Vacation Time

a. Crossing Guards shall continue to receive payment for accrued vacation time in accordance with the following formula:

After one (1) year of credited service

36 hours pay

After two (2) years of

credited service

60 hours pay

After nine (9) years

of credited service

72 hours pay

After fourteen (14) years

of credited service.

92 hours pay

After twenty-four (24) years of credited service

96 hours pay

After twenty-five (25) years

of credited service

100 hours pay

- b. Present rules governing the administration of vacation shall remain in effect, including:
- (i) Employees shall receive half their vacation pay no later than May 25 and the other half of their vacation pay no later than December 10.
- (ii) Vacation pay shall be computed by multiplying the employee's regular hourly rate of pay by the number of hours of vacation to which the employee is entitled.

Crossing Guards may use (20) hours (5 four hour days) of their above vacation one (1) or more days at a time as days off. Such day(s) off shall be approved by the employee's Supervisor and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The Employer may temporarily detail Crossing Guards within the Area as needed to cover such absenteeism; provided however, if the Employer details a Crossing Guard outside the District within the Area, said detail shall be by reverse seniority; shall be for not longer than 3 days; and the Crossing Guard's regular 4-hour minimum shall be increased to 6 hours for said 3 days.

#### Section 13.3 Vacation Selection

Vacation shall be selected by seniority, time in title, provided that the Employer shall have the right to determine the number of employees who can be on vacation at any one time which will not hinder the operation of the Employer. Vacations may, at the Employer's request, subject to the operational and scheduling requirements of the Department, be split into two relatively equal segments. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

Shift/watch selection will occur prior to vacation selections within each shift/watch.

## ARTICLE 14 GROUP HEALTH AND CONTRIBUTIONS

#### Section 14.1 Group Health and Contributions

The Employer shall provide to employees and their eligible dependents Group Health, Vision Care, Dental, Life (\$25,000) and Accident benefits as provided to a majority of other employees of the City under the same terms and conditions applicable to said other employees, as set forth in Appendix C to this Agreement, and subject to Section 14.2 below.

Employees who participate in the Employer medical plan or an HMO shall make the following contributions toward health care coverage, based on the applicable percentage of their base salary, subject to the then-applicable salary cap:

				Salary
	Single	Employee + 1	Family	Cap
July 1, 2017	1.2921%	1.9854%	2.4765	\$90,000
July 1, 2018	1.7921%	2.4854%	2.9765%	\$100,000
January 1, 2019	2.2921%	2.9854%	3.4765%	\$115,000
January 1, 2020	2.7921%	3.4854%	3.9765%	\$130,000

All contributions shall be made on a pre-tax basis and are payable on a per pay period basis.

Effective January 1, 2021, prescription drug benefits shall be subject to an annual deductible of \$75 per household.

#### Section 14.2 Joint Labor Management Cooperation Committee on Health Care

- a. The Employer and the Unions (the "Parties") agree to participate in the Joint Labor Management Cooperation Committee ("LMCC") negotiated between the Employer and the Coalition of Unionized Public Employees ("COUPE") and created pursuant to applicable state and federal law. The purpose-of the LMCC is to research and make recommendations and decisions within its authority related to the achievement of significant and measurable savings in the cost of employee health care during the term of this Agreement. The Parties shall memorialize their intent to participate in this LMCC by executing an Agreement and Declaration of Trust ("Trust Agreement") contemporaneously with the execution of the collective bargaining agreement between the Unions and the City of Chicago. Said Trust Agreement shall be attached to this Agreement as Appendix 0.
- b. The Trust Agreement shall address, without limitation, the following:
  - 1. Formation of a Committee to govern the LMCC consisting of up to twenty (20)

    Trustees, with half of the Trustees to be appointed by the Employer, and half to be appointed by unions, including the Unions, who represent employees of the Employer, and who have also agreed to participate in the LMCC ("Participating Labor Unions").
  - 2. Appointment by the City and Participating Labor Unions of a Co-Chair and Vice-Cochair as designated in the Trust Agreement.
  - 3. Authority of the LMCC to make recommendations and modifications in the health plan expected to result in savings and cost containment.
  - 4. Establishment of a Trust Fund with contributions provided by the City of Chicago and third parties.

#### Section 14.3 Self Insurance Plans

The benefits provided for herein shall be provided through a self-insurance plan or under a group insurance policy selected by the Employer. All benefits are subject to standard provisions of insurance policies between Employers and insurance companies.

#### Section 14.4 Disputes

A dispute between an employee (or his/her covered dependent) and the processor claims shall not be subject to the grievance procedure provided for in the Agreement between the Employer and the Union.

#### Section 14.5 HMO

Optional coverage offered by a Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) shall be made available to qualified employees, subject to Section 14.2 above. The Employer may offer coverage under more than one HMO. The employee's option of selection an HMO is subject to conditions for eligibility set by the HMO, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary.

#### Section 14.6 Dual Coverage

Where both husband and wife or other family members eligible under one (1) family coverage are employed by the Employer, the Employer shall pay for only one (1) family insurance or family health plan.

#### Section 14.7 Non-Crossing Guard Benefits

The current practice permitting non-Crossing Guards to use vacation or other time due during an illness in order to keep his/her insurance in effect shall continue for the term of this Agreement.

#### Section 14.8 Crossing Guard Benefits

The current practices relating to the payment of hospitalization premiums on a year-round basis for Crossing Guards and their dependents, and, similarly, the current practice relating to the payment of hospitalization premiums by the Employer for ten (10) pay periods or five (5) full months of medical leave for each year for Crossing Guards and their dependents when a Crossing Guard is on medical or maternity leave of absence or when a Crossing Guard is off the payroll for ten (10) pay periods per year because of illness, shall continue for the duration of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and notwithstanding any other agreements, understandings or practices between the parties, individuals hired by the Employer as Crossing Guards at any time on or after January 1, 2006 shall not be eligible for any Group Health, Vision Care, or Dental benefits; such employees will, however, be afforded Life and Accident benefits in accordance with current City practices and policies applicable to Crossing Guards.

## Section 14.9 Crossing Guards - Board of Education Interruption of Service

In the event of an interruption in services provided by the Chicago Board of Education, to the extent to which the Employer determines there is other available work to be performed, such as parking enforcement or traffic control duties, the Employer shall permit Crossing Guards to perform such other work, provided the Crossing Guards are able to perform the job duties of said other available work to the Employer's satisfaction. During the time they are working, Crossing Guards shall continue to receive their regular benefits and be paid their regular rate of pay. For Crossing Guards for whom the Employer determines there is no other available work, health insurance coverage shall remain in full force and effect for up to ninety (90) days from the date of said interruption of service. At the conclusion of said interruption of service, the Crossing Guards shall return to their former positions, provided they still are in existence, or any other bargaining unit work that can be performed by the Crossing Guards provided there are positions available that the Employer seeks to fill, they have the present ability to do the work, and subject to the conditions of this Article.

#### Section 14.10—Plan Design

Employees whose titles are represented by Unit II will be subject to Plan Design changes implemented through the LMCC during the term of this Agreement to achieve certain targeted savings which are applicable to a majority of other employees participating in the LMCC.

## Section 14.11—Deferred Compensation

The Employer will make contributions, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, under a 401(a) Plan (or any similar successor agreed to by the parties) up to the maximum total amounts per year shown below, based on amounts deferred by each employee in those same years to that employee's 457 Plan as follows:

- a. January 1, 2020—up to \$250 per year
- b. January 1, 2021—up to \$250 per year
- c. January 1, 2022—up to \$500 per year

# ARTICLE 15 PAID LEAVES

#### Section 15.1 - Bereavement Pay

In the event of a death in an employee's immediate family such employee shall be entitled to a leave of absence up to a maximum of three (3) consecutive workdays. If the deceased resided or passed in a state not contiguous to Illinois or another country and the employee is traveling to that state or country, the employee shall be entitled to a maximum of five consecutive workdays. During such, leave, an hourly employee shall receive his/her regular straight time pay for such time as he/she is required to be away from work during his/her regularly scheduled hours of work. Salaried employees shall receive the leave of absence without additional compensation. Bereavement must be taken within sixty (60) days following the date of the death.

The employee's immediate family shall be defined as: mother, father, husband, wife, brother or sister (including step or half), son or daughter (including step or adopted), father-in-law, mother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparents and grandchildren. Court-appointed legal guardian, and a person for whom the employee is a court-appointed legal guardian. The employer may, at its option, require the employee to submit satisfactory proof of death and/or proof of the relationship of the deceased to the employee.

For the purposes of this Section, the following are considered to be states that are contiguous to Illinois: Kentucky, Wisconsin, Indiana, Iowa, Michigan and Missouri.

#### Section 15.2 Military Leave

Any employee who is a member of a reserve force of the United States or of the State of Illinois, other than the National Guard, and who is ordered by the appropriate authorities to attend a training program or perform other duties under the supervision of the United States or the State of Illinois, shall be granted a paid leave of absence during the period of such activity, but not to exceed fourteen (14) calendar days in any calendar year, provided that employees, as a condition precedent to payment, deposit her/her military pay for all days compensated by the Employer with the City Comptroller.

Any employee who is a member of the National Guard of the United States or of the State of Illinois and who is ordered by the appropriate authorities to attend a training program or perform other duties under the supervision of the United States or the State of Illinois, shall be granted a paid leave of absence during the period of such activity, but not to exceed fifteen (15) calendar days in any calendar year, provided that employees, as a condition precedent to payment, deposit his/her military pay for all days compensated by the Employer with the City Comptroller. Any reservist called for active duty on or after September 11, 2001, shall be entitled to full salary and medical benefits, provided that paid leave shall be conditioned upon payment of military pay to the Comptroller. The right to this additional paid leave shall automatically terminate upon termination of active duty.

#### Section 15.3 jury Duty Leave/Subpoena

An employee who serves on a jury or is subject to a proper subpoena (except if the employee is a party to the litigation) shall be granted a leave of absence with pay during the term of such absence, provided that the employee deposits his jury duty pay with the City Comptroller.

#### Section 15.4 Sick Leave

Each salaried paid employee shall receive sick leave with pay for periods not exceeding twelve (12) working days in the aggregate during each calendar. Each such employee appointed after January 1 of the calendar year shall be allowed sick leave at the rate of one day for each month of employment through December 31 of that year.

Sick leave credit earned subsequent to January 1, 1959, shall accrue to a maximum of 200 work days at the rate of twelve (12) days per year less days of sick leave used. Sick leave not taken at the time of termination shall cease and end all rights for compensation. Sick leave accrued while working for another public agency shall not be transferable.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective January 1, 1998 and thereafter, said employees who receive paid sick time shall be credited with one (1) day of paid sick leave on the first day of each month. In the event an employee, or a member of employee's immediate family, experiences a serious health condition within the meaning of the Family and Medical Leave Act, upon request of the employee, the Employer will advance to said employee up to the full amount of sick time the employee's, or his/her immediate family member's serious health condition require the employee to be absent into the next calendar year, upon request of the employee, the Employer will advance to said employee up to the full amount of sick time the employee would normally be credited with for the remainder of that calendar year. The Employer reserves the right to require an employee to provide documentation that a serious illness which would qualify for family and medical leave under the FMLA exists.

Use of sick leave as provided for in this Article shall not be detrimental to the evaluation of an employee's job performance. Employees who use sick leave a provided herein shall have their job performance evaluated on the same basis and under the same criteria as employees who have not used sick leave. Nothing herein shall preclude the Employer from delaying an employee's evaluation in the even that the time worked by the employee during the evaluation period does not provide an adequate basis for evaluation.

Employees who are not currently eligible for paid sick leave under this Section shall accrue paid sick leave at the rate of one (1) hour for every forty (40) hours worked, up to a maximum of forty (40) hours per calendar year. All accruals of paid sick time under the terms of this paragraph for existing employees shall commence on January 1, 2018. All other employees who are hired after January 1, 2018, or who have not completed one hundred and eighty (180) days of continuous employment with the Employer as of that date, shall accrue sick time once they have completed one hundred and eighty (180) days of continuous employment with the Employer. All other requirements of this Section 15.4, as well as other rules maintained by the Employer governing the use and payment of sick leave, shall apply to the sick leave provided hereunder. The parties specifically waive any coverage under the provisions of the City of Chicago Ordinance concerning paid sick leave to persons covered by this Agreement.

#### Section 15.5 Injury on Duty

Any Crossing Guard absent from work due to injury on duty (TOD) shall receive full pay and benefits for the period of absence up to twelve (12) months, provided such injury or illness is certified by the Employer's physician. Such certification shall not be unreasonably withheld. If an employee received an award or settlement under worker's compensation for the same injury, the employee will be required to reimburse the Employer for one-third (1/3) of the full pay received under the IOD payments received.

### Section 15.6 Marriage Leave

The present benefit of marriage leave in the OEMC shall continue for the duration of this Agreement for those employees covered by this Agreement who now enjoy such benefit and who started employment with Employer prior to March 1999. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the past practice regarding marriage leave shall remain in effect.

#### Section 15.7 Family and Medical Leave

Bargaining unit employees who have been employed a minimum of twelve (12) months, and who have worked 1,250 hours in the preceding twelve (12) months, shall be entitled to up to twelve (12) weeks unpaid leave within a twelve (12) month period for any of the following reasons:

- (1) for the birth of an employee's child and to care for such child;
- (2) for the placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care;
- (3) to care for the employee's spouse, child or parent with a serious health condition; and
- (4) due to a serious health condition affecting the employee.

All such leaves are subject to the provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act and the regulations thereunder, as well as the policies of the Employer in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

During any leave taken pursuant to this provisions, the employee's health care coverage shall be maintained as if the employee were working, and seniority shall accrue.

#### Section 15.8 Duty Disability Leave

Any employee who is absent from work due to an injury on duty shall be granted a leave of absence. The Employer will mail the initial Duty Disability payment within ten working days upon receipt of verified authorization from the approving authority. Subsequent payment for eligible employees will be made twice a month. If duty disability is denied, and such denial is later reversed, the employee shall be paid up to date the amount the employee was eligible to receive. Employees who return from said leaves shall be reinstated to their former job classification, if it is vacant or if it is then occupied by an employee with lower seniority. If the employee's former job classification is not available because the employee would have been laid off if the employee had not been on a leave of absence, the employee may exercise seniority rights in accordance with and subject to the layoff, recall and break-in-service provisions of this Agreement.

The Employer will mail the initial Duty Disability payment within fourteen (14) days of the Employer's designated medical officer being advised by the employee or his physician of the occurrence of a job-related injury, provided that there is no dispute as to employee's entitlement to Duty Disability.

## Section 15.9 — Paid Parental Leave

An employee wishing to take paid parental leave must apply and be eligible for Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave. An employee is eligible for FMLA leave if he or she has been employed by the City for at least 12 months before taking the leave and has worked at least 1250 hours during the 12 month period prior to the leave. Eligible employees may be granted the following paid parental leaves, in conjunction with and as part of an approved FMLA leave:

- Up to four (4) weeks paid maternity leave to a birth mother to recover from a non-surgical delivery; or
- Up to six (6) weeks paid maternity leave to a birth mother to recover from a C-section delivery; or
- Up to two (2) weeks paid parental leave for the birth of a child or children to an employee spouse or domestic partner of the birth mother; or
- Up to two (2) weeks paid parental leave for the adoption of a child or children by an employee or the spouse or domestic partner of the employee.

Paid parental leave may be combined with other earned paid time off such as vacation and/or sick time to achieve the maximum amount of paid time off from work while taking FMLA leave.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, paid parental leave shall be granted as part of an approved FMLA leave.

## ARTICLE 16 UNION RIGHTS

#### Section 16.1 Union Rights

Authorized representatives of the Union shall be permitted entry to the premises of the Employer at any reasonable time for purpose of handling grievances, observing conditions under which employees are working and to administer this Agreement consistent with current practices. The Union will not abuse this right, and such right of entry shall at all times be conducted in a manner so as not to interfere with the Employer's normal operations. The Union shall be responsible for keeping the Employer continuously informed, in writing, of the names of the Union's authorized representatives. The Employer may change or set rules of access, provided any change in current practice shall be reasonable and subject to the grievance procedure.

#### Section 16.2 Bulletin Boards

The Union shall have the right of access to a bulletin board at locations where they can be conveniently seen and read by affected employees. The Union shall have the right to post notices concerning Union business on bulletin boards.

#### Section 16.3 Union Meetings

The Union shall have suitable space on the Employer's premises for monthly Union meetings at a convenient work location, provided that such meetings shall not interfere with service to the public or the performance of any duties and shall be subject to reasonable rules of the Employer for the use of its facilities.

#### Section 16.4 Grievance Processing

Reasonable time while on duty shall be permitted Union representatives including stewards, if selected, for the purpose of aiding or assisting or otherwise representing employees in the handling and processing of grievances or exercising other rights set forth in this Agreement, and such reasonable time shall be without loss of pay. Stewards shall not unreasonably interrupt the work of employees. Stewards shall notify their immediate supervisors in advance of their intention to handle or process grievances. Supervisors may not unreasonably withhold permission to the stewards to engage in such activities.

#### Section 16.5 Negotiating Team

Employees designated as being on the Union's negotiating team who are scheduled to work on a day on which negotiations will occur, shall, for the purpose of attending scheduled negotiations, be excused from their regular duties without loss of pay, provided the number of negotiation team members is acceptable to the Employer.

#### Section 16.6 Labor- Management Committee

For the purpose of maintaining communications between labor and management in order to cooperatively discuss and solve problems of mutual concern, the head of the department or his/her designee shall meet quarterly with the union representatives. Less or more frequent meetings may occur by mutual agreement of the parties. Requests for more frequent meetings shall not be reasonably denied. Meetings shall be scheduled a time, place and date mutually agreed upon with due regard for the efficient operation of the Employer's business. The parties may discuss any subject of mutual concern, except for

grievances and changes in this Agreement. Each party shall prepare and submit an agenda to the other one week prior to the scheduled meeting.

#### Section 16.7 Time Off for Union Activities

At the Union's request, Stewards and/or Union Representatives shall be allowed time off without pay for legitimate Union business, such as Union meetings, committee and/or board meetings, training sessions or conferences. Nothing shall prevent an employee from using any accumulated time to cover such absences.

Requests for such time off shall be granted upon reasonable advance notice, unless an employee's absence would interfere with the operating needs of the Employer, provided that, such requests shall not be unreasonable denied. The employee may, with the written consent of the Supervisor, adjust the employer's schedule to permit such attendance.

A reasonable number of elected delegates, up to five (5), will be permitted to attend a State or National Convention once, every three (3) years, without loss in pay for the time spent enroute to and from, and attending, the Convention, up to two (2) days for State Conventions and up to five (5) days for National Conventions.

Such time off shall not be detrimental in any way to the employee's record.

#### Section 16.8 Stewards Training/Pay for Meetings

Effective as of the final date of ratification of this Agreement, employees shall be allowed a reasonable amount of time off with pay at the employee's regular rate of pay for certified, scheduled stewards training. An employee, including an employee acting as a union representative, shall obtain the prior approval of his/her supervisor, or that supervisor's designee, before using any paid City time to attend stewards training or meetings. Employees are expected to communicate any request for such approval as far in advance as is reasonably possible under the circumstances. Such approval will not unreasonably be denied, taking into consideration that the Employer's operational needs take precedence.

#### Section 16.9 Safety Committee

In recognition of the safety-sensitive nature of many of the positions within the bargaining unit, the Union and the Employer agree to form a joint Safety Committee to meet quarterly, or at such other intervals as the parties may agree, for the purpose of discussing

matters related to employees' workplace safety. At such meetings, the parties may explore the feasibility of purchasing new equipment, or implementing new assignment and other work practices, that would further the parties' joint objective of enhancing employee safety and promoting the safe, effective and efficient operations of the Employer. The Union and the Employer will attempt to agree on an agenda at least one week prior to any scheduled meeting. The Union and the Employer will each designate a reasonable number of appropriate representatives to attend each meeting, based on the agenda items to be discussed, and subject to the terms of Section 16.7 of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 17 LEAVES WITHOUT PAY

#### Section 17.1 Personal Leave

Non-probationary employees may apply for leaves of absence without pay for personal reasons, which may include educational leaves. The grant and duration of such leaves shall be within the discretion of the Employer: Seniority shall accumulate for employees on said leaves. Employees who return from said leaves shall be reinstated to their former job subject to the layoff, recall and break-inservice provisions of this Agreement.

Employees shall be granted leaves of absence without pay for a period of up to one (1) year for the purpose of providing necessary care, full-time supervision, custody or non-professional treatment for a member of the employee's immediate family or household under circumstances temporarily inconsistent with the employee's uninterrupted performance of his/her normal job duties, if satisfactory proof of the need for the duration of such leave is provided to the Employer. Such leaves shall be granted under the same terms and conditions as set forth above.

#### Section 17.2 Medical Leave

Non-probationary employees shall be granted medical leaves of absence upon request. Said medical leaves of absence shall be granted for up to three (3) months, provided said leaves shall be renewable for like three-month periods, for a total medical leave of absence up to one (1) year. The Employer may request satisfactory proof of medial leaves of absence. Employees on medical leaves of absence shall return to work promptly after their doctor releases them to return to work. An employee on a medical leave of absence shall be returned to work upon the expiration of his/her leave, provided the employee has complied with the Employer's procedures which shall be provided the employee prior to the start of said leave. If an employee is granted an extension of his/her leave, he/she shall be returned to work upon the expiration of the leave's extension, provided the employee has complied with the Employer's procedures.

Seniority shall accumulate for employees on medical leaves of absence for only up to one (1) year. After one (1) year, an employee on a medical leave of absence shall retain, but not accumulate seniority.

Employees who return from medical leave of absence within one (1) year shall be reinstated to their former job, subject to layoff and recall provisions of this Agreement. If the employee returns to work after more than one (1) year on a medical leave of absence, the employee shall be returned to his/her former job it if is open. If not, the employee will be placed on a list for reinstatement.

#### Section 17.3 Union Leave

Up to three (3) non-probationary employees shall be granted Union leaves of absence at any one time to serve on the Union staff or to be an officer of the Union, for up to two (2) years. Any current Union leaves of absence shall be automatically extended for up to two (2) years. The number and length of such leaves may be increased by mutual written agreement of the Employer and Union. Employees who return from Union leaves of absence shall have the same rights as employees who return from medical leaves of absence.

All employees who return from leaves of absence shall, as a condition of their return, have the present ability to perform the required work without further training after a reasonable amount of orientation.

#### ARTICLE 18 CONTINUOUS SERVICE

#### Section 18.1 Continuous Service

Continuous service means continuous paid employment from the employee's last date of hire, without a break or interruption such paid employment. In addition, an employee earns continuous service credit even though he or she is not paid for:

- (a) An approved, unpaid leave of absence of thirty (30) days or less or layoff of forty (40) days or less;
- (b) An absence where the employee is adjudged eligible for duty disability compensation;
- (c) An approved Family and Medical Leave of absence;
- (d) An approved medical leave of absence of one year or less; or
- (e) An approved personal leave of absence of one year or less.

  In the event two (2) or more employees have the same seniority date (time-in-title), a lottery shall be conducted to break seniority ties.

Police Communication Operator II's who have identical seniority dates (time-in-title) and were hired prior to 1-1-96 shall have ties broken by the use of birth dates. PCO II's hired after the aforementioned date shall have ties broken by lottery.

#### Section 18.2 Interruption in Service

Employees who work a minimum of eighty (80) hours per month shall be credited with continuous service for the time worked. Continuous service credit will not be earned for absences without leave, absences due to suspension, unpaid leaves of absence for more than thirty (30) days, layoff for more than forty (40) days, or for any other unpaid leave or other interruption in service not specifically referenced in Section 18.1, above. Moreover, personnel who are paid by voucher shall receive no credit for continuous service for the period they are paid by voucher.

#### Section 18.3 Reciprocity

Employees hired prior to the effective date of this Agreement who have rendered service to the County of Cook, the Chicago Park District, the Forest Preserve District, the Chicago Housing Authority, the Metropolitan Sanitary District of Greater Chicago, the State of Illinois, the Chicago Board of Education, City Colleges of Chicago, Community College District 508, the Chicago Transit Authority, Public Building Commission of Chicago, the Chicago Urban Transportation District and the Regional Transportation Authority shall have the period of such service credited and counted for the purpose of advancement within longevity salary scheduled. However, employees hired after the effective date of this Agreement who render service for any other employer as stated

above shall have the right to have the period of such service credited and counted for the purpose of advancement within longevity salary schedules provided a majority of other employees of the Employer receive such credit.

#### Section 18.4 Break In Service

Notwithstanding the provisions of any ordinance or rule to the contrary, seniority or continuous service of an employee is broken, the employment relationship is terminated, and the employee shall have no right to be rehired, if the employee:

- a. quits or resigns;
- b. is discharged for cause;
- c. retires;
- d. absent for five (5) consecutive work days without notifying the employee's authorized Employer representative, unless circumstances preclude the employee, or someone in the employee's behalf, from giving such notice;
- e. does not actively work for the Employer for 12 months for any reason except military service, approved Union or medical leave of absence, or duty disability leave;
- f. is on layoff for more than twelve (12) consecutive months where the employee has less than five (5) years of service at the time the layoff began,
- g. is on layoff for more than two (2) years if the employee has five (5) years of service or more at the time the layoff began.

#### Section 18.5 Probationary Employment

New employees will be regarded as probationary employees for the first twelve (12) months of their employment and will receive no seniority or continuous service credit during such probationary period. Any period of absence from work in excess of ten (10) working days, or the first sixty (60) days of any time spent in required training courses, shall extend the probationary period of time equal to the absence or the first sixty (60) days of the training period. Probationary employees continuing in the service of the Employer after twelve (12) months shall be career service employees and shall have their seniority made retroactive to the date of their original hiring, Probationary employees may be disciplined or discharged as exclusively determined by the Employer and such Employer action shall not be subject to the grievance procedure, provided that, (1) after the first six (6) months of the probationary period, if the Employer intends to impose a disciplinary suspension on the probationary employee where the suspension would result in a loss of pay, prior to imposing the suspension, except in an emergency or where the employee is unavailable, the Employer shall notify the employee and the Union and, upon request from the Union, will schedule a meeting with the Union and the employee to discuss and allow the employee to respond to the accusations and/or (2) if the Employer, within its discretion, rehires a former employee who did not complete his/her probationary period within one year from the employee's termination, and said former employee had served ninety (90) days or more of his/her probationary period, all time previously served in the probationary period shall be counted for

purposes of determining when the said employee completes his/her probationary period. A probationary employee who has served ninety (90) days or more of his/her probationary period and who is laid off shall be given preference over other applicants for employment in the same job title in the department from which he/she was laid off, so long as he/she does not refuse an offer of employment, and does not suffer a break in service under Section 18.4 of this Agreement.

Probationary employees shall not be eligible for dental or vision insurance but shall receive all other benefits under this Agreement. Probationary employees shall be compensated at the same rate as career service employees. Employees hired as Aviation Security Officers and who leave this position within two years of attaining Career Service shall reimburse the City for the cost of their initial training at the academy.

#### Section 18.6 Seniority

For all purposes under this Agreement, the word "Seniority" shall mean the employee's continuous service in his or her job classification (time-in-title). In the event two (2) or more employees have the same time-in-title, a lottery shall be conducted to break seniority ties.

## ARTICLE 19 INDEMNIFICATION

#### Section 19.1 Safety

The Employer shall continue its efforts to provide for a safe working environment for its employees, as is legally required by federal and state laws.

#### Section 19.2 Employer Responsibility

The Employer shall be responsible for and hold employees harmless for and pay for monies or damages which may be adjudged, assessed or otherwise levied against any employee covered by this Agreement, subject to the conditions set forth in Sections 19.5 and 19.6.

#### Section 19.3 Legal Representation

Employees shall have legal representation by the Employer in any civil cause of action brought against an employee so long as the employee is acting within the scope of his employment.

#### Section 19.4 Cooperation

Employees shall be required to cooperate with the Employer during the course of the investigation, administration or litigation of any claim arising under this Article.

#### Section 19.5 Applicability

The Employer will provide the protections set forth in Section 19.2 and 19.3 above provided that the employee is acting within the scope of his/her employment and where the employee cooperates, as defined in 19.4, with the City of Chicago in defense of the action or actions or claims.

#### Section 19.6 Punitive Damages

Any obligation of the Employer to indemnify employees for punitive damages assessed, adjudged or otherwise levied shall be based upon City ordinances and/or State statutes providing for such indemnification.

#### Section 19.7 Expedited Arbitration

Grievances alleging a violation of this Article may be initiated at Step Four (4) of the grievance procedure. In arbitrations thereunder, unless the parties agree otherwise, hearing shall commence within thirty (30) days of the selection of the arbitrator, and the arbitrator shall issue his award in writing within fifteen (15) days following the close of the hearing; the full written decision of the arbitrator may be issued within thirty (30) days of the close of the hearing.

#### ARTICLE 20 LAYOFFS AND REEMPLOYMENT

#### Section 20.1 Notice of Layoffs

When there is an impending layoff with respect to any employee in the bargaining unit, the Employer shall notify the affected Union and employees to be laid off no later than fourteen (14) days prior to such layoff, except where layoffs result from a sudden emergency beyond the control of the administration of the Employer and/or as a result of action by the City Council, such notice shall be given to the union(s) and the employees as soon as the Employer has knowledge thereof. The Employer will provide the Union the names of all employees to be laid off prior to the layoff. Probationary employees shall be laid off first, then employees shall be laid off in accordance with their classification seniority, provided the employees remaining have the ability to perform the jobs needed to the satisfaction of the Employer.

#### Section 20.2 Hiring During Layoffs

No new employees may be hired to perform duties normally performed by a laid off employee while employees are laid off.

## Section 20.3 Layoffs and Recall

The least senior employees in the affected job classification in the department shall be laid of first, provided the ability, qualifications to perform the required work, and the employee's job performance are equal among the other employees in the job in the department, and further provided, the layoff does not have a negative effect on the Employer's efforts to ensure equal employment opportunities. "Seniority" shall mean, for purposes of this Section the employee's service in the job title (time-in-title).

A laid off employee may displace (bump) the least senior employee, if any, in the most recent lower job title the employee to be laid off has held in the department, provided the employee to be laid off has the then present ability to perform the job to the Employer's satisfaction without further training.

Employees shall be recalled in the reverse order they were laid off, subject to the same provisions.

Employees shall retain and accumulate seniority and continuous service while on layoff.

#### Section 20.4 Health Care Contributions

A laid off employee will be allowed to continue his/her City health insurance coverage through the end of the month in which the employee was laid off, plus up to an additional four (4) consecutive months, provided the employee pays his/her regular contribution amount for such health coverage under this Agreement during this period, and provided further that the employee gives proper notice to the City, or the City's designee, of

his/her election to continue health coverage under the terms of this paragraph. Said period of continuation of health coverage shall be included in the period of eligibility for continued health coverage under the Public Health Service Act, 42 USCS 88 300bb-1-8.

#### ARTICLE 21 MISCELLANEOUS

#### Section 21.1 Tuition Reimbursement

The current City of Chicago tuition reimbursement policy as reflected in Appendix A attached hereto shall be applicable and available to all employees covered by this Agreement.

#### Section 21.2 Waiver

The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties, after the exercise of that right and opportunity, are set forth in this Agreement. The parties expressly waive and relinquish the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated during the term of this Agreement, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject matter concerning wages, hours or conditions of employment referred to or covered in this Agreement, or discarded during the negotiations, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated this Agreement.

#### Section 21.3 Modifications

After this Agreement has been executed, no provision may be altered or modified during the term of the Agreement except by mutual consent in writing between the Employer and the Union, and only at a conference called for such purpose by the parties and ratified by their respective organizations. All such alterations or modifications shall be executed with the same formality as this Agreement.

#### Section 21.4 Separability

Should any provision of this Agreement be rendered or declared invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted legislation, or by decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, only that portion of the Agreement shall be come null and void, and the remainder shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. The parties shall meet relating to the repeal of any such provision.

#### Section 21.5 Residency

All employees covered by this Agreement shall be actual residents of the City of Chicago.

#### Section 21.6 Day Care

To the extent permissible under the Internal Revenue Code and IRS rules and regulations, the Employer agrees to establish a program in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code and IRS rules and regulations, whereby an employee may elect to have a portion of his/her income withheld from his/her paycheck to be used for day care expenses, as soon as the Employer's payroll procedures and equipment permit it to do so.

# ARTICLE 22 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

#### Section 22.1 Technological Change

A technological change is a change in equipment or a change in process or method of operation which diminishes the total number of employee hours required to operate a department. An employee whose services shall no longer be required as a result of such change shall be considered to be displaced by a technological change. The term shall not include layoffs caused by economic conditions, variations in service requirements, or any temporary or seasonal interruption of work.

#### Section 22.2 Notice of Technological Change

In the event of technological change the Employer agrees to notify the Union, if possible, at least ninety (90) days in advance of its intentions, but in no case will the Employer provide less than thirty (30) days notice of the contemplated change; such notice to the Union will be in writing and will include, but not be limited to the following information:

- 1. A description of the nature of the change;
- 2. The date on which the Employer proposes to effect the change;
- 3. The approximate number, type and location of employees likely to be affected by the change; and
- 4. The effects the change may be expected to have on the employee's working conditions and terms employment.

#### Section 22.3 Implementation

The Employer, upon request of the Union, shall meet with the Union concerning the implementation of any technological changes. The meeting shall take place within five (5) days after the Employer receives the Union's request. The Employer and the Union shall in good faith attempt to mutually resolve any employee problems resulting from the implementation of said technological changes, with due regard for the needs of the Employer.

# ARTICLE 23 DRUG AND ALCOHOL PROGRAM

#### Section 23.1 Policy Statement

The City of Chicago's essential mission is to provide services to its citizens in a safe and economic manner. The parties to this Agreement recognize that drug and alcohol abuse in the workplace has a deleterious effect on the health and safety of employees, as well as their morale and productivity, all of which creates an undue burden on the persons which the City and employees covered by this Agreement serve. Furthermore, the economic cost of providing health care services to employees who abuse drugs and alcohol has put an increasing burden on the City's finances.

The Employer and the Union maintain a strong commitment to protect people and property, and to provide a safe working environment. To this end, the employer has also established its confidential Employee Assistance Program for employees with personal problems, including alcohol and substance abuse, and the parties to this Agreement urge employees who have such problems to utilize the Program's services.

To maintain a workplace which provides a safe and healthy work environment for all employees, the following drug and alcohol program is also established.

#### Section 23.2 Definitions

- (a) Alcohol: Ethyl alcohol
- (b) <u>Prohibited Items and Substances:</u> All illegal drugs and controlled substances, alcoholic beverages, and drug paraphernalia in the possession of, or being used by, an employee on the job or the premises of the Employer.
- (c) <u>Employer Premises:</u> All property, facilities, land, buildings, structures, automobiles, trucks and other vehicles owned, leased or used by the Employer as job sites or work locations and over which the Employer has authority as employer.
  - (d) Employer: All persons covered by this Agreement.
- (e) <u>Accident:</u> an event resulting in injury to a person requiring medical attention or causing significant damage to property to which an employee contributed as a direct or indirect cause.
- (f) <u>Reasonable Cause:</u> Erratic or unusual behavior by an employee, including but not limited to noticeable imbalance, incoherence and disorientation, which would lead a person of ordinary sensibilities to conclude that the employee is under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol.
- (g) <u>Under the Influence:</u> Any mental, emotional, sensory or physical impairment due to the use of drugs or alcohol.
- (h) Test: The taking and analysis of any body component sample, whether by blood, breath, urine, or in any other scientifically reliable manner, for the purpose of identifying, measuring or quantifying the presence or absence of drugs, alcohol or any Metabolite thereof.

#### Section 23.3 Disciplinary Action

- (a) All employees must report to work in a physical condition that will enable them to perform their jobs in a safe manner. Further, employees shall not use, possess, dispense or receive prohibited items or substances on or at the Employer's premises, nor shall they report to work under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol.
- (b) When, based upon the direct observation of two supervisors, the Employer has reasonable cause to believe that an employee is under the influence of a prohibited substance, the Employer shall have the right to subject that employee to a drug and alcohol test. At the Employer's discretion, the employee may be placed on administrative leave with pay until test results are available. If the test results prove negative the employee shall be reinstated. In all other cases, the Employer will terminate all employees who:
  - (i) test positive for drug and/or alcohol use;
  - (ii) refuse to cooperate with testing procedures;
  - (iii) are found to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol while on duty and on the Employer's premises;
  - (iv) are found in possession of alcohol, drugs or drug paraphernalia, or are found selling or distributing drugs or drug paraphernalia, on the Employer's premises.
- (c) All adverse employment action taken against an employee under this program shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

#### Section 23.4 Drug and Alcohol Testing

- (a) The Employer may require drug and/or alcohol testing under the following conditions:
  - (i) a test may be administered in the event that two superiors have reasonable cause to believe that an employee has reported to work under the influence of or is at work under the influence of drugs or alcohol.
  - (ii) a test may be required if an employee is involved in a workplace accident or fighting;
  - (iii) a test may be required as part of a follow-up to counseling or rehabilitation for substance abuse for up to a one year period.
- (b) Employees to be tested will be required to sign a consent form and chain of custody form, assuring proper documentation and accuracy. If an employee refuses to sign a consent form authorizing the test, he or she will be subject to termination.
  - (c) Drug and alcohol testing will be conducted by an independent laboratory

accredited by the United States Department of Health and Human Services ("DHHS"), and may consist of either blood or urine tests, or both. The Employer reserves the right to utilize a breathalyzer to test for the presence of alcohol, in lieu of other clinical testing.

- (d) Laboratory testing procedures will conform to the procedures specified in the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMSA) guidelines for federal workplace drug testing programs, dated June 9, 1994 and as may be amended hereafter by the relevant agency of the Department of Health and Human Services.
- (e) Initial and confirmatory test results which meet or exceed the cutoff levels for drugs set forth in the DHHS guidelines (and as they may be amended) shall be regarded as "positive," and shall presumptively establish that the tested employee was under the influence of drugs.
- (f) Initial and confirmatory (or breathalyzer) test results which meet or exceed the level of blood alcohol established in the Illinois Motor Vehicle Act as legal intoxication shall presumptively establish that the tested employee was under the influence of alcohol.
  - (g) The cost of initial and confirmatory testing will be borne by the Employer.
- (h) Drug and alcohol test results shall be reported to the Commissioner of Personnel or his designee in the manner to be prescribed by the Commissioner. The applicant or incumbent shall be notified of the test results in writing. The Commissioner will inform the applicable department head of any employee who tests positive for alcohol or drugs, who in turn will initiate disciplinary proceeding under Section 23.3 above.
- (i) All urine or blood samples shall be taken in sufficient quantity as to allow for retesting. Any portion not used in the test will be preserved by scientifically reliable means for one (1) year following the test. Any employee whose test result is positive may elect, at his or her expense, to be retested by the same or other laboratory satisfactory to the Commissioner of Personnel, provided that the Employer's testing laboratory shall arrange for transmitting said sample to the second laboratory. Positive results of said retesting shall be conclusive as to the presence of alcohol or drugs. The failure to take a sufficient sample, or to preserve such sample, to allow for retesting, shall not affect the removal from eligibility of an applicant or personnel action, including discharge, or any employee.

No laboratory report or test results shall appear in the incumbent's personnel file unless they are part of a personnel action under this program, but shall be placed in a special locked filed maintained by the Commissioner of Personnel, except as such disclosure may be required by this policy, law or ordinance.

## Section 23.5 Employee Assistance Program

Employees are encouraged to seek help for a drug or alcohol problem before it deteriorates into a disciplinary matter and may participate if they wish in the voluntary Employee Assistance Program.

## ARTICLE 24 TERM OF AGREEMENT/HEALTH PLAN REOPENER

#### Section 24.1 Term of Agreement

The terms of this Agreement shall be subject to ratification by the City Council of the City of Chicago and concurrent adoption in ordinance form. The Employer and the Union will cooperate to secure this legislative approval.

This Agreement shall be effective from the date upon which it is ratified by the City Council of the City of Chicago, and shall remain in effect through 11:59 p.m. on **June 30, 2022.** Thereafter, it shall automatically renew itself from year to year unless at least sixty (60) days and not more than ninety (90) days prior to the termination date or anniversary thereof, either party gives written notice to the other by Certified Mail, return receipt requested, of a desire to amend, add to, subtract from, or terminate this Agreement.

In the event such notice of a desire to amend, add to, or subtract from the terms of this Agreement is given, the parties shall, within a reasonable time thereafter, enter into negotiations concerning the request.

It is further agreed that in the event the City of Chicago agrees to or authorizes additional vacation, holidays or other paid time off, or voluntary unpaid time off with any other bargaining unit (excluding police and/or fire) during the term of this agreement, such additional time off shall be granted to all employees covered by this agreement.

#### Section 24.2 Health Plan Reopener

Each party reserves the right to reopen this Agreement in order to further negotiate the Health Plan set forth in Sections 14.1 and 14.2 for the following reasons:

- (a) Any change(s) in the applicable law(s), including but not limited to a universal, national or state health care program mandating significant changes in health insurance benefits that becomes law and is effective during the term of this Agreement;
- (b) The lack of achievement of health care cost containment as anticipated by the parties pursuant to the establishment and administration of the Labor-Management Cooperation Committee on health care ("LMCC"), as defined below:
  - 1. The parties charge the LMCC with the responsibility of approving Plan changes that will result in significant cost containment or savings, as measured by a projected increase of costs for any individual plan of no more than 8% in Fiscal Year 2009 and each fiscal year thereafter when compared to health care costs in Fiscal Year 2008 and each previous fiscal year thereafter, respectively.
  - 2. Should the Plan changes approved by the LMCC fail to result in such cost containment or savings as stated in subsection (a) above, the LMCC shall make such adjustments to the Plan as are necessary, including but not limited

- to adjustments in deductibles, co-pays and co-insurance, to prevent the cost increase from exceeding 8% as measured in subsection (a) above.
- 3. Should the plan changes approved by the LMCC fail to achieve cost containment or savings as stated in subsections (a) and (b) above by the end of the following fiscal year, either party may elect to reopen negotiations as set forth herein on the following specific topics:
  - Health Plan set forth in Sections 14.1 and 14.2;
  - Structure of the LMCC;
  - Composition of the LMCC;
  - Funding of the LMCC;

provided, however, each party reserves the right to reopen this Agreement in order to negotiate the Health Plan set forth in Sections 14.1 and 14.2 no later than June 30, 2011.

If any one of the foregoing events or conditions occurs, either party to this Agreement has thirty (30) days to notify the other party of its intent to reopen this Agreement in order to negotiate the Health Plan set forth in Sections 14.1 and 14.2. Should either party elect to reopen negotiations pursuant to this provision, it shall submit written notice to the other party. Thereafter, the parties have ninety (90) days within which to reach agreement on the Article. If the parties fail to reach agreement at the conclusion of that ninety (90) day period, each party reserves the right to reopen the entire Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto, by its duly authorized representatives, has executed this document on the date(s) set forth below:

FOR THE CITY OF CHICAGO

FOR THE PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES BARGAINING UNIT

Paul T. Wright

President, Business Manager, Financial Secretary

IBEW, Local 21

Date:

Mayor, City of Chicago

Date

Date:

Leffrey Howard
Executive Vice President

SEIU, Local 73

Date

3/2/202

#### APPENDIX A

#### CITY OF CHICAGO TUITION REIMBURSEMENT POLICY

GENERAL PURPOSE: To increase the effectiveness of City services to the Citizens of Chicago by encouraging the personal development of City employees through education and training, as well as to prepare employees for advancement.

I.EFFECTIVE DATE: This revised policy is effective as of the final date of ratification of this Agreement. Reimbursement for any course commencing on or after this will be subject to this policy statement.

#### II. ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS:

## A. Applicants

- 1. Applicants must be City employees currently on a City payroll. Board of Education and employees of other govern-mental agencies are NOT eligible for this program.
- 2. Applicants must be full-time (a minimum of 35 hours a week) or part-time (more than 17-1/2 but less than 35 hours a week) employees. Emergency appointments, seasonal employees, Student-As-Trainees and other student employees are NOT eligible.

#### B. Educational and Vocational/Technical Institutions

- 1. Applicant's school of enrollment must offer resident classroom instruction and be chartered by and reside within the State of Illinois, or be an on-line course of study which otherwise meets the requirements of this policy.
- 2. Colleges and Universities must be accredited by the North Central Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools.
- 3. Technical/Vocational Institutions must be licensed by the State of Illinois or the Commission of the National Association of Trade and Technical Schools.
- 4. Courses offered at schools not so accredited may be approved by the Department of Human\*Resources, if such courses have been authorized by a licensing board and/or professional association.

## C. <u>Course of Study</u>

Courses of study must be related to the employee's current work or probable future work with the City of Chicago.

#### III. CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS ON REIMBURSEMENT:

- A. Reimbursement is limited to two courses per item.
- B. Reimbursement is for tuition only: cost for books, lab fees, late penalties, supplies and other special fees and NOT reimbursable.
- C. Reimbursement will be limited by the amount of financial aid the employee receives from other sources.
  - D. Tuition fees paid to any City College of Chicago will NOT be reimbursed.
  - E. Reimbursement will be based on available funds.
- F. The application must be approved by the employee's Department Head of designated authority and by the Department of Human Resources.
- G. All applications must be submitted to the Department of Human Resources within 30 days after the ate classes begin.
- H. In the case of a work-related seminar, the application and accompanying letter of explanation must be approved by the Department of Human Resources prior to the date of the seminar.
- 1. The timely reimbursement of tuition to the employee is dependent upon the earliest of applications, Release of Financial Aid Information forms, original grade reports and original receipts of payment by the Department of Personnel. Carbon, photostatic, or Xerox copies will NOT be accepted.
- J. Employees expecting late final grade(s) or for some other reason wishing to hold open their reimbursement request must promptly notify the Department of Human Resources. Unless this procedure is followed, reimbursement will not be paid.

#### IV. APPLICATION PROCEDURE:

- A. Undergraduate Student
- 1. Complete two (2) copies of the Tuition Reimbursement Application form (PER-50).
- 2. Complete one (1) copy of the Release of Financial Aid Information form (PER-51).

- 3. Immediately send one (1) copy of the PER-50 form, without the departmental signatures, and the PER-51 form to the Department of Human Resources, Staff & Organization Development, City Hall Room 1101.
- 4. Send the second copy of the PER-50 form through your department to secure the Department Head's or designated representative's signature. When the second copy is received by the Department of Human Resources, the application will be reviewed and the applicant will be notified of its approval of disapproval.
- B. <u>Graduate and Vocational/Technical Students</u>
- 1. Complete steps AI-4 as above.
- 2. Prepare a letter of explanation to the Commissioner of Human Resources describing how your course of study is related to your present or future job duties. This letter is to be signed by the Department Head or designated representative and submitted with the second copy of the PER-50 to the Department of Human Resources. Only one letter needs to be on file during your course of study.
  - C. Work-Related Seminar Participants
- 1. Complete two (2) copies of the PER-50 form.
- 2. Immediately send one (1) copy of the PER-form without the departmental signatures to the Department of Human Resources.
- 3. Send the second copy of the PER-50 form through your department to secure the Department Head's or designated representative's signature.
- 4. Complete Step B-2. The letter requested in this Step must be APPROVED PRIOR to the start of the seminar.
  - V. <u>REIMBURSEMENT RATES</u>: Reimbursement is based on grade and granted on the following basis upon submission of original grade reports and original receipts of payment to the Department of Personnel. The rates are as follows:
    - A. <u>Undergraduate School</u>
      - 1. Grade "A": Full time 100%; Part time 50%
      - 2. Grade "B" and "C": Full time 57%; Part time 37'/2%
    - B. Graduate and Professional School
      - 1. Grade "A": Full time 100%; Part time 50%
      - 2. Grade "B" and "C": Full time 75%; Part time  $37\frac{1}{2}$ %

(Grades of "C" are NOT reimbursable at this level of study.)

- C. Grade of "Pass" in a course graded on a Pass/Fail basis: Full time 75%; Part time  $37^{1}/_{2}$ 
  - D. Work-related seminars are reimbursed for the registration fee only.
- VI. NON-COMPLIANCE: Failure to comply with this policy will result in the disapproval of the application and non-payment of reimbursement. The Department of Human Resources will, in all cases, exercise the final judgment as to whether or not reimbursement will be granted and, if so, the amount of reimbursement.
- VII. EMPLOYEE RESIGNATION: In the event an employee commences an undergraduate or graduate degree program after the execution of this agreement, and obtains an undergraduate or graduate degree with the assistance of the tuition reimbursement program, and the employee, within one (1) year of obtaining such degree, voluntarily resigns from the employ of the City, all tuition costs (100%) reimbursed to the employee by the Employer for obtaining such degree shall be repaid to the Employer. If the employee voluntarily resigns after one (1) year but less than two (2) years after obtaining the degree, the employee shall repay one-half (50%) of the tuition reimbursement to the Employer. If the employee does not complete the degree program and voluntarily resigns from the employ of the City, the employee shall repay 100% of the tuition reimbursement received for any course completed within two (2) years of such resignation. Employees receiving tuition reimbursement for such degrees shall, as a condition of receiving such reimbursement, execute an appropriate form consistent with this paragraph.

The Department of Human Resources will administer this Tuition Reimbursement program without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin or handicap.

#### APPENDIX B

## UNIT II CLASSIFICATIONS AND SALARY GRADES

Grade 10 Traffic Control Aide

Parking Enforcement Aide

Grade 11 Animal Control Officer

Field Supervisor I - Parking Enforcement

Grade 12 Animal Control Inspector

Detention Aide

Supervising Traffic Control Aide

Grade 13 Field Supervisor II - Parking Enforcement

Police Communications Operator I

Aviation Communications Operator

(through December 31, 2021)

Aviation Security Officer

Grade 14 Police Communications Operator II

Supervisor of Animal Control Officers

**Aviation Communications Operator** 

(effective January 1, 2022)

Crossing Guard, H01

Crossing Guard Hired on or after January 1, 2006, .1-101(a)

## APPENDIX C MEDICAL CARE BENEFITS

The following changes in the current City Health Care Plan (the "Plan") shall become effective on January 1, 2006, unless otherwise provided in this Appendix C. Unless changed by this proposal, all other aspects of the Plan shall remain in effect.

#### 1. Plan Alternatives.

The Plan shall consist of three separate alternative coverages - a PPO plan ("PPO"); a PPO Plan with a Health Reimbursement Account ("PPO/HRA"); and two HMO plans ("HMO").

## 2. Plan Design.

## (a) Network Plans:

(i) The deductibles, co-insurance and out-of-pocket maximums for the PPO Plan and the PPO/HRA Plan are set forth in Exhibit 1 hereto. For the PPO and PPO/HRA Plans, all covered services are subject to the annual deductible unless otherwise indicated. HMO benefits in Exhibit 1 are not subject to co-pays unless the co-pay is specified.

If the Employer decides that the PPO/HRA alternative lacks sufficient employee enrollment or is cost prohibitive, it may discontinue that alternative provided the Employer provides reasonable prior notice to the Union and an opportunity for those enrolled in the PPO/HRA to enroll in another plan. For this purpose, "reasonable notice" shall be defined as notification in writing of the employer's intent to discontinue the plan at least ninety (90) days prior to the proposed discontinuation where circumstances are within the city's control. In all other cases, the City will provide the maximum notice as is practicable under the circumstances. In addition, in the event that a new health care plan becomes available to the City during a Plan year, the Employer shall have the right to include that new plan in the Plan alternatives upon reasonable notice to and discussion with the Union.

(ii) The PPO/HRA Plan shall have an HRA account for each employee (to be administered by the relevant claim administrator or other third party administrator which the Employer shall determine, with prior notice to the Union), which account shall be credited with \$500.00 per individual, and \$1,000.00 per family per Plan year. Such amounts must be used for "qualified medical expenses" (as defined by the Employer), and can be carried over into the next Plan year if not used in the preceding Plan year.

- (iii)The PPO and PPO/HRA Plan will provide a "wellness" feature for members with a maximum annual benefit of \$600.00 per individual, which is not subject to the Plan deductible or coinsurance.
- (iv)Add an emergency room deductible of \$100.00 to the PPO and PPO/HRA Plan which amount shall be waived in the event the individual is immediately admitted to the hospital. The Employer will interpret this provision consistently between its various bargaining units.
- (v) Add a disease management feature for active employees.
- (vi) Expand the Employer's 125 Plan effective January 1, 2006, to provide for a "flexible spending account" feature to allow for the contribution by participants of up to \$5,000 per Plan year to fund certain medical expenses (such as dental, vision, deductibles, co-payments, drug co-payments, and over-the-counter drugs) on a pretax basis, subject to the normal IRS rules regarding such plans.
- (vii) All newly hired employees shall be required to participate in the PPO Plan for the first 18 months of their employment. 'These employees shall be eligible to participate in the first enrollment period following the 18 month anniversary of their dates of hire.

#### (b) HMO Plan:

(i) The HMO Plan shall have the minimum features set forth in Exhibit 1 hereto.

#### 3. Health Care Contributions

- (a) The schedule for employee contributions to the Plan, as set forth in the 1999-2003 collective bargaining agreement(s), shall remain in effect until June 30, 2006.
- (b) A new employee contribution schedule, which shall become effective July 1, 2006, is set forth in Exhibit 2 hereto.

#### 4. Prescription Drug Coverage

#### (a) Retail Drug Plan:

For the PPO Plan, PPO/HRA Plan, and HMO Plan, the following co-pays shall apply -

- (i) generic tier 1 effective through life of the Agreement \$10.00.
- (ii) brand formulary tier 2 (brand with no generic substitute) effective July 1, 2006, \$30.00.
- (iii) brand with generic substitute \$10.00 generic co-pay plus the difference in cost between brand and generic drug.
- (iv) brand non-formulary tier 3 effective July 1, 2006, \$45.00.

#### (b) Mail Order Plan:

The PPO Plan, the PPO/HRA Plan, and HMO Plan shall have a mail order feature.

The co-pays for the mail order plan for a 90 day supply are as follows -

- (i) generic tier 1 effective through life of the Agreement \$20.00.
- (ii) brand formulary tier 2 (brand with no generic substitute) effective July 1, 2006, \$60.00.
- (iii)brand with generic substitute \$20.00 generic co-payment plus difference in cost between brand and generic drug.
- (iv) brand non-formulary tier 3 not available in mail order.

## 5. Dental and Vision Plans

#### (a) Preventative Dental Plan:

The Employer shall maintain the current PPO and HMO dental plans with changes to co-pays and deductibles according to the schedule attached as Exhibit 3 hereto.

#### (b) Vision Care Plan:

The current vision plan will be deleted. Vision benefits are to be included in the PPO and PPO/HRA Plans, and under the HMO's pursuant to the coverages available in those plans.

EXHIBIT 1

BENEFIT	PPO	PPO w/HRA	LIMO
HRA (sin- gle/family)	N/A	\$500/\$1000	N/A
Co-Insurance (in/out of net- work)	90%/60%	90%/60%	N/A

HEALTH NSURANCE (SECTION 25.2)	Highlights of Health Insurance Plan, Continued		
BENEFIT	PPO	PPO w/HRA	НМО
In-Network Deductible	\$300/person (eff. 1/1/06) \$350/person (eff. 1/1/07) max of 3 per family	\$1,000 person \$2,000 family	N/A
Out-of-Network Deductible	\$1500/person (eff. 1/1/06) \$3000/family	\$3500 per person max of 3 per family	Status Quo
In-Network OPX	\$1500 per person \$3000 per family (includes deductible	\$3000 per person max of three per family (deductible not included)	N/A
Out-of-Network OPX	\$3500 per person \$7000 per family	\$11,500 per person \$34,000 per family	Status Quo
ER Co-Payment	\$100, waived if admitted; not applied toward deductible or OPX (eff. 1/1/06)	\$100, waived if admitted; not applied toward deductible or OPX (eff. 1/1/06)	\$100, waived if admitted (eff. 1/1/06)

HEALTH			
INSURANCE	Highlights of Health Insurance Plan, Continued		
(SECTION 25.2). BENEFIT	PPO	PPO w/HRA	НМО
Office Visits	90%/60%	90%/60%	\$15.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/06)
			\$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07)
Pediatric Immunization	Please Refer to Wellness Benefit	Please Refer to Wellness Benefit	Covered
Pap Smear/Routine	Please Refer to Wellness Benefit	Please Refer to Wellness Benefit	\$15.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/06)
Gynecology		÷	\$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07)
Mammograms	Please Refer to Wellness Benefit	Please Refer to Wellness Benefit	\$15.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/06) \$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07)
Outpatient Surgery	90%/60%	90%/60%	\$15.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/06) \$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07)
In-Patient Hospital Services	90%/60%	90%/60%	\$15.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/06) \$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07)
Outpatient Laboratory	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered
Outpatient Radiology	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered

HEALTH	-		
INSURANCE	Highlights of Health Insurance Plan, Continued		
(SECTION 25.2)			
BENEFIT.	PPO	PPO w/HRA	HMO
Physical, Speech & Occupational Therapy	90%/60% Restoration Only	90%/60% Restoration Only	60 Combined Visits per Calendar Year, Restoration only
Cardiac Rehabilitation	90%/60% Cardiac Rehabilitation Services Only in Programs Approved by Claim Administrator (12 weeks or 36 sessions/year)	90%/60% Cardiac Rehabilitation Services Only in Programs Approved by Claim Administrator (12 weeks or 36 sessions/year)	Covered
Pulmonary Rehabilitation	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered
Respiratory Therapy	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered
Restorative Services & Chiropractic Care	90%/60% Chiropractic Care Only 20 Per Year, Max 3 Modalities Per Visit	90%/60% Chiropractic Care Only 20 Per Year, Max 3 Modalities Per Visit	Covered, Requires Referral from Primary Care
Chemotherapy, Radiation and Dialysis	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered
Outpatient Private Duty Nursing	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered, Requires HMO Approval
Skilled Nursing Care	90%/60%	90%/60%	Covered, Up to 120 Days per Calendar Year
Hospice and Home Healthcare	90° a/60°a	90° o/60° o	Covered
DME & Prosthetics	90° 0/60° 0	90%/60° a	Covered

HEALTH			
INSURANCE	Highlights o	of Health Insurance Pla	n, Continued
(SECTION 25.2)	10		
BENEFIT	PPO	PPO w/HRA	НМО
Outpatient Diabetic Education	90%/60% Two Visits Per Lifetime	90%/ 60% Two Visits Per Lifetime	Covered
Routine Foot Care	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Fertility Treatment	90%/60%	90%/60%	Available Ac- cording to HMO Guidelines

HEACTH"	Highlights of He	ealth Insurance Plan, Co	entinued
BENEFTI	PPO PPO w/HRA HMO		
	PPO		INVO
Mental Illness Care	Inpatient: 90%/60%  Outpatient: 80% of \$100 Max Covered Expenses per Session; Only 7 Sessions Covered if Treatment Is Not Certified; Max Covered Expenses: \$5000/year  Mental Health & Substance Abuse Max Expenses: Individual: \$37,500/year Individual: \$250,000/lifetime Family: \$500,000/lifetime		Co-Pay for Inpatie and Outpatient Services:  \$15.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/06)  \$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07)  Service Limitation Inpatient: 30  Days/Year Outpatient: 30
	V	Visits/Year	
Substance Abuse	Inpatient: 90%/60%  Outpatient: 80% of \$100 Max Covered Expenses per Session; Only 7 Sessions Covered if Treatment Is Not Certified; Max Covered Expenses: \$5000/year  Mental Health & Substance Abuse Max Expenses: Individual: \$37,500/year Individual: \$250,000/lifetime Family: \$500,000/lifetime		Co-Pays for Inpatient and Outpatient Services: \$15.00 Co-Pay (elf. 1/1/06) \$20.00 Co-Pay (eff. 1/1/07) Service Limitations Inpatient: 30 Days/Year Outpatient: 30 Visits/Year  Screening: Covered in
Hearing Exams and Aids	Hearing Screening:  Covered in  Wellness Benefit  Hearing Aids: Not  Covered	Hearing Screening: Covered in Wellness Benefit Hearing Aids: Not Covered	Full Hearing Aids: Not Covered

HEALTH			
INSURANCE	Highlights of Health Insurance Plan, Continued		
(SECTION 25.2)		*	
BENEFIT	PPO	PPO w/HRA	1-1A/10
Lifetime Limits	Maximum Lifetime	Limit is \$1.5 Million	No Limit
Wellness Benefit	\$600 per year (effective 1/1/06) includes Subject to further review and		
	development, the Wellness Benefit cover, outside of deductibles:		Available According to HMO Guidelines
	<ol> <li>(1) routine exams</li> <li>(2) immunizations,</li> <li>(3) (4) mammograms and vision exams, lenses,</li> <li>frames and contacts. The</li> </ol>		
	Wellness Benefit will also provide on-site health assessments.		
	Wellness Benefit Is Not Subject to Plan Annual Deductible	\$0. 8	
		÷	

### EXHIBIT 2

### EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTION SCHEDULE

## (PER PAY PERIOD) COMPOSITE 2.0% OF OVERALL SALARY

#### LEVEL OF COVERAGE

ANNUAL SALARY	SINGLE	EMPLOYEE+ 1	FAMILY
SALARY LEVEL	1.2921% OF PAYROLL/24	1.9854% OF PAYROLL/24	2.4765% OF
			PAYROLL/24

# CONTRIBUTIONS AT SELECTED SALARY LEVELS (PER PAY PERIOD)

### LEVEL OF COVERAGE

ANNUAL SALARY		SINGLE	EMPLOYEE+1	FAMILY
Under \$30,000		\$15.71	\$23.88	\$27.65
\$30,001	e a transfer	\$16.15	\$24.82	\$30.96
\$40,000		\$21.54	\$33.09	\$41.28
\$50,000		\$26.92	\$41.36	\$51.59
\$60,000		\$32.30	\$49.64	\$61.91
\$70,000		\$37.69	\$57.91	\$72.23
\$80,000		\$43.07	\$66.18	\$82.55
\$90,000		\$48.45	\$74.45	\$92.87
\$100,000		\$53.84	\$82.73	\$103.19

#### REFERENCE

### CURRENT EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTION SCHEDULE

7/01/2000	-		LEVEL OF		
ANNUAL SALARY		SINGLE	EMPLOYEE+ 1	FAMILY	<i>.</i>
UP TO \$30,000		\$12.50	\$19.00	\$22	.00
\$30,001 TO \$89,999		1.0281% OF PAYROLL/24	1.579% OF PAYROLL/24	1.9705% PAYROL	
\$90,000 AND OVER		\$38.50	\$59.30	\$73.	.95

## EXHIBIT 3

	DENTAL HMO PLAN (MUST USE PANEL DENTISTS)		. PPO PLAN _OW' OF NETWORK
BENEFIT DESIGN		INTICIWORK	OW OF NETWORK
Individual Deductible	\$0	S100 Per Person, Per Year (eff. 1/1/06)	\$200 Per Person, Per Year (eff. 1/1/06)
Annual Maximum Benefit	Unlimited	\$1200 1	Per Person
ORTHODONTIC PROCEDURES (BRA	ACES)		
Braces - Under Age 25 Only	\$2300 Co-Payment	Not (	Covered
PREVENTATIVE SERVICES		dayle la commence of the comme	
Oral Exams (I wice a Year)  Cleanings (I wice a Year)  X-Rays (I wice a Year)  Space Maintainers (Children under 12)	100% Covered in Full \$10 Co-Payment (eff. 1/1/06)	100% Covered in Full No Deductible S10 Co-Payment (eff. 1/1/06)	Plan Pays 80% of PPO Allowable Amount. Member Pays Balance of Billed Charges. No Deductible
BASIC PROCEDURES	Co-Payment (Member Pays)		
Amalgam (Fillings) - One Surface Permanent	\$18.53 (1/1/06) \$20.20 (1/1/07)	PPO Allowable PPO Allowable Amount.	1
Resin - One Surface Anterior Including Acid Etch	\$21.80 (1/1/06) \$23.76 (1/1/07)	of PPO Allowable Member After Deductible Balance of Charges Deduct	
Pin Retention (per tooth in addition to restoration	\$28.34 (1/1/06) \$30.89 (1/1/07)	. *	DHO.
Routine Extraction Single Tooth	\$21.80 (1/1/06) \$23.76 (1/1/07)		
Surgical Removal of Erupted Tooth	\$41.42 (1/1/06) \$45.15 (1/1/07)	Plan Pays 60% of PPO Allowable PPO Allow	PPO Allowable
Surgical Removal of Tooth - Soft Tissue Impaction	oval of Tooth - Soft S53.41 (1/1/06) Member Pays 40% of PPO Allowable A	Amount. Member Pays	
Surgical Removal of Tooth - Partial Bony Impaction	\$76.30 (1/1/06) \$83.17 (1/1/07)		
Surgical Removal of Tooth - Complete Bony Impaction			
Alveoloplasty • Without Extractions - Per Quadrant	\$88.29 (1/1/06) \$96.24 (1/1/07)		

	DENI'ALI IMO PLAN			PPO PLAN
	MUST USE PANEL DF,	NTISTSI	IN-NETV	VORK OUT-OF-
Quadrant with Local Anesthesia	\$41.42 (1/1/06) \$45.15 (1/1/07)			
Gingivectomy or Gingivoplasty • Per Quadrant	\$167.86 (1/1/06) \$182.97 (1/1/07	4	* ., ·	
Gingival Flap Procedure Including Root Planing • Per Quadrant	\$160.23 (1/1/06) \$174.65 (1/1/07)	+		
Osseous Surgery, Flap Entry and Closure-Per Quadrant	\$186.39 (1/1/06) \$203.17(1/1/07)			+
Pulp Capping - Direct or Indirect	\$14.17 (1/1/06) \$15.45 (1/1/07)	*	* 1	
Root Canal Therapy	(1/1/06)	(1/1/07)	Plan Pays 60% of PPO Allowable. Member Pays 40%	Plan Pays 50% of PPO Allowable Amount. Member Pays
Anterior Bicuspid Molar	\$136.25 \$147.15 197.29	\$148.51 \$160.39 215.05	of PPO Allowable After Deductible,	Balance of Billed Charges After Deductible.
4			## T	- P-
Apicoectomy (First Root)	\$126.44 (1/1/06) \$137.82 (1/1/07)			
Palliative Treatment	\$15.26 (1/1/06) \$16.63 (1/1/07)			
Limited Occlusion Adjustment	\$23.98 (1/1/06) \$26.14 (1/1/07)			
MAJORRESTORATIVE PROCEDURES				
Inlay - Metallic (One Surface)	\$252.88 (1/1/06) \$275.64 0/1/07)			
Onlay - Metallic (Three Surfaces)	\$342.26 (1/1/06) \$373.06 (1/1/07			
Core Buildup Including Pins	\$101.37 (1/1/06) \$110.49 (1/1/07)			
Temporary Crown - With Fractured Tooth (no Charge In Conjunction with Permanent Tooth)	\$68.67 (1/1/06) \$74.85 (1/1/07)		Plan Pays 60% of PPO Allowable. Member Pays 40% of PPO Allowable	Plan Pays 50% of PPO Allowable Amount. Member Pays Balance of Billed
Crown - Porcelain/Ceramic Substrate	S353.16 (1/1/06) S384.94 0/1/07			Charges After Deductible.
Crown • Full Cast, Base Metal	\$361.88 (1/1/06) \$394.45. (1/1/07)	*		

	DENTAL HMO PLAN.	DENTAL PPO PLAN
	(MUST USE PANEL DENTIST	IN NETWORK OUT OF NETWORK
Denture - Complete Upper or Lower	\$444.72 (1/1/06) \$484.74 (1/1/07)	
Lower Denture Reline - Chair- side	\$135.16 (1/1/06) \$147.32 (1/1/07)	



# DEPARTMENT OF LAW CITY OF CHICAGO

SIDE LETTER #1

July 19, 2012

Matt Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland, Suite 400 Chicago, Illinois 60607

Jerry Rankins, Business Representative IBEW Local 21 1307 Butterfield Road, Suite 422 Downers Grove, IL 60515-5606

Rei Unit II and City of Chicago 2010-2012 Contract Negotiations Side Letters

•

Dear Matt and Jerry:

This is to confirm that the parties have agreed to attach to the Agreement this Side Letter 1, as well as attached Side Letters #2 through 33, and that all said side letters of agreement shall be in full force and effect for the duration of the Agreement. The parties further hereby understand and agree that any and all other side letters of agreement previously entered into pertaining to employees covered under the Agreement are no longer in effect.

Sincerely.

Joseph P. Martinico Chief Labor Negotiator (312) 744-5395

AGREED:

**UNIT II** 

Matt Brandon, SEIU Local 73

By: Jerry Lynkins, IBEW Local 21



City of Chicago Eugene Sawyer, Acting Mayor

Department of Personal Jesse E. Hoskins Commissioner

Sam Actembra First Deputy Commissioner

City Hall. Room 1100 121 North LeStille Street Chicago, Illinois 60502 (312) 741–1000

SIDE LETTER # 2

June 6, 1988

Hr. Marvin Gictler Asher, Pavalon, Gittler and Greenfield Ltd. 2 North LeSalle - Room 1200 Chicago, Illinois 60602

Deur Mr. Gittler:

This will confirm the understanding of the parties that the agreed to deletion of Article 13.4 "Bridging Seniority" from the Public Safety Employees (Unit II) Collective Bargaining Unit Agraement will have the following impact: Employees hired prior to January 1, 1985 shall recain their bridged time-iu-ticle seniority for vacation selection purposes only.

For employees hired into the bargaining unic after January 1, 1985, senioricy for vacation selection purposes will be time-ia-title.

Sincerally

Director of Labor Ralacions

Cheryl

Deputy Corportion Counsel

Agraed

Harvin Gittler

: (

· Migner



City of Chicago Eugene Sawyer, Acting Mayor

Department of Law Judson H. Miner Corporation Counsel

City Hall, Room 511 121 North LaSalle Street Chicago, Illinois 60602 13121 744-6900 SIDE LETTER #3

July 7, 1988

Marvin Gittler
Asher, Pavalon, Gittler
& Greenfield, Ltd.
Two North LaSalle Street
Suite 1200
Chicago, Illinois 60602

Re: Section 14.7 of Unit II Agreement "Crossing Guard Benefits"

Dear Mr. Gittler:

This letter is to confirm the understanding of the parties that the current practice with regard to the payment of hospitalization premiums for Crossing Guards under Section 14.7 of the labor agreement will remain the same under the newly negotiated labor agreement. That practice is reflected in the City of Chicago Medical Care Plan For Employees, Section 1.1.5(h) as follows:

"coverage for a School Grossing Guard will be continued at no cost to the Employee during the summer vacation period and for opens five (5) months of medical leave each year."

Sincerely,

Chery Blackwe W Nryson Deputy Corporation Counsel Joan Cole

Director of Labor Relations

Marv

AGREBO:

MERS

## SIDE LETTER #4 – REVISED DURING 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS SUMMER EMPLOYMENT FOR CROSSING GUARDS

City proposes to extend the attached side letter agreement dated February 15, 2019 concerning Crossing Guards working for summer employment as Traffic Control Aides-Hourly for the life of the new Agreement.

February 15th, 2019

Jeffrey Howard Executive Vice President, SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland Ave., Ste. 400 Chicago, IL 60607

RE: Crossing Guard Summer Employment as TCAH Pilot Program

Dear Mr. Howard:

This is to confirm the agreements between the City of Chicago Office of Emergency Management and Communications ("OEMC") and SEIU Local 73 ("Union') with respect to summer employment opportunity for crossing guards, as a pilot program for the Summer of 2019, to work as a Traffic Control Aide-Hourly, provided they successfully pass the traffic control training and can adequately perform the duties of the TCAH to the Department's satisfaction.

Crossing Guards will be on paid time for any training in which they partake. Persons who complete such training will be assigned TCAH work opportunities as the need arises at the Department's discretion and will be paid their normal rate of pay as Crossing Guards for such work. If more crossing guards complete the training than are needed for this program, then, the participants will be chosen by seniority.

Crossing Guards who are working for the summer school program are not eligible for this program. This program is purely voluntary and Crossing Guards will not be penalized in any way for not participating in the program. However, once a crossing guard is participating in the program, they are expected to report to their assigned events. Unauthorized failure to report to an assignment can disqualify a crossing guard from participating in this program, but will not incur any type of disciplinary action. At the conclusion of summer 2019, this program will expire unless extended by mutual agreement of the parties. The parties have mutually agreed to extend the term of this side letter through the life of the 2017-2022 CBA.

Please sign below to signify agreement to the foregoing.

# SIDE LETTER #10 IS DELETED FROM THE AGREEMENT BY AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES DURITN THE 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS

## Letter of Understanding

Regarding Fourth of July Pay for Crossing Guards

Crossing Guards who work during the month of July and who are off on the Fourth of July holiday, shall receive four (4) hours of pay, or pay for the number of hours their work schedule calls for, whichever is greater. This agreement is for all summer assignments including summer school and is in effect from 1989 until the end of the term of the collective bargaining agreement.

#### SIDE LETTER

In light of the procedure set forth in Article 7.1, the parties mutually agree that the Police Department's procedures of;

(a) the Complaint Review Panel for both Complaint Register

Investigations and Summary Punishment; (b) The Summary Punishment;

Article 7.1, the

Department's procedures of;

(a) the Complaint Review Panel for both Complaint Register

Investigations and Summary Punishment; (b) The Summary Punishment;

Article 7.1, the

Department's procedures of;

(a) the Complaint Review Panel for both Complaint Register

Investigations and Summary Punishment; (b) The Summary Punishment;

Article 7.1, the

FOR CHE UNION

16 6 - 67

Date

[2-92NEG/SL-4]

FOR THE CITY

Date



hicago : M. Daley, Masor

encor Personner

Carr toner

L Room (199)
ta LaSaile Street
[illinois a0002-1275
4-2000 (Vaice)
4-2563 (VDD)

June 26, 1996

Mr. Jarvis Williams Public Safety Employees Union - Unit II 309 W. Washington Street - Stite 250 Chicago, Illinois 60606

Dear Mr. Williams:

This letter will set forth the parties' agreement reached in the 1995-96 City of Chicago Public Service Employees Union - Unit II negotiations with respect to the issue of alternate medical coverage in the case of employees who fail to comply with the City's medical plan enrollment requirements.

- The City will offer alternate coverage for individuals who (a) are otherwise eligible under the Plan; (b) have been denied coverage under the Plan because they failed to comply with the Plan's enrollment requirements; (c) first became eligible for coverage subsequent to the close of the last most recent open enrollment period; and (d) agrees to pay the required premium.
- 2. In addition to the foregoing, persons who are entitled to coverage as the spouse of an eligible employee shall not be eligible for alternate coverage if the spouse is currently covered by other medical insurance coverage. Also, the employee must not be covering another person as spouse at the time the application for coverage is made by the employee.
- 3. When an employee who has applied for coverage for an otherwise eligible dependent is denied coverage because of fallure to meet enrollment deadlines, the employee shall be notified of the availability of the Alternative Coverage. The employee shall have thirty (30) days to respond to the offer of alternative coverage. The employee shall elect one of the following:



- (a) Retrospective coverage. Coverage shall be effective as of the date the dependent would have been eligible for coverage had the employee completed the enrollment on a timely basis. If the employee elects retrospective coverage, the employee must pay the required premium from the date of eligibility forward until the next occurring December 31. Premium shall be due for the period of retrospective coverage upon submission of the application. Premiums shall be due thereafter on the first day of the month for which the premium is applicable.
- (b) Prospective coverage only. Coverage shall be effective as of the first day of the month occurring after the application for coverage and the first premium payment is submitted by the employee. Premiums shall be due thereafter on the first day of the month for which the premium is applicable.
- (c) In the event the employee fails to apply for Alternative Coverage within the time specified, the employee may next apply for coverage for the dependent during the open enrollment period. No further offer of Alternative Coverage shall be made to the employee with respect to the applicable dependent.
- 4. The Alternative Coverage shall be provided on the same basis as the coverage of the plan selected by the employee. Coverage shall be made available under the Alternative Plan as of the Effective Date of the Alternative Coverage without regard to pre-existing conditions. The dependent covered under the Alternative Coverage will be included in the membership unit of the employee. Further, covered expenses will be included in any calculation of deductible or out-of-pocket expenses, annual and lifetime benefit maximums in accordance with the applicable plan.

Page 3 June 26, 1996

- 5. The cost of the Alternative Coverage as of the effective date of this amendment shall be \$130 per covered person per month. However, no employee shall be required to pay more then \$390 per month effective with the effective date of this amendment. The premium for the Alternative Coverage shall be adjusted on each January 1 occurring thereafter by the amount of the change in the Medical Care Component of the Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners for the most recently reported twelve (12) months.
- 6. Premiums for the Alternative Coverage shall be made in the form of a check or money order. Cash cannot be accepted, nor can a deduction be made from the paycheck of an employee. In the event an employee submits a check which is returned from the bank because of non-sufficient funds (NSF), the Alternative Coverage shall be terminated as of the last day for which premium payments have been received.

I trust this letter accurately reflects our agreement. If so, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me at your convenience.

Sincerely,

William Kinehan

Director of Labor Relations

WK/NOB/mah

ACCEPTED AND AGREED ON BEHALF OF PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES UNION - UNIT II

X-14-9

[A3/jw-u2]

SIDE LETTER # 8

-udust 14 1996

108, 21,15111

'ersonner

to The State of State

Mr. Jarvis Williams, President Public Service Employees Union -Local 46 - SEIU (Unit II) 309 W. Washington St., Suite 259 Chicago, Illinois 60606

Dear Mr. Williams:

In the event an employee returns to work from outy disability leave and continues to receive outy disability hav for which the employee is not eligible after beginning to receive the regular payroil earnings, such duty disability payment shall be returned.

Sincereiv.

William Kinehan Director of Labor Relations

AGREED

FOR THE UNION

CITY OF CHICAGO

10-11 9

Date

Date

email greine Vila

7K/Iv

3 1 tam 111

## SIDE LETTER # 9

### SIDE LETTER

This letter is to confirm our agreement in the 1995-96 contract negotiations penaining to the City's drug and alcohol testing proposal.

It is agreed and understood that this proposal is not intended to apply to or supercede the currently applicable erug and alcohol testing policy applied to Police department employees.

## AGREED

FOR THE CITY

FOR THE UNION

In William Kielen

0/1/96 DATE 10-11-96

MATT

WKINBILY

(wpñie3/general.f1/o8)

r19

SIDE LETTER #10 IS DELETED FROM THE AGREEMENT BY AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES DURING THE 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS



City of Chicago Richard M. Daley, Mayor

Department of Personnel

Glenn E. Care-Commissioner

City Hall, Room 1100 121 North LaSalle Street Chicago, Illinois 60602-1275 (312) 744-4000 (Voice) (312) 744-2563 (TTY) SIDE LETTER # 11

October 17, 1996

Mr. Jarvis Williams, President Public Safety Employees Union SEIU - Unit II 309 W. Washington St., Suite 250 Chicago, Illinois 60606

Dear Mr. Williams:

This letter will confirm the understanding of the parties reached during the 1995-1996 negotiations that the current practice in the Police Department with regard to the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Sincerely;

William Kinehan Director of Labor Relations

WK/iy

[wpfile/bill1.let/p113]

In American Celebration

Chicago 'g,



SIDE LETTER #12 is deleted from the Agreement.

01315, 34, 11:31 0.9 JATOT

(11) 744 (11) (11) 744-2561 (11) http://www.ci.chl.il.ua

10:DEPT OF MEKSUNNILL

SIDE LETTER # 13

January 17, 1997

Ms Johnstin Ryan Bus Agent 113FW Local Lister, 201 N. Wells Street, Room 2020 Chicaga, Illinois 60506 14 14, 5

Door Ms, Rygn: . .

This will contirm the understanding reached during the 1995-1996 nepotlations concerning Avintion Communication Operators ...

Their current bouts of work will increase one hour per dry, in other words they slidt, work eight (8) thours in addition to the designated funch period. It is written for the first line in the will not be written by the first line in the will not be decreased or inoreased as a result.

This City within agrees that the new thous will be implemented in accordance with Article 10.1A of the collective bargaining agreement.

Sincerely,

Willem Vondon WilliamKülehor

Director of Labor Relations

WKNY ... cc T. McCathy D. Morrisscy

4/3

rinitia.



ley, Mayor

at of Personnei

acc act

Toum 1100 LaSalle Steece finais 60602-1209 -4966 (Voice) -1521 (FAX) ·2563 (TTY)

e.cr.chi.il.us

tion 11 Services laformucion Services aon 1100-1102 1962 (Voice) 1976 (Voice) 1954 (Voice) 521 (FAX)

ssistance l'rogram 1399 (Voice)

\_nt 'ompliance er. Suite 330 are Street inis bU604-)973 Hill (Youce) 7.5 (Valee) \*XX (Voice) 'SJ (Vnice) \*71 (FAX)

เรริกก r. Suite 320 te Street ois 40604-3975 77 (Voice) US (FAX)

SIDE LETTER # 14

April 11, 2000

Mr. Jarvis Williams, President Public Safety Employees Union SEIU - Unit II 309 W. Washington, St. Suite 250 Chicago, Illinois 60606

Dear Mr. Williams:

This will confirm the understanding of the parties that effective summer 2000, Crossing Guards who are assigned to summer school crossings shall have a four (4) hour minimum pay if they report at least twice a day provided the Employer may assign meaningful duties for the said minimum periods.

Sincerely,

William Kinchan

Director of Labor Relations

AGREED:

Jarvis Williams

14/1/

#### EXHIBIT A

SIDE LETTER # 15—Revised during 2017-2022 CBA Negotiations

March 7, 2007 Revised May , 2020

Matthew Brandon, Director

August 6, 2020

Jeffrey Howard SEIU Local 73 1165 North Clark Street, Suite 500 Chicago, Illinois 60610-2884 300 S. Ashland Ave., Stc. 400 Chicago, IL 60607

RE:	Unit II and City of Chicago
	Traffic Control Aide - Hourly; Title Code 9104

Dear	Matt-	

This is to confirm the agreement between the City of Chicago ("City") and SEIU Local 73 ("Union") that the following terms and conditions shall apply to employees in the Traffic Control Aide – Hourly ("TCAH") job classification:

- 1. TCAH's are included I the Unit II bargaining unit. TCAH's are not covered under the terms of the City's collective bargaining agreement with Unit II ("the Contract"), except only for the following provisions: Article 1 (Recognition), Sections 3.1 (Union Security) and 3.2 (Activity Reports), and the parties' October 11, 1996 letter agreement pertaining to fair share; and Article 4 (No Strike or Lockout). In addition, TCAH's shall have the right to bid on bargaining unit vacancies in accordance with the terms of Section 11.2 of the Contract. In addition to the posting requirements of Section 11.2(e), the City agrees that the Department of Police ("CPD") will make available to the Office of Emergency management Communications ("OEMC") a copy of any job postings for vacant, full-time Traffic Control Aide positions posted in CPD, so that said positions can be posted by OEMC. The Union may also appoint TCAH's to serve as Stewards, subject to the terms of Article 16 of the CBA. The Union and OEMC will meet to discuss the appropriate number of TCAH's who may be appointed as Stewards.
- 2. Any alleged violation of the specific term of this Letter of Agreement shall be subject to Sections 7.3 and 7.4 (Grievance and Arbitration) of the Contract.

3. As of July 1, 2017, the pay rate for the TCAH job classification was will be \$15.59 \$19.86 per hour. Effective on the first day of the third full pay period that follows the date of execution of this Letter of Agreement by the Union, the pay rate for the TCAH job classification will be \$16.59 per hour. That pay rate shall be increased from time to time as required by the percentage wage adjustments agreed to by the parties in the 2018-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement, as follows:

Effective January 1, 2018 - \$20.26

Effective January 1, 2019 - \$20.72

Effective January 1, 2020 - \$21.13

Effective January 1, 2021 - \$21.61

Effective January 1, 2022 - \$22.04

The City acknowledges its responsibility to pay employees for all hours worked in an accurate and timely fashion.

- 4. For purposes of application of Section 3.1B of the Contract, Union membership dues for TCAH's shall be calculated at the rate of 2% of the TCAH pay rate. The City will not make payroll deductions for any initiation fees assessed by Unit II.
- 5. All TCAH positions will be considered "Exempt Program" within the meaning of the City's Personnel Rules, and exempt from Career Service. As such, TCAH's may be disciplined or discharged as exclusively determined by the Employer, and such Employer action shall not be subject to any grievance procedure or review by the City's Police or Human Resources Board. The City will provide at least ten (10) calendar days advance notice of any involuntary termination of a TCAH, and, following a request by the Union made within three (3) calendar days of its receipt of the termination notice, will meet and discuss the termination with the Union, including the basis for the termination. The City's lead representative will be an individual who was not responsible for initiating the termination recommendation. In the case of a termination of a TCAH for work-related misconduct of a type which would result in the City dischargin a non-TCAH employee for a first offense, (not including any attendance-related violation or job abandonment), the Union may request review of the termination by the City's Director of Labor Relations, whose decision shall be final and binding.
- 6. No TCAH will receive any City health, vacation, holiday, sick leave, bereavement leave, or other employment benefits, and TCAH's shall only be entitled to such leave time as may be mandated by law. Upon ratification by both parties of TCAH's shall be eligible for paid sick leave in accordance with Section 15.4 of that the 2018-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement. Also, as of the upon ratification of that Agreement date, TCAH's will receive bereavement leave as follows: TCAH's who work at least 1,200 hours in the preceding January through

December calendar year shall be eligible to receive payment for the hours the TCAH is scheduled to work but not to exceed eight (8) hours pay to attend the funeral/memorial of an immediate family member (as defined in Section 15.1 of the Contract) when the funeral/memorial occurs on a day when the TCAH is otherwise scheduled to work.

- 7. TCAH's will work only as needed, as determined by the City. No TCAH will work more than 1,300 hours between and including January 1 and December 31 in any calendar year, including any training directed by the City. In any TCAH's first calendar year of employment, the TCAH will not work more than a pro rata portion of 1,300 hours (including any training directed by the City), based on the number of months remaining in the calendar year, including the month in which the TCAH was hired. (For example, if a TCAH is hired on July 21 in any calendar year, the TCAH will work no more than 6 months' worth of hours, or 650 hours, for the remainder of that calendar year.
- 8. Except only for specific events (including Soldier Field events), emergencies (including weather emergencies) or projects, or for purposes of receiving training, TCAH's will not be assigned to work within the area bounded by Oak Street on the north, Roosevelt Road on the south, Lake Shore Drive on the east, and Clinton Street on the west.
- 9. The City will provide new TCAH's with one (1) flashlight, one (1) whistle, and one (1) shared rain jacket. The City will also supply new TCAH's with each of the following uniform items for each season worked, on a one-time basis:

Spring/Summer: One (1) pair of washable paints; one (1) short-sleeve shirt; one (1) summer baseball cap; one (1) vest; and one (1) name plate. In addition, after at least thirty (30) days have passed since the TCAH's date of hire, and once the Spring/Summer season begins, the City will supply the TCAH, on a one-time basis, with one (1) additional pair of washable pants, and two (2) additional short-sleeve shirts.

<u>Fall/Winter Apparel</u>: One (1) all season jacket; one (1) winter cap. TCAH's will also have the option of purchasing, at their own expense, authorized long-sleeve shirts and sweaters.

The City will also provide each TCAH, one time each year after the TCAH's year of hire, any necessary replacement of one (1) pair of pants, one (1) short-sleeve shirt, and/or one (1) vest, either by paper voucher or direct replacement.

On a one-time only basis, the Department will offer one additional shirt and pair of pants for all persons employed as of the date of ratification.

10. Any TCAH who is separated from employment with the City within one (1) year of hire as a TCAH will re-pay all uniform costs.

- 11. In-consideration of these agreements, The Union waives its right to grieve any alleged violations of Side Letter #15 of the Contract, and hereby agrees to withdraw Grievance Nos. 02-06-058-0030 (TCAH's assigned to Michigan Avenue), 02-06-058-0032 (TCAH's working more than 83 hours), and 02-06-058-0033 (TCAH's uniforms and equipment). Nothing herein is intended to deprive the Union or its members from filing a grievance concerning alleged-violations of this Letter of Agreement, consistent with the language in paragraph 2 above. as of the date of ratification of the 2018-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- 12. Upon request by the Union, the OEMC agrees that it will meet and discuss with the Union issues that arise with respect to this Letter of Agreement, including issues pertaining to the scheduling and assignment of TCAH's.
- 13. This <u>revised</u> Letter of Agreement shall become effective on the date of execution by the Union ratification of the 2018-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement by both parties, and shall supersede all prior versions of Side Letter #15 of the Contract as of said effective date to the extent inconsistent with this revised Letter of Agreement.
- 14. This Letter of Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for the duration of the current Contract, including any extensions thereof.

Please sign below to signify the Union's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

James Q: Brennwald Chief Assistant Corporation Counsel (312)-744-5395

Michael W. Duffee Chief Spokesman

AGR	n.
	$\sigma$

SEIU-LOCAL-73	
By:Date	
Revised Side Letter #15 agreed to this	day of, 2020:
City of Chicago	Public Safety Employees Union, Unit II

#### SIDE LETTER #16—REVISED DURING THE 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS

May 1, 2020

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re: 2017 City of Chicago Negotiations - Unit II

On the Job Training of PCO Titles

Dear Mr. Bloch:

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and Public Safety Employees Unit II on the issue of on the job training of PCO I and II personnel. This letter will supersede existing Side Letter 16 as provided below.

It was agreed that within one (1) year following the ratification of this Agreement, the City of Chicago will establish the job title of PCO-Trainer at a newly established Salary Grade Level 15, the specific job duties and qualifications of which position shall be established by the City's Department of Human Resources. The primary purpose of this job title shall be the performance of all on the job training for PCO I and II positions within OEMC, which training currently is being performed under the provisions of existing Side Letter 16 by PCO I and II employees who are assigned periodically to perform such training for an additional pay rate. All employees with PCO I and PCO II experience shall be eligible to bid for vacancies in this new position. Among such other qualifications as will be established, it is agreed that successful bidders who apply for this position must be able to establish to the hiring Department's satisfaction a record of prior successful experience in training of PCO I and II personnel. When not performing training as the primary job responsibility, the PCO-Trainer shall perform such PCO I and II duties as may be assigned by OEMC from time to time as the need for such assignments shall arise.

It was further agreed that for this new position, an employee's seniority for all purposes shall be determined by such employee's length of service in any prior bargaining unit positions which were held by that employee. In addition, as the Department fills future vacancies, the initial shift assignment for the vacancy shall be part of the posting for that position.

Upon creation of this new title and recruitment of sufficient qualified personnel by the Department, the training provisions set forth in existing Side Letter 16 shall no longer be in effect and such PCO I and II on-the-job training shall be performed by the PCO-Trainer classification, it being understood that nothing herein shall preclude Department supervisors who perform certain aspects of training PCO I and II titles from continuing to perform such training.

If this letter accurately sets forth our agreement, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me.

Very truly yours,

By:

Michael W. Duffee Chief Spokesman City of Chicago



ty of Chicago ichard M. Daley, Mayor

epartment of Law

ara S. Georges reporation Counsel

ibor Division ite 1040 North LaSalle Street icago, Illinois 60602 12) 744-5100 12) 742-9029 (FAX) 12) 744-5131 (TTY) tp://www.cityofchicago.org

#### SIDE LETTER #17

August 11, 2005

Mart Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 1165 N. Clark Street, Suite 500 Chicago, Illinois 60610-2884 Jerry Rankins, Business Representative IBEW Local 21 1307 Butterfield Road, Suite 422 Downers Grove, IL 60515-5606

RE: Uniform Caps for Crossing Guards and Traffic Control Aides

Dear Matt and Jerry:

This is to confirm the parties' understandings that Crossing Guards and Traffic Control Aides will be allowed to wear suitable baseball-style caps issued by the City as uniform wear, consistent with applicable uniform guidelines determined by the City.

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

James Q. Brennwald

Chief Assistant Corporation Counsel

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

II TINU

By: // (D) 1 CFULL 221 73

By:

Jerry Rankins, IBEW Local 21





## SIDE LETTER # 18 (REVISED DURING 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS)

January 28, 2008 August 5, 2020

Matthew Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 1165 North Clark-Street, Suite 500 Chicago, Illinois 60610-2884

Jeff Howard SEIU, Local 73 300 S. Ashland Ave., Ste. 400 Chicago, IL 60607

RE: Unit II and City of Chicago Aviation Security Officer-Hourly; Title Code 4211

#### Dear Matt: Jeff:

This is to confirm the agreements of the City of Chicago ("City") and SEIU Local 73 ("Union") with respect to the newly-created City job classification Aviation Security Officer-Hourly ("ASO-Hourly"):

- 1. By no later than thirty (30) days from the last date of execution of this Letter of Agreement, the Union will file an appropriate petition with the Illinois Labor Relations Board, seeking certification as the exclusive representative of employees employed in the ASO-Hourly job classification, as part of the Unit II bargaining unit.
- 2. Affective on the date of the Union's certification by the Board as the exclusive representative of employees employed in the ASO-Hourly job classification as part of the Unit II bargaining unit, or on the last date of execution of this Letter of Agreement whichever date is later, the following terms and conditions shall apply to employees in the ASO-Hourly job classification.
  - A. ASO-Hourlies are included in the Unit II bargaining unit, ASO-Hourlies are not covered under the terms of the City's collective bargaining agreement with Unit II ("the Contract"), except only for the following provisions: Article 1 (Recognition), Section 3.1 (Union Security) and 3.2 (Activity Reports), and the parties' October 11, 1996 letter agreement pertaining to fair share; and Article 4 (No Strike or Lockout). In addition ASO-Hourlies shall have the right to bid on bargaining unit vacancies in accordance with the terms of Section 11.2 of the Contract.
  - B. Any alleged violation of any specific term of this Letter of Agreement shall be subject to Section 7.3 and 7.4 (Grievance and Arbitration) of the Contract.
  - C. The pay rate for the ASO-Hourly job classification will be \$18.68 \$22.35 per hour, and subject to the wage adjustments listed in Section 9.1A of the Contract.

- D. For purposes of application of Section 3.1B of the Contract, Union membership dues for ASO-Hourlies shall be calculated at the rate of 2% of the ASO-Hourly pay rate. The City will not make payroll deductions for any initiation fees assessed by the Union.
- E. All ASO-Hourly positions will be considered "Exempt Program" within the meeting of the City's Personnel Rules, and exempt from the Career Service. As such, ASO-Hourlies may be disciplined or discharged as exclusively determined by the Employer, and such Employer action shall not be subject to any grievance procedure or review by the City's Human Resources Board. The City will provide the Union with notice of any involuntary termination of an ASO-Hourly, and, following a request by the Union made within three (3) calendar days of its receipt of the termination notice, will meet and discuss the termination with the Union, including the basis for the termination.
- F. No ASO-Hourly will receive any City health, vacation, holiday, sick leave, bereavement leave, or any employment benefits, and ASO-Hourlies shall only be entitled to such leave time as may be mandated by law. ASO-Hourlies shall be eligible for paid sick leave in accordance with Section 15.4 of the 2018-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- G. ASO-Hourlies will work only as needed, as determined by the City. No ASO-Hourly will work more than 83 hours in a month, including any training directed by the City.
- H. The City will provide ASO-Hourlies with \$275 per year to purchase required uniform items.
- I. Any ASO-Hourly who is separated from employment with the City within one (1) year of hire as an ASO-Hourly will have to re-pay all uniform allowance received from the City.
- J. The Letter of Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for the duration of the current Contract, including any extensions thereof.

Please sign below to signify the Union's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

By:

Michael W. Duffee

Chief Spokesman

City of Chicago

		4		
AGREED:				
SEIU LOCA	L 73			

Date \_\_\_\_

James Q. Brennwald

(312) 744-5395

**Assistant Chief Labor Counsel** 



ty of Chicago chard M. Daicy, Mayor

partment of Law

ara S. Georges
reporation Counsel

bor Division ite 1040 North LaSalle Street icago, Illinois 60602 12) 744-5100 12) 744-5131 (FFY)

tp://www.cityofchicago.org

SIDE LETTER #19

May 16, 2008

Matthew Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland Ave., Ste. 400 Chicago, Illinois 60607

RE: Unit II and City of Chicago
Chicago Department of Police/Central Detention Section

Dear Mr. Brandon:

This is to confirm the agreements of the City of Chicago's Department of Police ("CPD") and SEIU Local 73 ("Union") with respect to the assignment of female Detention Aides in CPD's Central Detention Section ("CDS") to process male arrestees. Specifically, the parties have agreed as follows:

- 1. In accordance with the Illinois Labor Relations Board's decision in Case No. L-CA-04-052, CDS has rescinded Section Order No. 04-021.
- 2. The Union recognizes the City's right to assign female Detention Aides to assist in the processing of male arrestees; however, female Detention Aides will not be required to escort male arrestees to cells, or to deliver personal property or meals to male arrestees.
- 3. Except only in cases of serious manpower shortages, and/or an unusually high volume of arrestees, female Detention Aides will not be required to fingerprint male arrestees. In the event that the CPD determines that the assistance of a female Detention Aide is required in fingerprinting male arrestees, CDS will first seek volunteers for any such assignment. If there are insufficient volunteers, such assignments will be made in the order of reverse seniority.
- 4. Nothing in this letter agreement shall be construed as in any way altering or amending any existing CPD general orders or directives.





Please sign below to signify the Union's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

James Q. Brennwald
Assistant Chief Labor Counsel
(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

SETU LOCAL 73

#### SIDE LETTER #20—REVISED DURING THE 2017-2022 NEGOTIATIONS

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19th Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re:

Unit II and City of Chicago/OEMC

Traumatic Occurrences

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and Public Safety Employees Unit II to revise this side letter related to traumatic occurrences.

This is to confirm the The parties' mutual recognition mutually recognize that bargaining unit employees, while performing their duties, may from time to time be called upon to deal with occurrences that cause genuine emotional trauma for the employee, such as personally witnessing a death or serious injury, or handling an emergency call during which a death occurs. The OEMC agrees that, in the event of any such traumatic occurrence during the performance of duties, the employee will be given a reasonable relief period during that workday to recover. The OEMC will also apprise the employee of available counseling services.

In addition, following the ratification of the Agreement, the OEMC, SEIU Local 73 and IBEW Local 21 will meet to discuss the possible creation of a trained, volunteer "Peer Support Group," consisting of bargaining unit employees, to provide further assistance and counseling to employees who have experienced traumatic occurrences during the performance of their duties.

Further, the City of Chicago will undertake an internal review of its policies connected with such on the job trauma, and determine what additional protocols might be warranted in this regard. That review may also include consultation with qualified medical and/or psychiatric professionals in order to fully examine the nature of the problem and what additional courses of action may be warranted. At the request of either party, the City of Chicago will meet from time to time with designated representatives of the Union at mutually agreeable dates and times, but not more than every six (6) months, to discuss the progress of that review. Following that review, the City of Chicago will meet with the Union and discuss the impact on members of the bargaining unit of any contemplated changes to these protocols, and consider what measures may be appropriate for adoption.

Nothing in this letter of agreement shall be construed as in any way limiting employees' rights to use leave time, or any other benefits provided under the terms of the collective bargaining agreement, nor shall the City's compliance with the terms of this letter of agreement in any case be construed as an admission of the City's legal position with respect to any claim by the employee against the City.

If this letter accurately sets forth our agreement, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me.

Very truly yours,

By:

Michael W. Duffee Chief Spokesman City of Chicago



ity of Chicago ichard M. Daley, Mayor

epartment of Law

fara S. Georges orporation Counsel

ahor Division wite 1040 ) North LaSalle Street hicago, Illinois 60602 112) 744-5100 112) 742-9029 (FAX) 112) 744-5131 (TTY)

ttp://www.cityofchicago.org

#### SIDE LETTER #21

July 18, 2008

Matt Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland, Suite 400 Chicago, Illinois 60607 Jerry Rankins, Business Representative IBEW Local 21 1307 Butterfield Road, Suite 422 Downers Grove, IL 60515-5606

RE: Unit II and City of Chicago 2007-2008 Contract Negotiations Health Care - LMCC Referral

Dear Matt and Jerry:

Pursuant to Section 14.2 of the Agreement, the Employer and the Unions agree to direct the LMCC to evaluate and initiate changes to the current Health Care Plan effective January 1, 2008 in areas that will facilitate the shift to a preventive health care model and will result in design improvements, cost containment or savings, including but not limited to the following areas:

- Expanded Disease Management Program
- HRA and Bio-metric Screening
- Health Fairs
- Weight Management Program
- Imaging Review Service
- Lifetime Maximum
- Subscriber Share for Hospital Bills and Co-insurance
- Exclusion for Self-Inflicted Injuries
- Comprehensive Communication and Outreach Strategies.

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely.

James Q. Breunwald
Assistant Chief Labor Counsel

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

UNIT II

By: ///CCA ) X Matt Brandon, SEIU Local 73 By:

Jerry Rankins, IBEW Local 21







lity of Chicago tichard M. Daley, Mayor

lepartment of Law

fara S. Georges Corporation Counsel

abor Division

uite 1040 0 North LaSalle Street hicago, Illinois 60602 312) 744-5100 3(2) 742-9029 (FAX) 312) 744-5131 (TTY) .ttp://www.cityofchicago.org SIDE LETTER //22

July 18, 2008

Matt Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland, Suite 400 Chicago, Illinois 60607

RE: Unit II and City of Chicago 2007-2008 Contract Negotiations Aviation Security Officers

Dear Matt:

This is to confirm the agreement of the City and Unit II that, following ratification of the new collective bargaining agreement, the Department of Aviation may implement a rotating day off schedule for Aviation Security Officers ("ASO's"), similar in operation to the schedules currently in effect for Police Communications Operators I and II and Detention Aides. Prior to the initial implementation of the new rotating day off schedules, all ASO's will be granted an opportunity to submit requests for assignment to their preferred shifts and day-off groups. When submitting such requests, ASO's should list all requested assignments in order of preference. Such requests will be honored in seniority order, with the preferences of the most senior employees honored first. until all available requested assignments have been filled. Any assignments that remain unfilled through this process will be made by the Department at its discretion. Also prior to the initial implementation of the new rotating day off schedules, the Department of Aviation will meet with Local 73 to discuss the implementation of the new schedules.

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

Junes Q. Brennwald

Assistant Chief Labor Counsel

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

UNIT II

Matt Brandon, NEIU Local 73



ity of Chicago ichard M. Daley; Mayor

enartment of Law

ara S. Georges orporation Counsel

 SIDE LETTER #23

July 18, 2008

Matt Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland, Suite 400 Chicago, Illinois 60607

RE: Unit II and City of Chicago 2007-2008 Contract Negotiations Crossing Guards Salary Schedule

Dear Matt:

This is to confirm the agreement of the City and Unit II that, in implementing Section 9.1B(3) of the Agreement, the City will follow the attached "Guidelines For Implementation of Crossing Guards Salary Schedule Adjustment."

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

James Q. Brennwald Assistant Chief Labor Counsel

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

II TINU

Matt Brandon, SEIU Local 73

ORI OODS

A STORY

#### GUIDELINES FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF CROSSING GUARDS SALARY SCHEDULE ADJUSTMENT

#### 1. NEW CROSSING GUARDS SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2010

- A. Based on salary schedule in effect January 1, 2010. Start with the salary schedule in effect on January 1, 2010, after all negotiated wage adjustments through and including that date have been applied, in accordance with Sections 9.1B(1) and (2) of the Agreement.
- B. Move all rates one step to the left. Effective July 1, 2010, after applying all negotiated wage adjustments through that date, shift all rates one step to the left. In doing so, the then-current step 1 (entry) rate drops off the table, the then-current step 2 rate becomes the new step 1 rate, the then-current step 3 rate becomes the new step 2 rate, etc.
- New Step 12 rates. After shifting all rates one step to the left, plug in a new step 12 rate for class grade 1, in an amount 5% higher than the new step 11 rate for class grade 1. Then plug in a new step 12 rate for class grade 1(a) that is \$.50 higher than the new step 12 rate for class grade 1.
- 2. PLACEMENT OF INCUMBENT CROSSING GUARDS ON NEW SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2010: ONE STEP TO THE LEFT
  - A. Follow the step rate. Also effective July 1, 2010, and after all negotiated wage adjustments through that date have been applied, incumbent Crossing Guards (except for Crossing Guards at step 1 see below) will be moved one step to the left, along with their step rates.
  - B. <u>Bligible to advance/return to former step within one year or less, based on date of last step advancement.</u>
    - (1) Incumbent employees who are moved one step to the left will retain their anniversary date, and will be eligible to advance/return to their former step (and the new, higher rate for that step) on the completion of one year of service from their last step advancement.
    - (2) This means that all incumbent Crossing Guards moved to the left from any of steps 5 through 12 will be eligible for their next step advancement (to their former step, at the new, higher rate for that step) at least one year sooner than they would otherwise have been eligible to advance.
    - (3) This also means that Crossing Guards moved to the left from any of steps 5 through 12, who have already completed at least one year of service

since their last step advancement, will be eligible to advance/return to their former step (and the new, higher rate for that step) immediately, effective July 1, 2010. July 1, 2010 will become the new anniversary date for employees who advance/return immediately to their former step.

# 3. INCUMBENT EMPLOYEES AT STEP ONE.

Any employees who are at step 1 as of July 1, 2010 will remain at step 1, but at the new, higher step 1 rate. July 1, 2010 will become the new anniversary date for such employees, who will then become eligible for advancement to step 2 on July 1, 2011.

## SIDE LETTER #24—REVISED DURING THE 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS

May 1, 2020-

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re:

2017 City of Chicago Negotiations — Unit II
On the Job Training of ACO Titles

Dear Mr. Bloch:

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and Public Safety Employees Unit II on the issue of on the job training of Aviation Communication Operators ("ACO's") personnel. This letter will supersede existing Side Letter 24 as provided below.

It was agreed that within one (1) year following the ratification of this Agreement, the City of Chicago will establish the job title of ACO-Trainer at a newly established Salary Grade Level 15. The specific job duties and qualifications of this position shall be established by the City's Department of Human Resources. The primary purpose of this job title shall be the performance of all on the job training for ACO employees, which training currently is being performed under the provisions of existing Side Letter 24 by ACO employees who are assigned periodically to perform such training for an additional pay rate. All employees with ACO experience shall be eligible to bid for vacancies in this new position. Among such other qualifications as will be established, it is agreed that successful bidders who apply for this position must be able to establish to the hiring Department's satisfaction a record of prior successful experience in training of ACO personnel. When not performing training as the primary job responsibility, the ACO-Trainer shall perform such ACO duties as may be assigned by the Department from time to time as the need for such assignments shall arise.

It was further agreed that for this new position, an employee's seniority for all purposes shall be determined by such employee's length of service in any prior bargaining unit positions which were held by that employee. In addition, as the Department fills future vacancies, the initial shift assignment for the vacancy shall be part of the posting for that position.

Upon creation of this new title and recruitment of sufficient qualified personnel by the Department, the training provisions set forth in existing Side Letter 24 shall no longer be in effect and such ACO on-the-job training shall be performed by the ACO-Trainer classification, it being understood that nothing herein shall preclude Department supervisors who perform certain aspects of training ACO titles from continuing to perform such training.

If this letter accurately sets forth our agreement, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me.

By:

Michael W. Duffee
Chief Spokesman
City of Chicago



ity of Chicago ichard M. Daley, Mayor

epartment of Law

iara S. Georges orporation Counsel

## SIDE LETTER #25

July 2, 2009.

Matthew Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland Ave., Ste. 400 Chicago, IL 60607

RE: Aviation Security Officer (Title Code 4210) Re-grade

Dear Matt:

This is to confirm the agreement of the City and Unit II that, effective July 1, 2010, the job classifications Aviation Security Officer (Title Code 4210) will be re-graded from Grade 12 to Grade 13.

Please sign below to signify the Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

James Q Brennwald

Assistant Chief Labor Counsel

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

SEIU LOCAL 73

Maty Brandon

Date: 10-29-69

NEIGHBORHOODS

( 1 m

#### SIDE LETTER #26—REVISED DURING 2017-2022 CBA NEGOTIATIONS

Jeff Howard SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland Ave., Ste. 400 Chicago, IL 60607

RE: TCA Hourly (Title Code 9104) Assignments

Dear Jeff:

The Union has raised an issue with respect to the OEMC's assignment of TCA Hourlies to perform certain duties currently referred to as "Lead" and "Field Training Aide" duties. This letter memorializes the City's agreement that, within one year of ratification of this Agreement, following the ratification of the new collective bargaining agreement, and to the extent these assignments continue to be utilized by the OEMC, the City's Department of Human Resources ("DHR") will conduct an audit of the "Lead" and "Field Training Aide" assignments to determine their appropriate classification, said audit to begin within thirty (30) days of the effective date of ratification of the new agreement.

In the event that, as a result of this audit, DHR determines that any new job classification or classifications should be created to perform these assignments, the City agrees to stipulate to the inclusion of the new classification or classifications, in the Unit II bargaining unit, contingent upon the Union's filing of an appropriate petition with the Illinois Labor Relations Board, and the Board's certification of the Union as the representative of the new job classification or classifications. Also contingent upon such certification, the City agrees to bargain in good faith with Unit II with respect to the terms and conditions of employment of employees in the new job classification or classifications.

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.



# DEPARTMENT OF LAW CITY OF CHICAGO

#### SIDE LETTER #27

Chicago, IL 60607

April 18, 2012

Matthew Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland Ave., Stc. 400 Jerry Rankins IBEW Local 21 1307 Butterfield Rd., Ste. 422 Downers Grove, IL 60515-5606

RE: Overtime Rate For Work Performed on Second Regularly Scheduled Day Off-PCO I's and II's and ACOs

#### Dear Sirs:

This is to confirm the parties' agreements with respect to the changes we have negotiated in the second paragraph of Section 10.1B of the 2007-2010 Agreement pertaining to the payment of double-time rates for work performed on the second regularly scheduled day off. Specifically, the parties have agreed as follows:

- (1) Notwithstanding the changes described above, which are otherwise applicable to the entire bargaining unit, practices currently in effect in the OEMC with respect to payment of double-time rates for work performed by PCO I's and II's and ACOs on their second regularly scheduled day off shall continue.
- (2) The exception for PCO I's, PCO II's and ACOs described in (1) above shall apply only to employees in those job titles whose last date of hire by the City was prior to

the effective date of ratification of the 2007-2012 Agreement, and not to PCO I's, PCO II's and ACOs hired on or after the effective date of the 2007-2010 Agreement.

AGREED:

SEIU LOCAL 73

Bu Max 3

Date: 9/7/18

IBRW LOCAL

Ву:

Date: 9/7/12

CITY OF CHICAGO

By Day Matinio

Date: 9/7/12

SIDE LETTER #28 is deleted from the Agreement.



y of Chicago chard M. Daley, Mayor

partment of Law

ra S. Georges tporation Counsel

Jor Division te 1040 North LaSalla Street icago, fllinois 60602 2) 744-5100 2) 742-9029 (FAX) 2) 744-5131 (TTY) p://www.cityofchicago.org SIDE LETTER #29

July 2, 2009

Matt Brandon, Director SEIU Local 73 300 S. Ashland, Suite 400 Chicago, Illinois 60607 Jerry Rankins, Business Representative IBEW Local 21 1307 Butterfield Road, Suite 422 Downers Grove, IL 60515-5606

Re: Unit II and City of Chicago 2007-2009 Contract Negotiations Grievance/Arbitration Procedure Changes

Dear Matt and Jerry:

This is to confirm the parties' agreement that the changes negotiated with respect to arbitration of all disciplinary actions in Sections 7.1(a), 7.2(a)1 and 7.2(b) of the 2007-2010 collective bargaining agreement shall apply only to disciplinary actions whose effective date occurs on or after the effective date of ratification of the new collective bargaining agreement by City Council. The changes negotiated with respect to arbitrations in Section 7.2(a)2, Step IVB of the new collective bargaining agreement shall apply only to arbitrations where the first date of hearing commenced on or after the effective date of ratification of the new agreement by City Council.

The parties further understand and agree that the changes with respect to arbitration of all disciplinary actions in Sections 7.1(a), 7.2(a)1, and 7.2(b) of the 2007-2010 collective bargaining agreement shall not apply to any discipline of any employee employed by the Department of Police until the following occurs: (1) effective ninety (90) days after final ratification of the new collective bargaining agreement by City Council, the Superintendent of Police shall have the authority to suspend for more than thirty (30) days and to discharge civilian employees represented by Unit II, and to resolve grievances relating to such disciplinary matters through binding arbitration; and (2) in order to facilitate all issues related to this change in the Superintendent's authority, the Employer and the Union meet to work cooperatively to implement the changes with respect to arbitration of all disciplinary actions in Sections 7.1(a), 7.2(a)1, and 7.2(b), which process the parties will endeavor to complete within the ninety (90) day period following final ratification.

Sincerely,

James Q. Brennwald
Assistant Chief Labor Counsel

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

UNIT II

May Brandon, SEIU Local 73

By:

Jerry Rankins, IBEW Local 21

N BORIOUS LIPATION TO THE PRINTERS



# DEPARTMENT OF LAW CITY OF CHICAGO

SIDE LETTER #30

July 19, 2012

Matthew Brandon
Secretary/Treasurer
SEIU Local 73
300 South Ashland Avenue, Ste. 400
Chicago Illinois 60607

RB: Unit II and the City of Chicago
3495-Supervisor of Animal Control Officers

#### Dear.Matt:

This is to confirm the agreement of the City of Chicago ("City") and SEIU Local 73 ("Union") that, effective on the first day of the final date of ratification of the successor to the 2007 - 2010 collective bargaining agreement between the City and Unit II ("the Agreement"), employees in the 3495-Supervisor of Animal Control Officers ("SACO") job classification shall be covered under all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, with the following exceptions and specifications:

- 1. The SACO job classification will be paid at Grade 14 of Salary Schedule 1 appended to the Agreement. Each incumbent SACO will be placed in Grade 14 at the step providing the rate of pay closest to, but not lower than, the SACO's current rate of pay, and will be given a new anniversary date for purposes of determining eligibility for future advancement on the salary schedule in accordance with historical City policies and practices.
- 2. For purposes of applying Section 10.1B of the Agreement, SACOs shall not be deemed to be exempt from the provisions of the FLSA and Illinois Minimum Wage Law.
- 3. Effective for holidays occurring on or after the final date of ratification, the

provisions of Section 12.3 of the Agreement shall apply to employees in the SACO classification in the same manner as with other employees represented by Unit II (with the exception of Crossing Guards). However, this paragraph (3) shall have no applicability to holidays occurring prior to the final date of ratification, and employees shall not be entitled to any additional compensation for holidays occurring prior to the final date of ratification. Further, in consideration of the agreement to treat employees in the SACO classification under Section 12.3 prospectively upon the final date of contract ratification, the Union agrees to withdraw with prejudice its unfair labor practice charge in case number LCA-12 059.

Please sign below to signify the Union's agreement to the foregoing.

Joseph P. Martinico Chief Labor Negotiator

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

SEIU LOCAL 73



# DEPARTMENT OF LAW

SIDE LETTER #31

July 19, 2012

Matthew Brandon
Secretary/Treasurer
SEIU Local 73
300 South Ashland Avenue, Ste. 400
Chicago Illinois 60607

Jerry Rankins Business Representative IBEW Local 21 1307 Butter field Rd., Suite 422 Downers Grove, Illinois 60515

RE: Unit II and the City of Chicago Section 15.1 - Bereavement Leave

Dear:Matt and Jerry:

This is to confirm the parties' mutual understanding and agreement that the term "consecutive days," as used in Section 15.1, shall continue to be interpreted as including all calendar days, including non-working days, in accordance with the City's long-standing policy and practice.

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Joseph P. Martinico
Chief Labor Negotiator

Chief Labor Negotiator

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

UNIT II

Mort Brandon SEILLLocal 73

By:

lerry Ronkins HREW Local 21



# DEPARTMENT OF LAW CITY OF CHICAGO

#### SIDE LETTER #32

July 19, 2012

Matthew Brandon
Secretary/Treasurer
SEIU Local 73
300 South Ashland Avenue, Ste. 400
Chicago Illinois 60607

Jerry Rankins
Business Representative
IBEW Local 21
1307 Butter field Rd., Suite 422
Downers Grove, Illinois 60515

RE: Unit II and the City of Chicago
Animal Care and Control Pilot Program on Disciplinary Suspensions

#### Dear Matt and Jerry:

This is to confirm the parties' agreements with respect to a pilot program regarding disciplinary suspensions issued by the City's Commission on Animal Care and Control ("ACC"), for the purpose of exploring a potentially more effective means for resolving discipline matters without proceeding to arbitration. Specifically, the City and Unit II have agreed that, for any disciplinary suspensions of fifteen (15) days or less issued by ACC, where such suspension is effective (1) after the effective date of the parties' 2011-2012 Agreement, and (2) before June 30, 2012, the following procedure shall apply:

- A. The time limit for filing a grievance of the suspension under Section 7.2(a), Step IA shall begin to run from the date the employee is given the suspension notice.
- B. The employee will not be required to serve the suspension until after seven (7) calendar days from the date the employee was given the suspension notice.
- C. In the event the Union grieves the suspension within said seven (7) calendar-day time period, the employee will not be required to serve the suspension until the earliest of: (1) any settlement or withdrawal of the grievance, or failure to advance the grievance to Step II within the time limits described in Section 7.2(a); (2) the completion of Step III of the grievance procedure; or (3) thirty (30) calendar days

from the date the employee was given the suspension notice. If the Union files a grievance of the suspension more than seven (7) calendar days after the employee was given the suspension notice, the terms of parts B and C of this side letter agreement shall not apply.

Please sign below to signify Unit II's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

Joseph P. Martinico Chief Labor Negotiator

(312) 744-5395

AGREED:

SEIU LOCAL 73

By: /// DIST

Mart Brandon

Date: 1/7/12

**IBBW LOCAL 21** 

By:

Date: 01/7/12



# DEPARTMENT OF LAW CITY OF CHICAGO

SIDE LETTER #33

July 19, 2012

Matthew Brandon SEIU, Local 73 300 South Ashland Avenue, Suite 400 Chicago, IL 60607

RE: Letter of Agreement
Use of Surveillance Cameras/Equipment

This letter confirms the agreement between the City of Chicago and SEIU, Local 73 as it relates to the City of Chicago's ("the City") use of surveillance cameras or equipment as a basis for disciplining employees in accordance with the parties' collective bargaining agreement ("CBA"). Specifically, the parties agree to the following:

- the City acknowledges its obligation to comply with the provisions of the CBA with respect to discipline as it relates to career service employees, including the requirement that discipline of career service employees shall only be for "just cause". Further, the City recognizes that this requirement applies with equal force to any discipline based upon evidence obtained by virtue of the observation of events through the use of surveillance cameras or equipment owned or maintained by the City and/or its agents. The City also recognizes the Unions right to challenge any discipline of career service employees in accordance with the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in the CBA.
- 2. The Union acknowledges the City's compelling interest to operate and employ surveillance cameras/equipment in the workplace and other public areas to capture criminal conduct, deter prospective crime, enhance public safety and protect public property. As such, the operation and use of such equipment constitutes a legitimate and permissible exercise of the City's managerial authority.

- 3. In the event that the City observes "real time" events through the use of surveillance cameras/equipment that suggest the possible occurrence of a minor disciplinary infraction, and before any disciplinary measures based on said observation have been taken, the City will normally ask an appropriate supervisor to investigate by visiting the scene observed and speaking with the employee(s) in question, provided that a supervisor is available to respond and is located a reasonable distance from the scene observed. When the supervisor investigates the scene observed, every effort will be made to correct the problem without disciplinary action. However, this does not limit the City's ability to issue discipline in the event it determines that discipline is warranted. For the purpose of this agreement, "minor disciplinary infraction" means any infraction resulting in the City's issuance of discipline to the employee of a one (1) day suspension or lesser discipline.
- 4. To the extent that the City intends to rely on videotape evidence obtained from a surveillance camera as a basis for discipline or involuntary discharge of any career service employee, the City will permit, upon written request, the employee and the Union an opportunity to view the videotape as part of the pre-disciplinary process described in Section 7.1 of the CBA.
- 5. In the event the Union decides to pursue a grievance in relation to discipline issued to an employee that involves the use of surveillance cameras or equipment, the City shall, upon written request, provide the Union with a copy of the video surveillance.
- 6. The City agrees that surveillance cameras shall not be installed in areas afforded statutory protection and traditionally recognized as private, such as locker rooms, changing areas, rest rooms, or other areas explicitly prohibited by law.
- 7. The City agrees to notify employees of the existence of surveillance cameras by posting of notices to employees. This requirement shall be deemed satisfied upon such posting, notwithstanding any possible subsequent defacing or removal of such notice by anyone other than the City.
- 8. The parties agree that nothing in this letter of agreement shall be construed as the City's waiver or the limitation of its right to discipline any employee based upon evidence it deems appropriate in any case, or of its right to present such evidence in support of any discipline. Nor shall anything in this letter be construed as a waiver by the Union of its right to challenge any discipline of any career service employee in accordance with the terms of the CBA, the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act, and other applicable laws.

If this letter accurately represents your understanding and agreement regarding these procedures, please sign below to signify the Union's agreement to the foregoing.

Sincerely,

Joseph P. Martinico Chief Labor Negotiator

(312) 744-5395

Acknowledged and agreed this

day of July, 2012

Matthew Brandon Secretary-Treasurer SEIU Local 73

# NEW SIDE LETTER (ELECTRONIC POSTING AND BIDDING). SIDE LETTER #34

[Proposed Side Letter]

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re: 2017

2017 City of Chicago Negotiations

Dear Mr. Bloch:

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and Public Safety Employees Unit II on the issue of electronic posting and bidding under Section 11.2(e).

It was agreed that concurrent with the adoption of the electronic posting and bidding language changes to Section 11.2(e) of the new Agreement, the Employer will offer to any bargaining unit employee who requires such assistance a demonstration of how to use the CAREERS website for the purpose of bidding on available bargaining unit positions as well as to apply for other available vacancies. Such demonstrations will be offered at mutually convenient times and places in consultation with the Union.

If this letter accurately sets forth our agreement, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me.

Very truly yours,

By:

Michael W. Duffee

Chief Spokesman

City of Chicago

#### NEW SIDE LETTER (ASO TRAINER) SIDE LETTER #35

May 20, 2020

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re: 2017 City of Chicago Negotiations - Unit II

Proposed Aviation Security Officer Training Title

Dear Mr. Bloch:

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and Public Safety Employees Unit II on the issue of on the job training of Aviation Security Officers.

It was agreed that within sixty (60) days following the request of the Union, or at some other mutually convenient time, the City of Chicago will meet and discuss with the Union issues related to training including training incentives and/or the possible creation of an Aviation Security Officer-Trainer position in the Department of Aviation. If the City creates this title, the specific job duties and qualifications of the position, as well as the pay grade for that new title, shall be established by the City's Department of Aviation together with the Department of Human Resources as well as the Office of Budget and Management. If the City creates this title, it is understood that creating this title does not preclude Department supervisors who perform certain aspects of training of Aviation Security Officers from continuing to perform such training. When not performing training duties, the ASO-Trainer shall perform such Aviation Security Officer duties as may be assigned by the Department from time to time as the need for such assignments shall arise.

It was further agreed that for this new position, an employee's seniority for all purposes shall be determined by such employee's length of service in any prior bargaining unit positions which were held by that employee. In addition, as the Department fills future vacancies, the initial shift assignment for the vacancy shall be part of the posting for that position.

If this letter accurately sets forth our agreement, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me.

Very truly yours,
Ву:
Michael W. Duffee
Chief Spokesman - City of Chicago

## NEW SIDE LETTER (HIRING FULL TIME TCAs) SIDE LETTER #36

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re:

2017 City of Chicago Negotiations - Unit II

Full Time Traffic Control Aides

Dear Mr. Bloch:

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and Public Safety Employees Unit II on the issue of hiring of full time Traffic Control Aides ("TCA's").

The City plans to hire approximately 40 full time TCA's as a part of the proposed budget for the next fiscal year following the ratification of this collective bargaining agreement. It was understood that this is not a binding commitment by the City to hire a fixed number of full time TCA's, but is a goal which the City plans to achieve depending upon fiscal and operational considerations in effect at the time it submits a request to the Office of Budget and Management to authorize such hiring.

Upon opening up new full time TCA vacancies, the City shall give preference in filling such vacancies to existing part time TCA hourly personnel who may bid on those positions. It is further agreed and understood that the City may utilize such newly hired full time TCA's as it shall determine depending upon its staffing needs from time to time.

If this letter accurately sets forth our agreement, please initial a copy of this letter and return it to me.

Very truly yours,	
Ву:	
Michael W. Duffee	
Chief Spokesman	
City of Chicago	

# NEW SIDE LETTER—SIDE LETTER 37 [OEMC Priority Days]

Mr. Robert E. Bloch Dowd, Bloch, Bennett, Cervone, Auerbach & Yokich 8 South Michigan Avenue, 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Chicago, Illinois 60604

Re:

City of Chicago, OEMC and IBEW, Local 21

**Priority Days** 

Dear Mr. Bloch:

This letter will confirm our understandings and agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations between the City of Chicago and IBEW, Local 21 on the issue the use of "priority days" at OEMC.

The parties agreed that OEMC will modify its Police Dispatch Operations Training Notice, No. TNG 19-005 to include agreed upon changes. On October 20, 2020, OEMC issued Police Dispatch Operations Standard Operating Procedure Number P20-007 which includes the agreements reached during the 2017 contract negotiations and rescinds Training Notice 19-005. Standard Operating Procedure Number P20-007 is attached.

The parties acknowledge that nothing in this side letter or in Standard Operating Procedure Number P20-007 changes the understanding that when operational emergencies arise, Priority Days are subject to being denied and/or cancelled.

Very truly yours,

By:

Michael W. Duffee

Chief Spokesman

City of Chicago

Attachment: Standard Operating Procedure Number P20-007

# SALARY SCHEDULE for CROSSING GUARDS

## SCHEDULE H

	1		BASE SAL	ARY PLAN		7	INTERMEDI	ATE RATES		LONGEVITY RATES				
		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	
CLASS GRADE		Entrance Rate First 12 Months	Next 12 Months	Next 12 Months	Top Base Rate Next 12 Months	After 1 Year at Top Base Rate & 5 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Intermediate Rate & S Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Intermediate Rate & 11 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Third Intermediate Rate & 14 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Top Infermediate Rate & 17 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Longavity Rate & 20 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 23 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevit Rate & 25 Yrs Continuous Servic	
						Ja	nuary 1, 2018	(#)						
1	HOURLY	13.67	14.27	14.97	15.69	16.42	17.22	18.03	18.89	19.77	20.72	21.73	22.81	
1(a)	HOURLY	14.22	14.83	15.52	16.26	16.98	17.77	18.58	19.46	20.34	21.28	22.29	23.37	
						Ja	nuary 1, 2019		<u> </u>		Transmission (1989)			
1	HOURLY	13.98	14.59	15.31	16.04	16.79	17.61	18.44	19.32	20.21	21.19	22.22	23.32	
1(a)	HOURLY	14.54	15.16	15.87	16.63	17.36	18.17	19.00	19.90	20.80	21.76	22.79	23.90	
			·		- degree	<u>J</u> a	nuary 1, 2020							
1	HOURLY	14.26	14.88	15.62	16.36	17.13	17.96	18.81	19.71	20.61	21.61	22.66	23.79	
1(a)	HOURLY	14.83	15.46	16.19	16.96	17.71	18.53	19.38	20.30	21.22	22.20	23.25	24.38	
						Ja	nuary 1, 2021							
1	HOURLY	14.58	15.21	15.97	16.73	17.52	18.36	19.23	20.15	21.07	22.10	23.17	24.33	
1(a)	HOURLY	15.16	15.81	16.55	17.34	18.11	18.95	19.82	20.76	21.70	22.70	23.77	24.93	
			·			Ja	nuary 1, 2022							
1	HOURLY	14.87	15.51	16.29	17.06	17.87	18.73	19.61	20.55	21.49	22.54	23.63	24.82	
1(a)	HOURLY	15.46	16.13	16.88	17.69	18.47	19.33	20.22	21.18	22.13	23.15	24.25	25.43	

#### SCHEDULEI

January 1, 2018

			5ASE SALA	RY PLAN			INTERMEDIA	ATE RATES			LONGEVIT	TY RATES	
		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STER S	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12
CLASS GRADE		Entrance Rate First 6 Months	Next 12 Months	Next 12 Months	Top Sase Rate  Next 12 Months	After 1 Year at Top Base Rate & S Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Intermediate Rate & 8 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Intermediate Rate & 11 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Third Intermediate Rase 3-14 Yrs Centinuous Service	After 1 Year at Top Intermediate Rate & 17 Yes Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Longevity Rate & 20 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 23 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 25 Yrs Continuous Service
-5	ANNUAL	37,124	38,899	40,722				52,032			59,817	52,693	
*	MONTHLY	3 094	3,242	3.394	3,556	1							
1.	ANNUAL	40,722	42,669	44,676									
	MONTHLY	3,394	3,555	3,723					1	£ -	1		
	ANNUAL	44,676	45,842	49,033									
	MONTHLY	3.723	3.904	4,085	4.285	4.760	4,985	5.224	5,473	5,734	5,005	6.289	6,589
13	ANNUAL	49,033	51,420	53,832	56,355	62,693	65,680	68,813	72,057	75,472	79,070	82,779	86,757
	MONTHLY	350,b	4,285	4,485	4,697	5,224	5,473	5.734	5,005	6.289	5,58.9	6.898	7,230
14	ANNUAL	53,832	56,365	59,070	61,861	68,613	72,057	75,472	79,070	82,779	86,757		
	MONTHLY	4.486	4,697	4,923	5,155	5.734	6.005	5.289	6,589	5,898	7,230	7,576	7,937

QBM-amp

HOURLY RATES:

Traffic Control Aide (TC9104):

\$ -20.26

Aviation Security Officer (TC4211):

\$ 22.80

## SCHEDULEI

January 1, 2019

			BASE SALA				INTERMEDI	ATE RATES			LONGEVI	TY RATES	
		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 1	STEP 3	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12
CLASS GRADE		Entrance Rato First 6 Months	Next 12 Months	Next 12 Months	Top Base Rate Next 12 Months	After 1 Year zi Top Base Rate & 5 Yrs Continuous Service	Rate 6 3 Y.rs	After 1 Year at Second Intermediate Rare 8 11 Yrs Commous Service	After 1 Year at Third Intermediate Rate & 14 Yrd Cominuous - Service	After 1 Year at Top Intermediate Rate & 17 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Longevity Rate & 20 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 23 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate 8 25 Yrs Continuous Service
15	ANNUAL	37,959	39,774	41,639	43,629	43,497	50,838	53,203	55.794	58,409	<u> </u>	·	<u> </u>
	MONTHLY	3 163	3,315	3,470	3,636	4,041	4.236				5,097		
11	ANNUAL	41,639	43,629	45,681	47,896	53,203	55;794	58,409					
	MONTHLY	3 470	3,635	3,807	3.991	4,434							,
12	ANNUAL	45,681	47,896	50,137	52,577	58,409	61,163	64,104	67,158				
	MONTHLY	3,307	3,991	4,178	4,381	4,867							
13	ANNUAL	50,137	52,5771	55,043	57,633	64,104	67,158	70,362	73,678	77,170	80,850		
	MONTHLY	4 :78	4.381	4.587	4,803	5.342	5,596			1	1		
14	ANNUAL	55,043	57,633	60,399	63,253	70,362	73,678	77,170	80,850				
	MONTHLY	4,587	4,803	5,033				,					

ОЗМ-етр

## HOURLY RATES:

Traffic Control Aide (TC9104):

\$ 20.72

Aviation Security Officer (TC4211):

\$ 23.31

# SCHEDULEI

January 1, 2020

			BASESALA	RY PLAN			INTERMEDI	ATE RATES	1	LONGEVITY RATES				
		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP &	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	
CLASS GRADE		Entrance Rate First 5 Months	Next	Next 12 Months	Top Sase Rate  Naxt 12 Months	After 1 Year at Top Base Rate & 5 Yra Continuous Service	Rate & 6 Yrs	After 1 Year at Second Intermediate Rate \$ 11 Yea Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Third Intermediate Rate 5 14 Ym Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Top Intermediate Rate 2 17 Yrs Continuous Sandee	After 1 Year at First Longevity Rate & 20 Ym Continuous Service	After 1 Year 31 Second Langevity Rate & 23 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 25 Yrs Commuous Sendce	
13	ANNUAL	38,718	40,5691	42,471	44,501		51,854	54,267	56,910		52,386	65,386		
	MONTHLY	3,227	3,381	3,539					1					
3.7	ANNUAL	42,471	44.501	46,595								71,769		
	MONTHLY	3 539	3.708	3,883	4,071	4,522	4,742	4,965	5.199	5,449	5,708	5.981	5,26	
1	ANNUAL	46,595	48,854	51,139	53,629	59,578	62,336	65,386	68,501	71,759	75,152	78,713	82,46	
	MONTHLY	3,333	4,071	4,262	4,469	4,965	5,199	5,449	5,708	5,951	6,263	6.559	5.87	
5	ANNUAL	51,1391	53,629	55,144	58,786	65,386	68,501	71,769	75,152	78,713	82,467	85,334	90,48	
	MONTHLY	4,262	4,489	4,679	4.899	5.449	5.708	5,981	6,263	8,559	6,872	7,195	7.54	
1.4	ANNUAL	56,144	58,785	61,607	64,518	71,769	75,152	78,713	82,467	86,334	90,483	94,811	99,25	
	MONTHLY	4.679	4,899	5,134	5,376	5.981	6.253	6.559	6,872	7,195	7,540	7,901	8,27	

OSH-am

HOURLY RATES:

Traffic Control Aide (TC9104):

\$ 21.13

Aviation Security Officer (TC4211):

\$ 23.78

## SCHEDULE

January 1, 2021

		1	BASE SALA	RY PLAN			INTERMED!	ATE RATES		LONGEVITY RATES				
		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	
CLASS GRADE		Entrance Rate First 6 Months	Next	Noxt 12 Months	Top Base Rate  . Next 12 Months	After 1 Year of Top Base Rate & 5 Yrs Combinuous Service	After 1 Year at First intermediate Rate & 9 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Intermediate Rate & 11 Yra Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Third Intermediate Rate 2 14 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Top Intermediate Roty & 17 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Longevity Rate & 20 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longovity Rate & 23 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longavity Rate 25 Yrs Cominuous Service	
10	ANNUAL	39,590	41,482	43,427	45,502	50,580	53,021	55,488	58,190	60,918	63,790	56,857	70,04	
	MONTHLY	3.299	3,457	3,619	3,792	4,215	4,418	4,624	4,849	5.077	5,316	5,571	5,83	
# 5	ANNUAL	43 427	45,502	47,643	49,954	55,488	58,190	60,918	63,790	66,857	70,042	73,384	75,84	
	MONTHLY	3,819	3,792	3.970	4,163	4,524	4.849	5,077	5.316	5,571	5.837	6,115	6,40	
* 2	ANNUAL	47,643	49,954	52,290	54,835	60,318	63,790	66,857	70,042	73,384	75,843	80,484	84,32	
	MONTHLY	3,970	4,163	4,358	4,570	5,077	5,316	5.571	5,837	6,115	6.404	6,707		
-	ANNUAL	52,290	54,835	57,407	50,109				76,843		1			
	MONTHLY	4 358	4,570	4,784	5,009	5,571	5,837					7.356		
* 4	ANNUAL	57,407	60,109	62,994	65,970	73,384	76,843	80,484	84,322			•	,	
	MONTHLY	4,784	5,009	5,249										
15	ANNUAL	63,050	66,017	69,186								1		
	MONTHLY	5 254	5 501	5,765	6.038	6,716	7,033	7,365	7.718	030,8	8,458	8.873	9.29	

HOURLY RATES:

Traffic Control Aide (TC9194):

S 21.51

Aviation Security Officer (TC4211):

5 24.32

SCHEDULEI

January 1, 2022

			BASE SALA	RY PLAN			INTERMEDI.	ATE RATES	-	LONGEVITY RATES				
		STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP &	STEP 7	STEP 8	STEP 9	STEP 10	STEP 11	STEP 12	
DLASS GRADE		Entrance Rate First 6 Months	Next	Next 12 Months	Top Base Rate  Next 12 Months	After 1 Year at Top Base Rate & 6 Yrs Cominuous Service	After 1 Year at First informediate Rate & 8 Yea Continuous Soryles	After 1 Year at Second Intermediate Rate 3.11 Yra Coinfinuous Scrylce	After 1 Year at Third Intermediate Rate 3 14 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Top intermediate Rata & 17 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at First Longevity Rate & 20 Yrs Condinuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 20 Yrs Continuous Service	After 1 Year at Second Longevity Rate & 25 Yrs Confinuous Service	
10	ANNUAL	40,381	42,312	44,298	46,413	51,592	54,081	56,593	59,354	62,136	65,056	68,194	71,44	
	MONTHLY	3,365	3,525	3,691	3.863	4,299	4,507	4,716	4,946	5,178	5,422	5,683	5,95	
11	ANNUAL	44,296	46,413	48,596		55,598	59,354	52,136	65,066	68,194	71,443	74,851	78,38	
	MONTHLY	3.691	3,358	4,050	4,246	4,716	4,945	5,178	5,422	5,583	5.954	5,238	6,53	
• 2	ANNUAL	48,595	50.953	53,336	55,932	62,136	65,058	68,194	71,443	74,851	78,380	82,094	00,63	
	MONTHLY	4 050	4,246	4,445	4,561	5.178	5,422	5.683	5,954	6.238	6,532	6,841	7,16	
< 3	ANNUAL	53,335	55,932	58,555	61,311	68,194	71,443	74,851	78,330	82,094	85,008	90,043		
	MONTHLY	4 445	4.651	4,880	5,109	5,683	5,954	5,238	6.532	6,841	7.157			
1.4	ANNUAL	58,555	61,311	64,253	67,289	74,851	78,380	82,094	86,008	90,043	94,370	98,883		
	MONTHLY	4,580		5,354	5,607	6.238	6,532	6,841	7.167	7,504	7.864	8.240		
15	ANNUAL	64,311	€7,338	70,569	73,903	82,209	85,034	90,164	94,463	98,894	103,546	108,603		
	MONTHLY	5,359		5,881			7,174	7,514	7.872	8.241	8.537	9,050	9.47	
-					-	-							C37.9	

HOURLY RATES:

Traffic Control Aide (TC9104):

\$ 22.04

Aviation Security Officer (TC4211):

\$ 24.81



# POLICE DISPATCH OPERATIONS STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE

Number: P20-007

Date: 20 Oct 2020

SUBJECT: Priority Days

#### I. PURPOSE

Outline the use of Priority Days

- · Rescinds all memos previously published regarding Priority Days
- Rescinds Training Notice 19-005
- Incorporates language from the Unit 2 Collective Bargaining Agreement

#### II. GENERAL INFORMATION

A Priority Day will take precedence over other requests for time off on a given day. All PCOs will be able to request up to 4 days per year as a Priority Day. The Watch Manager will allow a maximum of 3 PCOIs and 3 PCOIIs each day to be off using Priority Days; except for the months of June, July, August and December for which the number will be 2 PCOIs and 2 PCOIIs. Requests submitted within 1 week to 90 days prior to the requested date will either be approved or denied a minimum of one week in advance. Requests made with less than one weeks' notice will either be approved or denied a minimum of 48 hours in advance. Once the day has been granted, a member cannot cancel their request. If a member chooses to work on a day that was previously approved, they forfeit the priority day. Unused Priority Days do not carry over into the next year.

An employee that does not have the time in CATA will be rejected in ISE and be asked to resubmit once the time is earned. If more than 3 members of a given rank are requesting to use a Priority Day on a given date, then the first three, with the necessary time in CATA at the time of request will be approved.

The granting of Priority Days will not necessarily prevent others from having their requests for compensatory time approved.

#### III. POLICY

- A. Priority Days will be used in the following manner:
  - 1. In conjunction with compensatory time, a vacation day, or a personal day.
  - 2. Submitted no more than 90 days in advance
  - 3. Submitted no less than 48 hours in advance.
  - 4. Entered into In-Time Solutions using the appropriate time code

- 5. Physically submitted to the Watch Manager on a BLUE CATA slip.
- 6. Have the necessary time on the books at the time of submission into ISE.

#### B. Priority Days May NOT be used in the following manner

- 1. On both paid and some unpaid holidays (i.e. Halloween, Easter, Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve) Note: Employee's assigned to the 1<sup>st</sup> Watch are unable to use a Priority Day on the night of a holiday (i.e. Christmas Day night)
- 2. On any day in which days off are cancelled.
- 3. Submitted more than 90 days in advance.
- 4. During an operational emergency that arises unless previously approved by the Watch Manager.
- 5. On either side of a furlough.
- 6. Without necessary time on the books at the time of submission.
- 7. Cannot be used in an unpaid status.

#### C. Timing and approval

- Consideration for granting Priority Days will be in order of submission on In-Time Solutions and not a physical time stamp on a blue slip. (As In-Time Solutions is available at home or on a mobile device while a blue slip is not, i.e. employee RDO)
- 2. Rejection of a Priority Day will not deny the use of a follow-up electronic and pink slip submission as a backup request for the standard 24-hour approval.

Note: A denied blue slip will not be held for the following day for consideration of time off. Employees may submit a pink slip in tandem with their blue slip as a "backup" request where a priority day could not be granted, however, this is not a guarantee of approval.

#### IV. WATCH MANAGER RESPONSIBILITES

#### Watch Managers will:

- 1. Monitor ISE daily to check for new Priority Day requests and ensure that employees have the required time on the books at the time of submission.
- Deduct appropriate CATA time immediately once approved in ISE.
   Note: It is unnecessary to wait 48 hours to approve a Priority Day if the employee is eligible by all rules being met.
- 3. Track use of Priority Days, ensuring no employee is granted more than 4 in a calendar year.

BY THE ORDERS OF

Richard Guidace Executive Director